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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBFNWR D

During the year ended 30 June 2019 (“Year”), various factors,
including the decreasing enrolment of secondary school students,
increasing number of students studying abroad or taking vocational
training courses as well as the International Baccalaureate Diploma
Programme (IBDP), have all contributed to the overall decline
in the number of students attending the Hong Kong Diploma of
Secondary Education Examination (“HKDSE”). It also has resulted
in the lowest number of recorded applications since the HKDSE was
first administered in 2012. Coupled with fierce competition among
its industry peers to recruit and retain quality tutors and teaching
professionals, Hong Kong Education (Int’'l) Investments Limited
(“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“Group”) continued to face a
highly competitive operating environment in the educational services
sector.

For the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$108.94 million (2018: approximately HK$109.03 million),
representing a slightly decrease of approximately 0.08% as
compared to last year. Loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the Year amounted to approximately HK$77.44 million (2018:
loss of approximately HK$8.25 million), which was mainly due to the
loss arising from the change in fair value of financial assets through
profit or loss (2018: gain of approximately HK$31.52 million) and
lack of one-off gain on disposal of subsidiaries and an associate of
approximately HK$69.56 million recorded last year.

As one of the private educational services providers in Hong Kong,
the Group makes good use of its well-known brands — “Modern
Education” and “Modern Bachelor Education” to further develop
its secondary and primary tutoring services. These two business
segments remain the key income drivers of the Group. In order to
gain a more competitive edge to outperform its industry peers, the
Group constantly seeks feasible ways to boost the performance of its
tuition services.

REE2019F6 AR LFE ([RFEED R &2
AR (BRPEEASERTR  RIESNTEHER
EEIRBARBBCEABAMRIZEE ABUEM)
VER2MERTEEER ([FEFEXEREA])
R ABEERETE - bR 5I BB 20126 & R B I
FERENBEANKRBRERENPAFHE - WLEX
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MEFHR - BEHE (BB REEEERAR (TR
RADEEWMBAR ([AEE]) RHBERBITEH
BEHHEFHRNEERE -

RAFEE - KREBEBEZ UK A 4108,940,0008 7T
(20184 : #9109,030,0008 JT) » & & “F B 8
#0.08% - R RRIHEBEARAFEEEEBLY
77,440,000 7T (2018 4F : E518 498,250,000/ 7T)
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Looking ahead, the business environment for the educational
services industry is expected to be tough and full of challenges.
For this reason, the Group will make dedicated efforts to maintain
experienced teaching teams and improve overall teaching quality.
We will also flexibly adjust business strategies to strengthen our
core businesses while exploring potential cooperative business
relationships in order to capture any emerging growth opportunities

and sustain solid business operations.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Provision of private educational services

Secondary Tutoring Services

The secondary tutoring industry in Hong Kong is full of challenges
and difficulties. Given the decreasing birth rate in Hong Kong and
increasing numbers of local secondary students opting for overseas
education or other ways to continue their studies, the number of
candidates attending the HKDSE continued to fall, leading to a
decrease in the demand for secondary tutoring services. Coupled
with keen competition throughout the industry, the Group recorded
a decrease in course enrolments for the Year, which adversely
impacted the business segment of secondary tutoring services.
During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$53.88 million, representing a decrease of approximately
24.79% compared to the previous year. In response to the current
unfavorable market conditions, the Group is fostering mutual and
effective cooperative relationships with tutors to ensure long-term
collaboration and high teaching quality. Furthermore, the Group has
proactively adopted new marketing strategies to further enhance its
brand image in order to attract and retain more students and thereby

increase overall market competitiveness.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

The following table shows the number of course enrolments, the
number of tutors and the average course fees of each category of
secondary tutoring courses for the two years ended 30 June 2019:

TERSMPNEZ2019F6 A30H IEMEFE & FEF
BT RIEMRERZ AN EAAHRFEHES

Year ended 30 June

HECA3HLEE

2019 2018
Number of course enrolments (in thousands) PRIBIA NIR (U TFET)
Regular courses BHRE 65 95
Intensive courses fEE T 12 10
Summer courses ZHRE 12 15
T.I.P.S. courses R BT 6 4
Special courses HRIRE 5 10
Number of tutors (Note 1) BEWAB(HAET)
Regular courses BRI 35 37
Intensive courses 1 BT 22 33
Summer courses Z R 29 37
T.I.P.S. courses FERA LTI 16 23
Special courses BERIRIE 13 23
Average course fees (HK$) (Note 2) T EE Er) (Mit2)
Regular courses BHRE 533 538
Intensive courses fEE 572 563
Summer courses ZEHRE 458 454
T.I.P.S. courses R F I I 565 596
Special courses HRIRE 381 261

Note 1: Tutors may provide secondary tutoring services for all or certain ~ AfzF1 : ERIA] A A S5 THEB A RIZIZME S 28 B R
categories of courses. Thus, the sum of the number of tutors for the %o At - AEERNREERRE  REN - 28
provision of regular courses, intensive courses, summer courses, BRI BRI RERRENSMASBAM -
T.I.P.S. courses and special courses is not equal to the total number WAREREEMAAANE -
of tutors for the year.

Note 2: Being revenue divided by course enrolments for the year. Briz2 - BIARFERUABRARIZER A AKX

As of 30 June 2019, the Group had 7 learning centres operated
under the brand of “Modern Education” F X5 .
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English Language Training and Test Preparation Courses

The Group continued to deliver high-quality English language training
and test preparation courses for the International English Language
Testing System (IELTS) and Test of English for International
Communication (TOEIC). During the Year, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$9.23 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 17.91% compared to approximately HK$11.24
million during the previous year, and there were approximately
5,500 (2018: approximately 6,700) course enrolments during the
Year. Given the global recognition of IELTS and TOEIC, the Group
believes that market demand for English language training and test
preparation courses still existed. The Group will earmark a certain
amount of internal resources to explore methods in order to diversify
and expand sales channels and strengthen the profitability of this
segment.

Primary Tutoring Services, Skill Courses and Test Preparation Courses

The Group has put tremendous efforts into adjusting its business
strategy to promote primary tutoring services. These and related
services have strategically satisfied market demand, either through
directly-owned education centres or franchised centres, which
have contributed strong revenue to the Group, and has therefore
resulted in a substantial increase in revenue for this segment. As
of 30 June 2019, there were 7 directly-owned education centres
and 36 franchised centres operated under the brand of “Modern
Bachelor Education” IR fX/N& 1 7 new franchised centres are
expected to be operational by end of 2019. During the Year, there
were approximately 17,000 (2018: approximately 14,400) course
enrolments recorded from directly-owned education centres, and total
revenue to the Group from franchised centres came to approximately
HK$5.70 million, representing an increase of approximately 26.50%
compared to approximately HK$4.51 million for the previous year.
Given the constant and fierce competition among primary students
wishing to enrol in elite secondary schools, the market demand for
primary tutoring services is expected to remain positive. The Group
will flexibly adjust its skills courses as well as preparation courses,
while strengthening its educational content, quality and variety,
plus optimise its team composition in order to help boost students’
competitiveness for Secondary School Places Allocation (SSPA). The
Group will continue to explore more new potential franchisees to help
capture greater market share.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

Dance tuition services

The Group is firmly committed to offering diverse and
comprehensive educational development for learners of all ages.
As of 30 June 2019, there were 6 professional dance colleges
operating under the brand of Shelly Lo Jazz & Ballet School,
providing a wide range of courses including ballet, jazz dance,
yoga, Latin dance and belly dance. During the Year, the Group
recorded revenue from dance tuition services totalling approximately
HK$17.57 million (2018: approximately HK$2.44 million, recorded
from 1 May 2018 to 30 June 2018). In order to enlarge its student
cohort base and maximise profits, the Group expanded its service
offerings by participating in various dance competitions and
organising study tours. The Group will also deepen its cooperation
with kindergartens and try to create crossover intersegment
programmes in order to generate positive synergies.

Investments
Assets Investments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)

The Group has acted actively and allocated more resources in the
segment of securities investment during the Year. By adopting
diversification strategy, the Group acquired listed securities in
17 listed companies in Hong Kong and disposed of 12 listed
securities in its investment portfolio during the Year. As at 30 June
2019, the Group had financial assets at FVPL with a fair value of
approximately HK$65.98 million.

ZEHERE
AEEBRNATRFRENSZEZREZ TERE
EHHEHRRE - N2019F6 5300 - HB6HHXE
FHERUNERREEEE T EERNRBLEE 2
HEREEE B8 - NI ERMEEER
MEZERRE RNAFEAR  AEESSEBEHERS
B U A A £ #917,570,0007% 7T (20184F : 520184
5418 ZE201846 A 30 H %15 42,440,000 7T ) °
BEAESBLBEEREFNENEN  AEEE
BE2MSEEFELBERABESENBERREGEHE -
REBNTHRCEAHHEEROEIE LERARDH
ZTEAIEBITRER - LAESRBGE %R BE -

RAFER > AEERBRTHANEELERNES

BEDE - BREMEZ LRI NEBRAFER
BEBUBLTARMN EMES  WHEHKREA
AFHI2E FTES - R2019F6 8308  ANEHE
BRATEF ABRERNSEEEN R FEL 65,980,000
PETT
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Details of the significant investments in the portfolio under financial
assets at FVPL as at 30 June 2019 are as follows:

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DT

R2019F6 A30R - BAFEFABRENEMEE

HMAERNMERREFBOT ¢

Percentage held
to the total issued Percentage to the
share capital [nvestment Group's audited
Numberof  of the company/ costicost of Fairvalueasat  total assets as at
Description of investment Principal businesses shares held investment acquisition 30 June 2019 30 June 2019
R2019%
EARBET 120195 6A30A
R%/BEAH RERE/ 6A30R%  HFEEEEY
YL IERH FiskireAE BEREAL REns MFE  BEEMEAL
(auoroximately) HK$000 HKS000  (approvimately)
(#4) AT FAT (##)
Significant investments
EXHE
Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“Convoy”) ~ Financial advisory business, money lending 348,904,000 2.34% 122116 31,808 1252%
(stock code: 1019) business, fintech business, asset management
business and securities dealing business.
REBRERERAR(RE]) BUEREE BEER SRBRER.
(s - 1019) BEEEXKRERBERK
Other investments
EURE
EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited Manufacture of custom-made furniture, design, 58,500,000 2.02% 5113 10823 4.26%
(“EJE Holdings") (stock code: 8101) manufacture and sale of mattress and soft
bed products, securities investment, property
investment and money lending in Hong Kong.
EREn(ER) ERERAT RERUSTREARE Rt BERBER
(IE5Eml) (RARE : 8101) BRYURER EFRE MERARKE-
Other listed shares* - - - 31,110 15,556 6.13%
Hit Fhfkd
Unlisted convertible bonds - - - 7900 7,197 3.07%
FrmaakES
Grand total for financial assets at FVPL 166,839 65,984 25.98%

BATEHARENERAREN

* Other listed shares included 7 companies whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) and 2 companies whose shares are listed on GEM of Stock
Exchange. Each of the investments included in the other listed shares
does not exceed 5% of the Group’s audited total assets as at 30 June

2019.

R ETROBREIREOREBEHERIMERA
A ([BE 22 Pr)) MR 7 0 2 &) B 2 5 B 4 10 Bt 32 B
GEM EMHI AR - Eb ETRMH P EENSHEKREY
REBBAEBMR20I9F6A0AKEZEELEDN

5% °
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

The economic instability and other external factors weaken the
stock market in Hong Kong. During the Year, the Group recorded
a loss arising on change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL of
approximately HK$19.83 million and details as below:

RETREEMIMER R BEBREMS - RAF
ER AEEHESRAFEFABGZNEHEEDN
N EE B E £ EE A 19,830,000 8 7T KRBT

Realised fair ~ Unrealised fair Dividend

value gain/ value gain/ received

(loss) for (loss) for during

Description of investments (stock code) the Year the Year the Year
EEE EEE

BEERAFHEH XBHALTFE TEE

B E ek (B in RK5R) k& (EiR) e (BiR) BER

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TFET FET T8

Convoy (1019) B 7% (1019) - (6,292) -

EJE Holdings (8101) EX=mm(8101) - (2,468) -

Other listed shares* Hh R > (306) (10,692) 20

Heemin Capital Global Enhanced Heemin Capital Global Enhanced

Yield Bond Fund Yield Bond Fund 13 - -

Unlisted convertible bonds I LT AR (E 55 - (101) -

Grand total 4BET (293) (19,553) 20

*

Other listed shares included 17 companies whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and 3 companies whose shares
are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

10 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &HE#% A (BFR) REELEBER
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income HRFEGTAR [ 2N FlEFABME
(“FVOCI”) HW 7 ) B2 5 &
The Group also held significant investment under financial assets at ~ 7201946 830 H » AEB IR IE A FEFT AEAM
FVOCI as at 30 June 2019 as below: THEENEHEEE THEERAKRENT :
Percentage held
to the total Percentage to the
issued share Investment ~ Carrying amount Group's audited
Number of capital of the costcost of asat  total assets as at
Description of significant investment Principal businesses shares held Investee acquisition 30 June 2019 30 June 2019
ik 5%E
R2019%
EHRER 120195 6A30H
ERTRE RERE/ 6A30BK  BEREREN
EXkaEmt IERE Fifskn# A L TR L e FEE ARl
(aoproximately) HK$ 000 HK$000 (qpprovimately)
(#4) AT FAT (##)
Unlisted securities of a company (“Investee”)  Dealing in securities, securities advisory, corporate 26 9.4%% 30,831 15422 6.07%

incorporated outside Hong Kong finance advisory, asset management and wealth

management services and money lending in

Hong Kong.
—“AREREMERR L AT RERNZEAER EHER CXRERR-
(MBRER]) 2F LTS AEERLHEERREUREE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

Performance and future prospects of the Company’s significant investments EKRAGEAREN FER KK E

(1) Convoy

Trading in the shares of Convoy has been halted since
7 December 2017 and remain suspended up to the date of
this report. As disclosed in the announcement of Convoy dated
23 August 2019, the publication of the 2017 and 2018 annual
results and the despatch of the 2017 and 2018 annual reports
were still pending, and the publication of the 2019 interim
results and the despatch of 2019 interim report would not be
ready by 31 August 2019 and 30 September 2019.

The Group noted from the announcements of Convoy
dated 1 August 2019 and 15 August 2019 that Convoy has
continued to focus on fintech with investments in Tandem
Money Limited and Nutmeg Saving and Investment Limited
in the United Kingdom as well as CurrencyFair Limited in the
Republic of Ireland. In April 2019, a subsidiary of Convoy
entered into a consulting agreement with Wilshire Associates
Inc, an independent investment adviser registered with the
Securities and Exchange Commission based in United States,
which would assist Convoy to enhance its existing funds due
diligence process, risk classification methodology and model
portfolio offering, to upgrade its funds platform and to offer
professionally managed, customized and competitively priced
portfolio solutions to its client as a whole. Furthermore, Convoy
has continued to invest in training and lifelong learning that
a Mini-MBA programme was launched in June 2019 for the
Convoy group’s financial consultants and management team
by collaboration with Asia-Pacific Institute of Business, the
executive education arm of The Chinese University of Hong
Kong Business School.

The Director would continue to closely monitor the recent
situation of Convoy and formulate appropriate strategies to
protect the interest of the Group.

12 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &HE#% A (BFR) REEBEHER
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(2) Unlisted securities of the Investee

Based on the financial information provided from the
management of the Investee (“Investee Management”), the
Directors noted that the unaudited financial results of the
Investee and its subsidiaries (“Investee Group”) for the six
months ended 30 June 2019 still recorded a loss. Revenue
of the Investee Group has dropped approximately 17% as
compared to the corresponding period in 2018 mainly due to
the decrease in brokerage income and interest income from
securities dealing services. The Investee Management explained
that the business environment remains difficult in the first half
of 2019. In addition, due to the uncertainties stemming from
US-Mainland trade tensions, the Investee Management foresees
that financial services industry would be declined modestly
amid less active global financial activities, capital market may
be impaired in the second half of 2019. Thus, the Investee
Management is going to adjust its business strategies to cope
with the downturn. Internally, cost saving policy and discontinue
of unprofitable business segment will be carried out to reduce
the cost burden of the Investee Group. In addition, corporate
governance will be promoted for strengthening the internal
control and risk management of the Investee Group to mitigate
unanticipated cost. Externally, the Investee Management will
work actively with strategic partners to create synergies and
derive more values to the Investee Group.

In early 2019, a company was set up in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) with a PRC partner, in which the Investee
Group has significant control over the PRC company. The
Investee Management mentioned that the PRC company had
commenced business and entered into certain agreements
with some PRC Enterprises for provision of financial services.
The Investee Management is making an effort to explore the
market in the PRC related to its core business and generate
more income for improving the financial performance of the
Investee Group. The Directors noted the adverse changes of the
latest economic environment, thus, the impact of the financial
services industry in Hong Kong. The Directors would continue
to monitor the business development of the Investee Group and

protect the interest of the Group.

2)

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

Additional information relating to an unlisted investment fund (“Fund”) held by
the Group

In April 2015 and July 2015, the Group has subscribed for an
aggregate of 1,001.532 non-voting participating redeemable
share, designated as Class A share, of the Fund of US$0.01 par
value (“Class A Shares”) at the aggregate subscription price of
HK$10,000,000 (“Subscription”). The Fund is a non-listed exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability.
Based on the information provided at the time of Subscription, the
investment strategy of the Fund is to explore investment opportunities
in Asia and to make investments into businesses which are engaged
in or derive a significant proportion of their income from the field of
social media.

In preparation for the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2018, the Group has made numerous
requests to the Fund to obtain the financial information or the value
of the Fund. However, the Fund did not provide such information at
that time. After considering all the work done as mentioned above
and the possible cost to be incurred should the Group referred the
matter to the court, the Group has evaluated the probability of fully
recovering the investment cost on the Fund to be remote. Therefore,
an impairment loss equals to the carrying amount of the Fund has
been recognised in the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

Subsequently on 28 February 2019, Wise Action Limited received
an offer letter (“Offer Letter”) from a purchaser (“Purchaser”) who
offered to purchase all the Class A Shares (“Offer”) held by the
Group at the aggregate consideration of HK$8,991,624 (“Purchase
Price”). According to the Offer Letter, the Offer was made with the
same condition to all six external Class A shareholders, including
the Group. The obligations to complete the purchase of all the
Group’s interest in the Fund were conditional on the acceptance of
the Offer by all the six Class A shareholders. The Purchase Price
will be settled in cash by 34 monthly instalments, where (i) by no
later than 29 March 2019, in the amount of HK$749,302.11 and
(ii) by the last business day of each consecutive month from April
2019 to December 2021, each in the amount HK$249,767.33.
After considering (i) the net asset value of the Class A Shares as at
31 December 2017 as provided by the manager of the Fund, which
is the same as the Purchase Price; and (ii) the redemption restriction
of the Fund, the Group has accepted the Offer on 14 March 2019.
The Group understands that all six Class A shareholders accepted the
Offer and the Purchaser has started to pay the Purchaser Price to the
Group in accordance with the payment schedule. Upon the disposal,
the Purchase Price is discounted to its present value using a pre-tax
discount rate and a fair value gain of approximately HK$7,556,000
is recognised in other comprehensive income. The remaining loss
of approximately HK$1,499,000 which had already been included
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling), has been transferred to
accumulated losses.
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Other Investment — Early Education

Full Profit Hong Kong Development Limited and its subsidiary
(“Full Profit Group”), joint venture of the Group, focus primarily on
providing early education management and consultancy services.
The current decline in kindergarten admissions and changes in
other business factors have led to a drop in revenue and profit of the
Full Profit Group during the Year. It is expected, therefore, that the
market size for early education will continue to shrink in lockstep with
the continuing decline in Hong Kong's overall birth rate. Due to the
unfavourable business environment, the Group has compromised
with the joint venture partner to carry out measures for minimizing
the operating costs and making an effort on maintaining a reasonable
return to the Full Profit Group.

Money Lending Business

China Rich Finance Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, is a holder of money lender’s license under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
The Group has adopted money lending policies and procedures
for handling and/or monitoring the money lending business in
compliance with the Money Lenders Ordinance.

During the Year, the Group recorded loan interest income of
approximately HK$4.01 million (2018: approximately HK$3.46
million) from granting loans to both corporate and individual clients.
The outstanding principal amount of loan receivables as at 30 June
2019 was approximately HK$40.30 million (2018: approximately
HK$31.30 million).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$108.94 million, representing a slightly decrease of approximately
0.08% as compared to approximately HK$109.03 million recorded
last year. For the Year, revenue generated from secondary tutoring
services recorded a drop to approximately HK$53.88 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 24.79% as compared to
approximately HK$71.64 million recorded last year. In addition, there
was a decrease in revenue from English language training and test
preparation courses to approximately HK$9.23 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 17.91% as compared to approximately
HK$11.24 million recorded last year.

On the other hand, revenue from primary tutoring services, skill
courses and test preparation courses (including franchising income)
was approximately HK$24.26 million, representing an increase of
approximately 23.32% as compared to approximately HK$19.67
million recorded last year. During the Year, the Group recorded
revenue from dance tuition services of approximately HK$17.57
million (2018: approximately HK$2.44 million, recorded from
1 May 2018 to 30 June 2018).

During the Year, the Group recorded loan interest income from
the money lending business of approximately HK$4.01 million
(2018: approximately HK$3.46 million), representing an increase of
approximately 15.68% as compared to last year.

Other income, gains and losses

For the Year, the Group’s other income, gains and losses recorded
net gain of approximately HK$0.41 million (2018: net gain of
approximately HK$55.89 million). Such decrease was mainly due
to the net effect of (i) decrease in impairment losses on loan and
other receivables by approximately HK$12 million as compared to
last financial year; (ii) one-off gain on disposal of subsidiaries and
associates of approximately HK$69.56 million; and (iii) loss on
disposal of AFS investments of approximately HK$3.05 million, both
(ii) and (iii) were recorded in the year of 2018 but absence in the

current financial year.
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Staff costs

The Group’s staff costs increased by approximately HK$10.15 million
or approximately 24.66% compared with the last financial year. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the inclusion of staff salaries of
the segment of dance tuition services during the Year.

Tutor contractor fee

The Group’s tutor contractor fee decreased by approximately
HK$5.37 million or approximately 19.38% compared with the last
financial year. Such decrease was in line with the decline in revenue
derived from secondary tutoring services.

Operating lease payments

The Group’s operating lease payments increased by approximately
HK$8.38 million or approximately 24.92% compared with the
previous year. Such increase was mainly due to the inclusion of
rental payments of the segment of dance tuition services during the

Year.

Marketing expenses

The Group’s marketing expenses decreased by approximately
HK$6.44 million or approximately 55.02% compared with last
financial year. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the reduction

in media placement and various marketing activities during the Year.

Other operating expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses decreased by approximately
HK$4.37 million or approximately 11.29% compared with the
previous year. Such decrease was mainly due to the net effect of,
among other things, the inclusion of operating expenses of the
segment of dance tuition services during the Year and the fact that
the Group recorded (i) a decrease in legal and professional fee by
approximately HK$1.90 million as compared to the last financial year;
and (ii) a write off of promissory note receivable of approximately
HK$5.53 million was recorded in the year of 2018 but was absence

in the current financial year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Finance costs
The Group incurred finance costs of approximately HK$0.04 million
from other borrowings during the Year (2018: approximately HK$3.42

million from loan notes and bank borrowings).

As at 30 June 2019, other borrowing of the Group from an
independent third party is unsecured, repayable within one year and

carried a fixed interest rate at 12% per annum.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$77.44 million (2018: loss of approximately
HK$8.25 million). Such increase in loss was mainly due to (i) the
loss arising on change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL of
approximately HK$19.83 million (2018: gain of approximately
HK$31.52 million) and (ii) lack of one-off gain on disposal of
subsidiaries and associates of approximately HK$69.56 million

recorded in the year of 2018.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, given the fact that competition in tutoring services
will remain very fierce, the Group will adhere to a prudent approach
in business development and deploy resources cautiously in order
to maintain its overall competitiveness while providing high quality
education to students. Secondary and primary tutoring services
will remain the key focus of the Group’s business operations, and
the Group will spare no efforts to invest resources in recruiting
and retaining an experienced team of teachers with quality. In the
meantime, the Group will modify the marketing strategies in a timely
manner to bolster the brand name and maintain the dominant
position for “Modern Education” and “Modern Bachelor Education”
in the tutorial services market and strive to preserve its market

position among the peers.

In addition, the Group’s management team will look for potential
education-related business partners for business collaboration when
opportunities arise. In the long run, the Group aims at business
diversification within the education sector in order to create a positive
synergy and generate greater income for the Group.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has established an appropriate liquidity risk management
system to manage its short, medium and long-term funding and to

satisfy its liquidity management requirements.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s total balance of cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$6.84 million (30 June
2018: approximately HK$42.71 million), of which 94.60% is held
in Hong Kong dollars and 5.40% is held in Renminbi. Current ratio
(defined as total current assets divided by total current liabilities) was
5.26 times (30 June 2018: 8.53 times).

As at 30 June 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group was 14.03%
(30 June 2018: 8.74%). Gearing ratio is total debts divided by the
sum of total equity and total debts. Total debts refer to total liabilities
minus the sum of tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and dividend
payable (if any).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group consistently employed a prudent treasury policy during
its development and generally financed its operations and business
development with internally generated resources and equity and/or
debt financing activities. The Group also adopted flexible and prudent
fiscal policies to effectively manage the Group’s assets and liabilities

and strengthen its financial position.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and as such the impact of foreign exchange
exposure of the Group was considered minimal. Hence, no hedging
or other arrangements to reduce the currency risk have been
implemented.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had a total of 216 employees
(30 June 2018: 309 employees). They receive competitive
remuneration packages that are constantly monitored with reference
to the market circumstances, with incentives such as discretionary
bonuses based on the Group’s and individual performance. The
Group provides comprehensive benefits packages and career
development opportunities.

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted by the Company on
11 June 2011 (“Share Option Scheme”), the Board may grant
options to eligible persons, including employees and Directors, to
subscribe for shares of the Company. During the Year, no share
options have been granted by the Company pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2019, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (30 June 2018: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2019 and 2018, there was no capital commitments
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
The Group had neither pledged any assets nor any general banking
facility as at 30 June 2019 and 2018.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the Year, the Group had the following material acquisition and

disposals:

(0

Loan disposal

On 7 September 2018, Rosy Lane Investments Limited
(“Rosy Lane”, as vendor), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a loan disposal agreement
(“Loan Disposal Agreement”) with Mr. Wong Kui Shing
(“Mr.

Lane has conditionally agreed to sell and assign, and

Wong”, as purchaser), pursuant to which Rosy
Mr. Wong has conditionally agreed to purchase and be
assigned, Rosy Lane’s rights, titles, benefits and interests in and
to a loan (including the aggregate outstanding principal sum and
the interests accrued thereon in the amount of approximately
HK$54.48 million owing by Mr. Poon Chun Yin (“Mr. Poon”)
to Rosy Lane as at 7 September 2018, the promissory
note issued by Mr. Poon (as debtor) to Rosy Lane dated
30 December 2016 and the share mortgage (executed in
favour of Rosy Lane over the shares of Seasoned Leader
Limited)) at the consideration of HK$48 million. Completion
of the loan disposal took place on 17 September 2018 and
the Group has ceased to have any interest in the said loan.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
7 September 2018 and 10 September 2018 for further details

of the loan disposal.

Advance to an entity

Pursuant to the unsecured promissory note issued by Mr. Wong
to Rosy Lane pursuant to the Loan Disposal Agreement, Mr.
Wong shall pay the balance of consideration of the Loan
Disposal Agreement in the amount of HK$43 million (“Balance
Payment”) to Rosy Lane in accordance with the following
schedule:

HK$15 million repayable on or before 17 December 2018
HK$15 million repayable on or before 18 March 2019
HK$13 million repayable on or before 17 June 2019

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Such promissory note is unsecured but interest is chargeable
on the Balance Payment at the interest rate of 10% per annum,
repayable on 17 June 2019.

As at 30 June 2019, the entire Balance Payment and interest
accrued was still outstanding and exceeded 8% of the total
assets of the Group as at 30 June 2019.

After the end of the Year, Mr. Wong has committed to repay
the Balance Payment and the interest accrued in 7 instalments
from 31 August 2019 to 29 February 2020. On 31 August
2019, Mr. Wong settled the first instalment in the amount of
HK$15 million.

(ii) Disposal of GET Shares (i)
On 7 September 2018, the Group through Fastek Investments
Limited (“Fastek”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, disposed of 9,570,000 shares (“GET Shares”)
of GET Holdings Limited (“GET”, a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8100) on the market
through the Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of
HK$3,971,550 (excluding stamp duty and related expenses).
On 19 September 2018, the Group through Wise Action Limited,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, disposed
of 12,288,235 GET Shares under the terms and conditions
of the mandatory cash share offer made on 31 August 2018
by Get Nice Securities Limited for and on behalf of Mr. Wong
Jing Shong (as offeror) for an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$5,161,000. After the said disposals, the
Group ceased to hold any interest in GET. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 18 September 2018 for

further details of the disposals.

AR A BRI AR F N K 10% YA
REERTNRNR - WA 2019F6 A17HEE -

MR201946 A30H & & b4 s4 3k R FE R FI &
TMAREEIBEAEENR2019F6 A30H#EE
EZ8% -

RAFERE  FREDERFEBE2019F
8A31HE2020F2H 298 N 7N K EE L
RIS BT R E - A2019F 8 A31H » £ %
B 8 — #9143 15,000,000 7T ©

HEEZ KRG

MR2018F9H7H  REBEFRANA 2EES
& Iff )& A & Fastek Investments Limited ([ Fastek |)
KL X FTAE T 45 | 59,570,000 % & SE R &
RAR([E 5] —BREBA T GEM LRI RA] -
AR 5% - 8100) ik fa (B 2K ]) - BRER
3,971,550 L (T BIRENER LAEBER) - 1
2018F9 A 19H  AKBERART ZHES
BEMBEAREBAERABBRELETESFERA
AIR2018F8A3IBREXEF ZHhE EAE
HIN) R85 $13H RGO BELH 2GR R GG
512,288,235 %8 5 1 - 82X {8 495,161,000
B -REHER AEETHIFBEESMH
MEz BELENE—PHE BLELR
AIEHI/A20185F9 A 18 HH A1 -

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material B EMFIFEEEIN ZEERAFEALEELMME
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during the Year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT BEXBRERERKEE
As at 30 June 2019, the Group did not have any other plans for 7201946 A30H * AEB T BT HMEKREE
material investment or capital assets. HEREEMETE -
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsang Ka Wai, aged 32, is an executive Director. Mr. Tsang was
appointed as an executive Director on 24 October 2017. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Tsang obtained
a Bachelor of Economics and Finance Degree from the University
of Hong Kong in 2010. Mr. Tsang has been a senior manager of a
publisher of a newspaper focusing on finance and investments news
since 2015.

Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey, aged 44, is an executive Director. Mr. Yip
was appointed as an executive Director on 10 November 2017. He is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yip has over
16 years of experience in the information technology and marketing
sectors, in particular, online marketing, offline events organizing and

big data analysis.

Mr. Wong King Hoi, aged 32, is an executive Director. Mr. Wong was
appointed as an executive Director on 10 November 2017. Mr. Wong
obtained a Bachelor of Nursing degree from the University of Hong
Kong in 2011. Mr. Wong was the president of a newspaper in Hong
Kong which focused on finance and investments from 2015 to 2017
and is currently a financial columnist in various newspapers and
magazines in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has over 11 years of experience

in the investment sector.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, aged 37, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 November 2017. Ms. Jor
obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Honours) degree and a Bachelor
of Commerce degree from the University of Auckland, New Zealand
in 2005. Ms. Jor is qualified as a Chartered Financial Analyst of
the CFA Institute and as a Chartered Accountant of the Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand. Ms. Jor has over 13 years
of experience in the accounting and finance sector, in particular,

corporate finance and financial advisory services.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Leung Ki Chi James, aged 43, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 January 2018. Mr. Leung obtained a
Master of Commerce degree from Macquarie University, Australia
and a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) degree from the Central
Queensland University, Australia in 1999 and 1998 respectively.
Mr. Leung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the CPA Australia. Mr. Leung has over 17 years
of experience in the accounting and finance sector, in particular,
internal control and corporate financial management.

Mr. Fenn David, aged 39, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 10 May 2018. Mr. Fenn obtained his
bachelor of laws degree with honours from the University of Hong
Kong in December 2002. He was awarded the postgraduate
certificate in laws by The University of Hong Kong in June 2003.
Mr. Fenn further obtained a master of laws degree in banking and
finance from University College London, University of London in
the United Kingdom in November 2006. Mr. Fenn was admitted
as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 2005 and is specialised
in the field of securities compliance, disputes resolution, winding-
up and restructuring. He has been appointed as an adjudicator of
the Registration of Persons Tribunal of Hong Kong since November
2013, a disciplinary panel member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since February 2016, and a member
of the Appeal Panel (Housing) of the Transport and Housing Bureau
of Hong Kong since April 2017. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of Stream ldeas Group Limited (stock code:
8401) and Sun Kong Holdings Limited (stock code: 8631), which are
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Lam Yick Tung Philip, aged 45, joined the Group in November

2017. He is currently the financial controller and the company
secretary of the Company. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
and a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New South
Wales, Australia. Mr. Lam is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia. Mr. Lam has
over 17 years of experience in the accounting and finance sector, in

particular, financial advisory services.
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The directors (“Directors”) of Hong Kong Education (Int'l)
Investments Limited (“Company”) present their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2019 (“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries as of 30 June
2019 are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year and the
material factors underlying its financial performance can be found
in the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report. These discussions form part of this report of the
Directors.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties related to the business of the
Group are as below:

Sourcing risk

The Group depends on its tutors to provide tutoring services to its
students who look for quality test-taking skills, unique complementary
teaching methods and stable tutor-student relationship. The service
contracts of the Group’s tutors with the Group may not be renewed
upon expiry. The business may be adversely affected if the Group
is unable to recruit other experienced tutors or retain the existing
tutors to provide the tutoring services. The Group will keep searching
new quality tutors to join us in order to reduce the concentration of
revenue generated from our existing tutors who received the highest
tutor contractor fees.
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Business Interruption risk

The Group rents education centres for its business to provide tutoring
services to students. Renewal of leases of education centres at
reasonable price is important for stable development of the business.
The leases may not be renewed upon expiry and relocation of
education centres may be needed. The business may be adversely
affected if the Group is unable to maintain the existing education
centres or to find suitable locations for new education centres. The
Group will renew such leases or licences situated in prime locations
in a timely manner before their expiration and maintain an updated
portfolio of potential premises as back up options in order to minimise
the adverse effect on business re-location.

Competitor risk

The industry in which the Group operates is in fierce competition.
Decrease in the number of students and increase of small-scale
tutoring centres in the market have deteriorated the market
competition. The Group also faces significant competition in major
programmes offered and geographical locations operated by its
competitors. If the Group fails to retain and attract students, the
market share may drop and the profitability may be adversely
affected. The Group will enhance its competitive advantage through
maintaining of a high-quality teaching team and a good brand image

continuously in order to keep and further increase its market share.

Infringement risk

Protection of intellectual property rights is of great significance
in society and to the Group’s business. Generally, the laws and
regulations affecting the Group include the Trade Marks Ordinance
(Chapter 559 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“HK Laws”) (“Trade Marks
Ordinance”)) and Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the HK Laws
(“Copyright Ordinance”)). Violation of such laws and regulations
may expose the Group to litigation risks, which will adversely affect
the financial position as well as the brand image of the Group.
The Group will stay alert to the relevant legal issues and update its
internal policies when necessary to avoid any breach of the regulatory

requirements.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Group are shown in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to long term environmental sustainability. We
strive to encourage higher environmental protection awareness at our
offices and education centres by promoting the culture to consume
electricity and natural resources wisely among our employees. The
Group also commits to the principle and practice of recycling and
reduction. The Group implements green office practices such as
encouraging the use of recycled paper for printing and copying,
double-sided printing and copying, reducing energy consumption
by switching off idle lightings, air-conditioning and electronic and

electrical appliances.

The Group will continually review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance
considerations into operational processes. The Group also promotes
green awareness amongst and maintains dialogue with employees
and business partners. The Group is determined to improve
environmental performance of the daily business operations towards

establishing a sustainable environment.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and has taken measures to minimise the risk of
non-compliance with such requirements which may otherwise lead
to adverse impact on business operation and financial position of the
Group. The Group has on-going review on the newly enacted laws
and regulations and has established various management systems
and measures such as internal control procedures and staff training.
The Group constantly monitors the operation of its business to ensure

compliance with the relevant laws and regulations.

On the corporate level, the Group has complied with the
requirements under the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) including the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) under the Listing Rules
and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the HK
Laws (“SFQ")), relating to, among others, disclosure of information,

dealings in securities, and corporate governance.
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On the operational level, the Group has complied with the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the HK Laws) and the
guidelines recommended by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner
for Personal Data when collecting and processing data from students.
The Group has also paid attention to the Copyright Ordinance when
preparing and delivering teaching materials. Besides, the Group
has complied with the Education Ordinance (Chapter 279 of the HK
Laws) in application of applicable certificates for running education
centres and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the

HK Laws) in preparation and publication of advertisement.

On the human resources level, the Group has abided by the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the HK Laws), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the HK Laws), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the HK Laws), Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the HK Laws), equal
opportunity legislations (including Sex Discrimination Ordinance
(Chapter 480 of the HK Laws), Disability Discrimination Ordinance
(Chapter 487 of the HK Laws), Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 527 of the HK Laws) and Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the HK Laws)) and Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the HK Laws) to safeguard
the health, safety, interests and benefits of the Group’s employees.
Details of the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report

which is set out on pages 58 to 82 of this annual report.

To the best of knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with relevant laws and regulation during the Year. The Group is
not aware of any material breach or non-compliance with the laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and

operations of the Group.
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Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

(a)

(b)

Employees

The Group believes that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of the employees and makes necessary
adjustments to confirm to the market standard. The Group is
also passionately committed to developing the staff and provides
them with rewarding career paths and people-friendly working

environment.

Customers

The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability in providing
quality services to our customers. To ensure continuous
improvement of the quality of services, the Group regularly
reviews its teaching materials in order to meet the students’
demand and the market trend. The Group believes that
maintaining good relationship with students can help strengthen
its market competitiveness in the industry.

(c) Suppliers

The Group understands the importance to work closely with our
suppliers (who are mainly our tutors) to ensure the sustainability
of our business. The Group has established long standing
relationships with our suppliers and ensure they share our

commitment to quality and ethics.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s operation for the Year by business

activities is set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements

and the paragraphs headed “Business Review” under the section of

“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated

financial statements on pages 94 to 96 of this annual report.

The board of the Directors (“Board”) does not recommend the

payment of a final dividend for the Year (2018: nil).
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 244 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$31,950 (2018: HK$123,816).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws
of the Company (“Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing

shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the shares of the
Company (“Shares”). If the Shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in,
or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised
to consult their professional advisers.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on pages 100 to 101 of this annual report and the statement
of financial position of the Company in Note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves available for distribution of the
Company during the Year are set out in Note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Income from the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate
contributed to less than 30% of the Group’s total income during the
Year.

During the Year, tutor contractor fee paid/payable to the Group’s
top five tutors, who entered into service contracts with the Group,
accounted for 56.47% of the Group’s total tutor contractor fee for the
Year (2018: 55.07%), and tutor contractor fee paid/payable to the
Group’s topmost tutor accounted for 27.02% of the Group’s total tutor
contractor fee for the Year (2018: 25.18%). None of the Directors,
their close associates as well as substantial Shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) was anyone out of such top five tutors (2018:

none).

Contracts with the other five largest suppliers of the Group, excluding
the independent tutors, combined by values which are not of a
capital nature, contributed to less than 30% of the total value of
supplies purchased by the Group during the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this annual report
are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tsang Ka Wai

Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey
Mr. Wong King Hoi

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee

Mr. Leung Ki Chi James

Mr. Fenn David

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“Annual General Meeting”), one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years and the retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey and Mr. Wong King Hoi will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received from each of Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, Mr. Leung Ki Chi
James and Mr. Fenn David an annual confirmation of independence.
Based on these confirmations, the Company considers that each of
such Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into either a service contract or a
letter of appointment with the Company as follows.

Name

&

Contract type
anER

EEHERBEEH
SEEERADAT LA TRBAORE TR -

Directorship term

EEEM
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Prior notice of termination

RILZEEEM

Mr. Tsang Ka Wai

IIES

LRERE

ol

Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey

KEERE

Mr. Wong King Hoi

\EHELEE

Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee

AR L L

Mr. Leung Ki Chi James

REBRE

Mr. Fenn David

SBIEELE

Service contract

R A4

Service contract

RIEEH

Service contract

R A K

Letter of appointment

ZERT

Letter of appointment

ZIEHHF

Letter of appointment

ZERMT

Fixed term of three years commenced
on 24 October 2017

820174 10 A 24 B & & E HR
R=F

Fixed term of three years commenced
on 10 November 2017

B2017 4 11 A 10 A 5T EE #ifR
B=4F

Fixed term of three years commenced
on 10 November 2017

820174 11 A 10 H 5T EE HR
R=F

Fixed term of three years commenced
on 10 November 2017

B20174 11 A 10 A 5T EE 2R
B=4F

Fixed term of three years commenced
on 19 January 2018

B 20184 1 A 19 H 25+ & 7F HR
M=

Fixed term of three years commenced
on 10 May 2018

B 201845 A 10 A 5T EE AR
B=4

Two-month notice in writing

Two-month notice in writing

i 1E A & EE A

Two-month notice in writing

Two-month notice in writing

R 1E A & EE A

Two-month notice in writing

Annual Report 2019 % 33



Report of the Directors
BEEERE

These appointments are subject to directors’ retirement from office
and retirement by rotation under the Bye-laws. None of the Directors
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
has entered into a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 23 to 24 of this annual report.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the
Year, nor was there any contract of significance in relation to the
Group’s business between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and

a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2019, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the share option scheme of the Company disclosed in
Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during
the Year and up to the date of this annual report was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate,
nor had exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ OR OTHER’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2019, the Company has not been notified of any other
person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had or was deemed or taken to have any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was

entered into by the Company or subsisted during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director is, subject to the provisions of the applicable laws,
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty in their offices
pursuant to the Bye-laws. The relevant Bye-law was in force during

the Year and as at the date of this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY OF THE GROUP

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence, and comparable market statistics. The Directors’
fees and other emoluments shall be subject to shareholders’
approval at general meetings or determined by the Board with the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee with reference to
the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results
of the Group. The employees and directors of the Group may be
rewarded with share options for the securities of the Company under
the share option scheme of the Company as detailed in the section
headed “EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS - Share option scheme”
below.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed below, during the Year, the Company has not
entered into any other equity-linked agreement (as defined in section
6 of the Companies (Director's Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of
the HK Laws)).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Scheme”) pursuant
to a resolution passed on 11 June 2011 so as to attract and retain
the best available personnel and to provide additional incentive to
the eligible participants under the Scheme. Pursuant to the Scheme,
the Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion and subject to the
terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the shares of
the Company (in such form then existing and subject to adjustment)
to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors, consultants,
supplier(s), customer(s), joint venture partner(s), business
associate(s) and advisor(s) of the Group. The Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on 4 July 2011
(“Effective Date”) and expiring on the business day immediately
preceding the 10th anniversary of the adoption date of the Scheme,
i.e. 10 June 2021.
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An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 21 days
inclusive of the day on which such offer is made. The amount
payable for the grant of an option by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the offer is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a share
of the Company in respect of any particular option granted under the
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified
to a participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of grant of

the option.

The initial total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the shares in issue on the Effective Date. The Company
may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the Shareholders’
approval and issue of a circular in compliance with the Listing Rules,
provided that the total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under all the share option schemes of the Company
does not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time. The total number of shares of the Company issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant must not exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company then in issue unless approved by the
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the

provisions of early termination thereof.
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During the Year, no option has been granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed by the Company under the Scheme. As at the date of
this annual report, the total number of securities available for issue
under the Scheme was 54,757,088 Shares of HK$0.05 each, which
represented 10% of the issued Shares. As at 1 July 2018 and
30 June 2019, there was no share option outstanding under the
Scheme.

Further details of the Scheme are set out in Note 35 to the

consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions for the Year set out in Note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements, none of these transactions
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the pension scheme of the Group are set out in Note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events occurring after the reporting period
of the Group are set out in Note 45 to the consolidated financial

statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions of the corporate governance code set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules as its own corporate governance code (“CG
Code”). During the Year, the Company has complied with all the
provisions of the CG Code except for the deviation as disclosed in the
Corporate Governance Report which is set out on pages 40 to 57 of

this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there is sufficient public
float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules during the Year and as at the date

of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2019 were audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly")
who will retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Baker Tilly as auditors of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Baker Tilly have been appointed as the auditors of the Company
with effect from 23 May 2018 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited which took effect
from 23 May 2018. Save for the above, there has been no other
change in the auditors of the Company in any of the preceding three

years.

On behalf of the Board

Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 September 2019
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Corporate Governance Report
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The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Hong Kong
Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (“Company”) is committed
to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within
a sensible framework with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence. The Board believes
that good corporate governance is essential to the success of the
Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) and the enhancement of

shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions of the corporate governance code set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) as
its own corporate governance code (“CG Code”). During the year
ended 30 June 2019 (“Year”), the Company has complied with all
the provisions of the CG Code and the Listing Rules except for the
deviations as disclosed in this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiries to the Directors, each of the Directors confirmed his/her
compliance with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six
members, three of whom are executive Directors, namely Mr. Tsang
Ka Wai, Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey and Mr. Wong King Hoi. The other
three members are independent non-executive Directors, namely
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, Mr. Leung Ki Chi James and Mr. Fenn
David.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 23 to 24 of this annual

report.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance. The Board has established various Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with the standards of applicable laws and regulations,
and have acted in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
(“Shareholders”) as a whole at all times.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company
including: the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflicts of interest), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. During the
Year, 4 Board meetings were held to perform the above mentioned

duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”), to ensure that Board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each Director
is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making request to
the Board.
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Management Functions

While the Board is responsible for the overall strategic direction and
governance by considering and approving the Group’s strategies,
policies and business plan, the functions of implementing the
approved strategy and policies as well as managing the day-to-day
operations and administration are delegated to the executive
management. The functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed
by the Board.

Appointments of the Directors are subject to retirement from office
and retirement by rotation under the bye-laws of the Company
(“Bye-laws”) and the CG Code.

In accordance with the CG Code, any new Director appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after the appointment, and according to the
Bye-laws, any new Director appointed as an addition to the Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, at every annual general meeting
of the Company one-third of the Directors (or, if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not
less than, on-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A

retiring Director is eligible for re-election at that general meeting.

Code Provision A.1.8 of the CG Code provides that appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against directors should
be arranged. Currently, the Company does not have insurance cover
for legal action against its Directors. However, every Director is,
subject to the provisions of the applicable laws, indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty in their offices pursuant to the Bye-laws. In
view of the above, the Board considers that the Directors’ exposure
to risk is manageable and that benefits to be derived from taking out
insurance may not outweigh the cost.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the Year, all of the
Directors received regular updates and presentations on changes
and developments of the Group’s business and the legislative and
regulatory environments in which the Group operates. All Directors
are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses. Effective
from September 2012, all Directors are required to provide the
Company with his or her training record on a yearly basis. During
the Year, each of Mr. Tsang Ka Wai, Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey,
Mr. Wong King Hoi, Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, Mr. Leung Ki Chi
James and Mr. Fenn David participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by way of attending training or
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business, amendments
on Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the HK Laws) and the

Listing Rules, or directors’ duties and responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and

should not be performed by the same individual.

The positions of the chief executive officer of the Company (“CEQ”)
and the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) have been vacated
since 9 November 2017 and 19 December 2017 respectively and
remain vacated as at the date of this annual report. The positions of
the CEO and the Chairman remain vacated as the Company has not
been able to identify suitable candidates for the positions.

Since 19 December 2017 when the position of the Chairman has
remained vacated, to facilitate discussion of all key and appropriate
issues by the Board in a timely manner, the executive Directors have
actively co-ordinated with the senior management of the Company to
provide adequate, complete and reliable information to all Directors
for consideration and review.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has during the Year met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors, representing at least one-third of the Board
under the CG Code with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. All
independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a specific

term of three years.

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has received
a written confirmation of independence from each of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Company considers all independent
non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yick Tung Philip was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 21 December 2017 and is responsible for facilitating the Board
processes, as well as communications among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. During the Year, Mr. Lam has taken
not less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training to update

his skills and knowledge.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company comprises one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey and Mr. Fenn David.
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation): (i) making recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and
the senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policies on such remuneration;
(i) determining the remuneration packages of all individual executive
Directors and the senior management and making recommendations
to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and
(iii) reviewing and approving compensation payable to the executive
Directors and the senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with the relevant
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive.

Director Remuneration Policy

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to
review the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management and assessed the performance
of the executive Directors in accordance with the Remuneration
Committee’s written terms of reference. Emoluments payable to
the executive Directors are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings or determined by the Board with reference to such
executive Director’s duties, responsibilities and performance and
the results of the Group. No executive Director can be involved in
deciding his or her own remuneration.

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management
by bands for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration bands

FrEN 4R B
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Nil to HK$1,000,000

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the Year are set out
in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) of the Company comprises one executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Fenn David (chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Tsang
Ka Wai and Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee.

The major functions of the Nomination Committee are to assist the
Board to identify suitable individuals qualified to become Board
members, assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, propose appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
their succession planning, review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”)
with effect from 1 September 2013. The Company continuously seeks
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the highest
standards of corporate governance and recognizes and embraces
the benefits of diversity in the Board. A diversity of perspectives can
be achieved through engaging directors in possession of diversified
skills, regional and industry experience, educational background,
race, gender and other qualities, etc. The composition, experience
and balance of skills of the Board are regularly reviewed to ensure
that the Board retains a core of members with longstanding
knowledge of the Group alongside new Director(s) appointed from
time to time who bring fresh perspectives and diverse experience
to the Board. The Board appointments will continue to be made on
a merit basis and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity in the Board. The
Board will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its
continued effectiveness on an annual basis.

REERE

RAFHRAH ARFAREZBEE((REZEE))
H—R2RTEERMAB I IFAITESAK - BI5E/E
BREREZEGEIE) BREXERTARLL -

REZEENIZRBERBHEZTSNEAERK
REFERENABAE FHEBIFRTESEH
BIYM BRREENEZEREBARBFOEETS -
R EFGNRE - ABREN UL EMEHRE
MEESELES  URAARANEEERE -

EEEZT{LEE
EX2AN0BFOAIREEEMN—HEFTEZLIL
BE([EFEZTLBE]) - ARBTEFRKEH
BEFE2RE #RERREZAXER  YHAK
BEEZEEZTENNE - ZUCHEAIEBRE
BAEZ LA BERITELR HEER Bk
MR REMFESELHGTZETER EFEZ
MR BRERETFEDNEERRT  NERESS
REHAEEAARYPAI 2R OKEIN - B
TREZEFEEEUNREZTEFREFRE AR
K BFEENENZTEBEEARARENER
BREXESEZRUEITEFENENAE 1B
EEREEFEREETENTR EFSHHER
BREES LB RABRESFRHERN

46 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &HE#% A (BFR) REEBBRLF



Director Nomination Policy

In December 2018, the Board has adopted a director nomination
policy (“Director Nomination Policy”), which serves to improve
the transparency of the process and criteria in selecting and
recommending candidates as Directors. Under the Director
Nomination Policy, Board appointments will be made on a merit
basis and candidates will be considered against objective criteria
including their academic background, qualifications, skills and
knowledge, character and integrity, willingness and capacity to devote
commitment on discharging a director’s duties, and compliance with
the criteria of independence under the Listing Rules, if applicable.
Where a candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence will be assessed in
accordance with, among others, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, Code Provisions A.3.3 (Best Recommended
Practice), A.4.3 and A.5.5 of the CG Code, as applicable. In the
context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, the Nomination
Committee shall review the candidate’s overall contribution and
performance, including attendance of committees, board and general
meetings, and level of participation and performance on the Board,
and make recommendations to the Board for consideration and to

the Shareholders for re-election at the general meetings.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board, and review
the arrangement for re-election of all the retiring Directors at the
forthcoming general meeting of the Company, the terms of reference

of the Nomination Committee and the Director Nomination Policy.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) of the Company comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee
(chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Leung Ki Chi James and
Mr. Fenn David. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are
to assist the Board by providing an independent review of the
effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control and
risk management systems of the Group, overseeing the audit process
and performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings to review
the annual and interim results of the Group and terms of reference of
the Audit Committee, and make recommendations to the Board and
the management in respect of the Group’s financial reporting and
internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed, with the management and
the Company’s auditors, the Group’s significant internal controls
and financial matters in accordance with the Audit Committee’s
written terms of reference and made relevant recommendations to
the Board. The Audit Committee’s review covered the audit scope
and findings, external auditor’s independence and performance, the
Group’s accounting principles and practices, the Listing Rules and
statutory compliance, connected transactions, internal controls, risk
management, financial reporting matters (including the interim and
annual financial reports for the Board’s approval) and the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function as well as their training
programmes and budget.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with written terms of reference equivalent to
Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the corporate
governance policies of the Company were reviewed by the Board.
The Board also reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management, the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code, disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report and the policy on compliance with legal and

regulatory requirements.
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ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS EEHEERZER

The attendance of the Directors at the general meetings of the WAFER KEFHREALRTIREAE EEeg
Company, meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee, the & BZZELgR FHWEZEComMEEEEY
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee during the SHIBERINHWT

Year are set out below:

Number of meetings attended/held

HEBITERRY
Annual Special Audit Remuneration  Nomination
general general Board Committee Committee Committee
Director meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings meeting
ERZRe FHMZERE® REER®
EF BREFAT BRRBHAE EFEeeR - ] -4 ] 2k
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai BLRELE /1 NATEH 44 NATER  NATER 11
Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey — ERE LA 111 NATESE A4 NIAREFB 171 NATER
Mr. Wong King Hoi el /1 NATER 44 NATEE  NATER  NATEA
Independent non-executive HIFHTES
Directors
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee 7# SEta#%+ /1 NATEAR 4/4 212 171 11
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James REBKE 171 NATER 4/4 22 NATEA  NATEA
Mr. Fenn David SBERLAE Ul NATER 4/4 212 11 11
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year. The
Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements of
the Group on a going concern basis, and have selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently, with applicable
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and pursuant to the
relevant statutory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors,
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”), are set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 83 to 93 of
this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group which are
designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, which covers financial, operational, compliance
procedural and risk management functions, and considered the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function. The Board concluded that the risk management

and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
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Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to monitor
the identified risks, the assessment and evaluation of risks, the
continuous updating of risk responses for the key risks identified to
ensure the effectiveness of the mitigation procedures are in place.
Furthermore, a risk matrix approach is adopted to determine the
significance of the risk after evaluation of the risk in accordance with
the likelihood and impact of the risk event identified.

While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, the management is
responsible for designing and implementing internal control systems
to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group. The operating
units and support functions are facilitated and coordinated by the
management, and ensure that risk management processes and
mitigation plans follow good practices and guidelines established in
their day-to-day operations.

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems is evaluated
at least annually to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks
The Group develops a preliminary inventory of events that could
influence the achievement of the Group’s business objectives. The
Group identifies outside and inside events by reviewing its external
and internal environment and stakeholders, which have an influence
or potential influence on the Group’s ability to achieve its strategy and
business objectives.

The risks identified are evaluated with a risk matrix which prioritises
risks according to the likelihood of their occurrence and the
significance of their impact on the achievement of the Group’s
business objectives. Following the review of the risk matrix, the
Group selects and deploys the corresponding risk responses and
investigates the mitigation procedures to be executed to ensure the
identified significant risks were managed to an acceptable level.
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Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit function and
are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal audit function
for the Group in order to meet its needs. The Board continues to

review the need for an internal audit function annually.

During the Year, an independent consultant (“Consultant”) was
engaged to perform a review on the risk management and internal
control systems. The Consultant has reported findings and areas
for improvement to the Board and management. The Board and
management are of the view that no material defeats are noted in
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The
recommendations from the Consultant are properly followed up by
the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective and no
significant control failings or weaknesses was identified for the Year.

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for the handling and
dissemination of inside information for purposes of strengthening
the confidentiality of inside information, maintaining the fairness of
information disclosure and protecting the legal interests and rights of
the investors. The Group is in compliance with Part XIVA and relevant
parts of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
HK Laws) and the Listing Rules. The Group has reasonable measures
on keeping the sensitive information confidential and ensure that the
inside information of the Group is disseminated to the public timely,
completely and accurately. In addition, each personnel is granted a
specific level of access to the price sensitive and inside information.
The Directors, senior management and employees are informed with
the latest regulatory updates.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditors, Baker
Tilly, for their audit services for the Year was HK$690,000. Baker
Tilly did not perform any non-audit services during the Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company maintains a two-way communication channel to report
the performance of the Company to the Shareholders and investors.
Annual reports, accounts and interim reports containing full details
of the Company’s activities are despatched to the Shareholders and
investors. Such reports and other announcements of the Company
can be accessed on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

To ensure disclosures are made to the Shareholders and investors
effectively, and to ensure that the same information is made available
to the public at the same time, price sensitive information is released
in the form of official announcements in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

In addition, the Company maintains contact with the Shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages the Shareholders to attend those meetings.

Notice of general meeting is sent by mail to the registered
Shareholders. Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of
general meeting.

A proxy form for use at a general meeting of the Company is enclosed
with the notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are unable to be
present at the meeting should fill out the form and return the same
to the branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company in
Hong Kong, so as to appoint a representative, another Shareholder or

the chairman of the meeting as their proxy.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS B REVEF
Procedures for shareholders to convene a general meeting BREBHERBRRASHWERF

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the ~ TR FEZ ARG 2 A r 48] - BRIZE1981F R
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Act”) and applicable legislation — BI3& ([AFNE]) MR AR RFFTHRE -

and regulation.

1. Anannual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each 1.

year. General meeting, other than an annual general meeting,
shall be called a special general meeting and may be held in any
part of the world as may be determined by the Board.

2. Shareholder or Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the 2.

requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Company’s registered office or head office in Hong Kong
at Rooms 1006-7, 10/F., China United Centre, 28 Marble Road,
North Point, Hong Kong, for the attention to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance
with the Act.

3. The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, 3.

and must be signed by the requisitionists and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
of the requisitionists. The requisition will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and upon their confirmation
that the requisition is proper and in order, the Company will
ask the Board to convene a special general meeting by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to
all the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition
has been verified as not in order, the Shareholders concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, a special

general meeting will not be convened as requested.
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals
The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Act and applicable legislation and regulation.

1. Either (i) the Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of those Shareholders having the right
to vote at such meeting; or (ii) not less than one hundred
Shareholders, at the expenses of the Shareholders concerned,
can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at a general
meeting or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the

business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting.

2. The written requisition must be signed by the requisitionists
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office
or head office in Hong Kong at Rooms 1006-7, 10/F., China
United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong, for
the attention of the Company Secretary, not less than six weeks
before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution and not less than one week in the case of any other

requisition.

3. The requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the requisition is
proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board
to (i) include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting; or (ii) convene a special general meeting by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to
all the registered Shareholders, provided that the requisitionists
concerned have deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s expenses in giving effect thereto.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director
The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the

Act and applicable legislation and regulation.

If a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person (“Candidate”) to
stand for election as a Director at the general meeting, documents
including, (i) a written notice signed by the concerned Shareholder
expressing his/her intention to propose the Candidate for election as
a Director at the general meeting; (ii) a written notice signed by the
Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected, together with
the Candidate’s biographical details as required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the Candidate’s written
consent to the publication of his/her personal data, must be validly
lodged at the Company’s registered office or head office in Hong Kong
at Rooms 1006-7, 10/F., China United Centre, 28 Marble Road,
North Point, Hong Kong or at Tricor Investor Services Limited, the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
within the period specified in the Bye-laws (the period for lodgment
of such notices shall commence on the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting).

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a Candidate
for election as a Director are available on the Company’s website at

www.hkeduii.com.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Specific enquiries by Shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can
be sent in writing to the Company Secretary at the Company’s head
office in Hong Kong at Rooms 1006-7, 10/F., China United Centre,
28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong. Other general enquiries
can be directed to the Company through those communication
channels as shown on the Company’s website at www.hkeduii.com.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”)

which allows the Shareholders to share the profits of the Company
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth.
Declaration of dividends is subject to any restrictions under the
Laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws and any applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The Company may declare dividends from time to time
depending on the following factors:

(i) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital

expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(iii) the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(iv) the Group’s liquidity position;

(v) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any

particular amount for any given period.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the Year.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY

Hong Kong Education (Int’l) Investments Limited (“Hong Kong
Education” or “Company”) is a service provider of chained
educational services in Hong Kong and is the first company listed on
the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in the industry.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of quality educational services for
students of different age groups and with different needs.

The Group’s educational services include the provision of secondary
tutoring services, English language training and test preparation
courses, primary tutoring services, skill courses and test preparation
courses, as well as the dance tuition services. As of 30 June 2019,
the Group had 7 learning centres operated under the brand of
“Modern Education” (2 X%(& ), 7 directly-owned education centres
and 36 franchised centres operated under the brand of “Modern
Bachelor Education” (3R X /N8 1), and 6 professional dancing
colleges under the brand of “Shelly Lo Jazz & Ballet School” ( Z& 3% ¥

EEZRTHERN).

The Group will continue to provide high quality classes by recruiting
tutors with recognised qualifications. In the meantime, the Group
will identify potential opportunities for different business segments
to enrich the existing cooperation and explore new business
relationships.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the third Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
report (“ESG Report”) published by the Company. By reporting the
ESG policies, measures and performances of the Group, the report
allows stakeholders to learn more about its progress and development
direction in sustainability issues.
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Reporting Scope

The ESG Report focuses on the operation of our core businesses,
i.e. provision of private educational services during the financial year
from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 (“Reporting Year”). The reporting
scope covers the ESG performances of the operation of headquarter
office, education centres and professional dancing colleges in Hong
Kong.

Reporting Standard

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”)
as contained in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The four
reporting principles, namely the principles of materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, form the backbone of this ESG Report.

To ensure the accuracy of environmental KPls, the Group’s
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from its operations were
quantified through carbon assessment conducted by an independent
professional consultancy, Carbon Care Asia. A complete index is
inserted in the last section of this ESG Report for reference.

Confirmation and Approval

The Group establishes internal controls and a formal review process
to ensure that any information presented in this ESG Report is as
accurate and reliable as possible. The board of directors (“Board”)
of the Company has overall responsibility for the establishment and

disclosure of relevant measures and KPIs.

Feedback Mechanism

Comments and suggestions of stakeholders can help the Group
establish a more detailed and sound sustainability strategy. Any
question or suggestion regarding the content or format of the ESG
Report can be sent in writing to the company secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”) at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Rooms 1006-7, 10/F., China United Centre, 28 Marble
Road, North Point, Hong Kong.
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MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD

Social mobility is an important indicator of a society’s sustainability
performance and education is a path to upward mobility. We focus
on providing quality educational services and thereby contribute
to a better future generation. This ESG Report summarises our
sustainability efforts and strategies, as part of an ongoing and

transparent dialogue between the Group and all stakeholders.

The Board of Hong Kong Education is cognizant of its duty in
overseeing the sustainability policies and actions within the Group.
With a view to enhancing its sustainability governance, a sustainability
governance structure led by the Group’s management will be formally
established. This will help us to implement our environmental and
social actions and achieve our goals more effectively.

Stakeholders’ expectation drives us to improve our sustainability
performance. By listening to their opinion, we can make better
informed decisions in allocating our resources to achieve social and
environmental goals. Through a stakeholder engagement exercise,
we identified use of resources, product responsibility and community
investment to be our material sustainability issues as they are the

most relevant to our stakeholders and our business.

To enhance monitoring of the risks and opportunities brought by
issues related to sustainability, the Board regularly reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. An independent consultant was also engaged to perform a
review so that the Board and the management can make preparation
for challenges ahead.

This ESG Report serves as a channel of communication between the
Group and all stakeholders. As the Group strives to provide quality
services to our customers and achieve sustainability targets, we
would love to receive the feedback of stakeholders so that we can

benefit from collective wisdom and contribute further to society.
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ESG GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance. The Board believes that principles and
practices of good corporate governance are essential to the success
of the Group and the enhancement of stakeholder value. The Board
has the overall responsibility for the oversight of the Group’s policies,

initiatives and performance on sustainability matters.

The Group plans to improve the sustainability structure in the future
to ensure that sustainability measures can be effectively conducted
and implemented. The sustainability structure will be responsible
for developing and refining sustainability strategies and policies that
apply to the entire group, principally in respect of environmental
protection, employment, operational responsibility and community
investment.

ESG Risk Management System

The Company considers risk management as an integral part of daily
management processes and good corporate governance. The risk
management activities are performed by management of the Group
in an ongoing process. The risk management and internal control
systems are evaluated at least annually. The Group established the
audit committee to assist the Board by providing independent review
of the internal control and risk management systems of the Group.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R HE8RERRSE

BER HERERRA
ARBBAORERSKTINEEE R -EFSHE
RIFNEEERRAREREAREERI KT
FhEBEMEEZEREE -BEXE2HAEEREN
SEAMAFEEREFENRR HEhERR -

AEEFINARAREEAFEERRE - ARG
WERFERIATAFERRER AIRHEERR
BRAEFERTHERNBASE (EEFHRRK
BR 2EEELHERIRETE) O FHEERERRE
KRR °

BRI HERERRBREESE

ARARAE BREESAEEEBRERRIFLGE
ERTAIKRH—F D AEBEREREETE
SERERY BEREERANPELHEZTLEFF
=R - AEERZUEREZEG BABUYEEARE
BEABEERRABRERSE  UHHESSHETH
B AE -

Annual Report 2019 &k 61



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE - HERERHE

The principal risks are identified below:

Risks
R\ B%

TERRIOT

The Group’s response measures

FERMAE 155

Talent search
Tutors are hired on service contracts to provide teaching
services. Uncertainty regarding contract renewal may affect the

stability of teaching team.

The business may be affected if the Group is unable to recruit

or retain experienced tutors.

AtEs
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Infringement risk

Violation of laws and regulations in relation to protection of
infringement risk may expose the Group to litigation risks,
which will adversely affect the financial position as well as the
brand image of the Group.

=48 B B2
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The Group noticed that the current risk assessment and internal
control systems do not cover environmental and social issues
comprehensively. An annual review of industry-relevant ESG risks,

which will enable the formulation of an action plan in a timely

manner, is on its agenda.
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The Group is fostering mutual and effective cooperative
relationship with tutors to ensure long-term collaboration and

high teaching quality.

The Group also attracts and retains talent by providing

competitive package.
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The Group stipulates the instructions for protection of
intellectual property in Staff Handbooks. Employees should
abide by the provisions of the Copyright Ordinance (Chapter
528 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“HK Laws")).
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT BFinE2H

Understanding and meeting the needs of its stakeholders are T EmRHFMNEMNE R  UAQAREAHBERE
important for the Company in advancing the journey of sustainability. ~ HJEIE FEBRNITEHERZ - HHENRERSI X
Feedback collected from stakeholders guides the Group to identify SEBHBAIEEMNRE HEehEARATE  UWAEEE
material ESG issues, as well as to manage the relevant risks and 2 [ B B i3 o

opportunities.

The Group’s stakeholders are those who have a considerable AEBEMNFHNERUAEBEBEEATENAE
influence on its business, and whom its business has a significant BEXKEeHEELTAFZENA L - KEHBIBS
impact on. The Group engages its key stakeholders via multiple TEREREFEBHMHERSHE  NKEERER D
channels to gather their feedback and strive for continuous — S5k -

improvement.
Engagement with Key Stakeholders
FESMHESR
Employees Students Community
Arranging a wide range of initiatives, Conducting satisfaction surveys to Engaging and supporting the community

such as training programmes and team gather opinion from students on through various charitable activities and

building activities. services provided by the Group. volunteering services.
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Identifying Material Issues

To identify sustainability issues that are material to the Company and
its stakeholders, the Group commissioned an independent consultant
to conduct materiality assessment through a management interview.
Combining the results and the consultant’s advice, the Group
selected 3 out of the 11 environmental and social aspects from the
ESG Reporting Guide to be the material issues of the ESG Report,

which determine the direction of the Group’s sustainability strategy.

WA EEEH
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WRE e MhEAMERESIFHIIERE kit
SEMELIEEARE HEMEARENEES
H ZEFEREAEEAFEZRRREOIM

Use of Resources

BIREM EmEME

Product Responsibility

Community Investment

HERE

To gain a broader understanding of the opinion of different internal
and external stakeholders about its performance on environmental
protection and social responsibility, the Group will continuously

explore ways to promote interactive exchange with stakeholders.

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

The Group seeks to improve the environmental performance of its
business operations. Recognising the inevitable challenges of climate
change and scarce resources in today’s global context, the Group
established the Environmental Protection Guideline to incorporate
measures for environmental protection throughout its operations.
The Environmental Protection Guideline provides tips for green office
management with the aim to effectively enhance resource efficiency

and reduce emissions.
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Resource Efficiency ERM=E

A core component of maintaining sustainable development is to AR EEERER @ Tk THRERNER  2A#
effectively manage the use of resources so that the wellbeing of future ~ BEEHZLAEK LD - AEEEBENTEZEERE
generations will not be endangered. The main resources consumed &4 ~ KR AER - REBIBBE I — RFFERRE
by the Group are paper, water and energy. The Group promotes the  FeiEEh S ERER -

efficient use of resources through implementing a series of on-going

environmental initiatives.

Paper Fizd

Highlighted Measures of Paper Management

FTERREERERN

Paperless System Printing

ERIERE $TED

e Adopt electronic communications and filing ° Use both sides of the sheet of paper for photocopying and
KASE B LERE printing

e Use electronic messaging instead of printed leaflets for H R E AR ED K 4T ED
advertising and promotion ° Use print preview function before printing documents to
FREFEEIRIORNEEETESRES avoid mistakes

FEFT EN 34 Bl £ FA 4T EN TR B Th 88 LABT LERR ED

e  Adjust font size and margins to reduce the number of
pages printed
ARFER T REBRITHE S

Paper Consumption (kilogram)

RAE (FRr)

Total 425t
56,415

Water Ik

Highlighted Measures of Water Management

FTERAKERER
Maintenance Control Water Flow
RE EHKEE
° Regularly check taps for leakage and repair when needed ° Control water flow at the tap to avoid overuse
E B EKBEBEIANIRK - RIER ZRETHEE ZEHIKEESRK R 2 LA R B E R

The Group obtains water from municipal authorities and has no AN B /KB T KRS /e - AE B FSKEUE A
difficulty in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. KR 75 T N 4 AT ] (R 2 o
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Emissions and Energy Management EBEEERER
GHG emissions are closely related to climate change. The Group 51? BEEMERESCZIER AEBEER
reduces GHG emissions and other air emissions mainly through  BERENEFREFE LA R = REEHE N b R AEHERT -

adopting energy reduction measures.

Highlighted Measures of Energy Management
TERFEEEN

e Set the air-conditioning temperature at 25.5 degree Celsius
HZERREREERK255E
e Turn off idle electrical appliances during non-working hours
MIETERMARARE B8
e Set the brightness of the display monitor to an appropriate level
HRTRRESEREERBEIKF
e Adjust the computer setting and activate the standby or hibernation mode to let the display monitor automatically switch off
or enter power saving mode when left idle for prolonged periods

HREMRE  BRAGHIERRS  USBETHENERRERZADEMIEAEERA

As a key step to establishing a carbon management strategy, {EAGIEMEERBENEEZ —F  AEERBEF
the Group commissioned Carbon Care Asia to conduct a carbon & N Z& 7K fix 2 M E 7T BT 14 - D/(%ME%%‘%%?:
assessment to quantify the GHG emissions of its operations during ~ HJ )& = R ES BEK - EML?&JHETF%/’% IRIBIRE

the Reporting Year. The process of quantification was conducted — R#E TREBRBAIES| 1T -

in accordance with the Guidelines' compiled by the Environmental

Protection Department and Electrical and Mechanical Services

Department of Hong Kong.

Scope GHG Emissions (tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent)
&HE BEREER(CECHEEEM)
Scope 1: Direct GHG Emissions? 0.00
HEL: BEREREHR?
Scope 2: Energy Indirect GHG Emissions? 535.80
#HE2 - peREEAEREBHMC
Scope 3: Other Indirect GHG Emissions* 355.30
#HE3 - HibEE R ERE MR
Total GHG emissions 891.10
AERBENEE
Type Energy Total Energy Consumption (MWh)
mE BEiR RERHEHRE (MWh)
Indirect Energy Electricity 1,000
RN ES
1 Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions ! EEEEY (BE FTEH2LAR)WBEEREK
and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional FORBR M i B AR 5 5l
Purposes) in Hong Kong
2 Included emissions from stationary sources and mobile sources 2 BLE E FE TR 58 I B IR BE B A e HE IR
3 Included emissions from purchased electricity consumption 3 BREBES NHEREEENEEN

4 Included emissions from paper waste disposal and freshwater and 4 B FE 4R B 3R DA B2 K B35 7K B 3 7 AR M9 BE AR
sewage processing
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Waste Management

The Group established the Environmental Protection Guideline
to guide its employees to reduce waste appropriately. The Group
encourages employees to avoid using disposables by bringing their
own tableware. Hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste are
handled and collected by waste collectors regularly, while domestic
wastewater is discharged directly through local pipe network to a

local sewage treatment plant.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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BRWERE

AEEGIERIRREES I BREBEERIEREY -
AEEGBREBEEFER BRER—REARS -
BEOBREHEBEETHREREEAEERYNES
BEEY - £EAKABEAMEEEBEEEEMA
AN #9357 BR B R

Type of Waste Total Waste Disposal (tonnes)
EEhER EEDERESE (W)
Hazardous Waste 0.20
BEEEYD
Non-hazardous Waste 5.60
BmEREREY
The Environment and Natural Resources EEREAAEE

Beyond use of resources, emissions and waste, the nature of our
businesses does not have a direct impact on the environment
and natural resources. Nonetheless, the Group adheres strictly to
environmental laws and regulations in its daily operations.

The Group abides by the laws and regulations in relation to
emissions, including but not limited to the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the HK Laws), the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the HK Laws) and the Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the HK Laws) of Hong Kong. In the
Reporting Year, no cases of non-compliance or complaints in relation
to environmental laws and regulations were reported.
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EFFECTIVENESS IN THE OPERATIONS

The Group treats every student, supplier and business partner with
integrity, respect and accountability. The Group has formulated
a series of policies relating to campus safety, service quality
management, supply chain management, business and ethics to
ensure that its operations fulfil the expectations of internal and
external stakeholders.

Campus Safety

The Group attaches great importance to campus security
management. Floor plans are put up at conspicuous places in the
education centres to indicate the fire escape routes, alarms bells
and exit signs in case of emergency. The Group also organises safety
training to strengthen safety awareness of employees.

Service Quality Management
Quality of teaching is our central concern. The Group is devoted to
continuously enhancing the quality of educational services provided,

so as to help every student to maximise their potential.

Student Satisfaction and Feedback

The Group regards student satisfaction as the key factor of service
quality. To ensure that students’ concerns are quickly addressed, the
Group establishes the Complaint Handling Process and reviews their

feedback regularly to fulfil their expectation.

Modern Education conducts surveys to gather students’ opinion
on lesson arrangement, which focuses on the quality of lessons,
arrangement and location of education centres. Modern Bachelor
Education carries out an annual assessment to select the top
10 teachers and top 5 education centres with cash prizes as

encouragement.

During the Reporting Year, the Group received 82 complaints,
which were mainly related to refund, lesson arrangement and
dance costume design. Investigations and appropriate follow-up
actions were immediately carried out. All issues were resolved to
the students’ satisfaction. Recommendations to prevent future
complaints were developed, such as providing training to relevant

staff to ensure that the problem does not re-occur.

BEENM

AEBEAHRE EHLBETHREHFELSL
HEBLREGEH AKEEHNE - RINBHERE
ZE REEEEE HEREE XHERERITE
MR AERERZET AN N ENRE -

REZZ
AEEGEERREZE2ERE HMAEHET LR

RUEBRUEEFEE SRHOBESBERTH
KERERERLR EERHAER ARETRHELE
Bl mREEMNTEEE -

REEREE
HELEERUMBEINES AEER NN TEIZ
NHERBEE  EPRBERHBIFERE -

BLEREERRE

AEERBERBERIEFRBERNEZRNER - B
RELNHEBEANGIZRER  NEERBIRF
BRIZBRIZN FE R BENRE AR B ENHE -

RRAEMSLRITRS  DREB AN RERY
MBS REEREEE  ZHRREFOOME -
RRNBL ST - TR B 105 KA
REAESMAE R - WEHIES (F 5 R -

RBEFERN - RNEBWED2FIZH - TES RN -
RIZR PR M SERRERET » Bt - BAIZBIREGAE
MEENRER - IARBESFRERR  SBER
B o BB HZREAD IE RRHIRET - flREEE S
TREEI - BRFAEHENSHREE -

68 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &HE#% A (BFR) REEBBRLF



Responsible Marketing Communications

The Group provides clear and reliable information regarding its
services. The Group establishes the Trade Descriptions Ordinance
Policy to prohibit unfair trade practices. All promotional materials,
including advertisements, leaflets, online promotional images and
videos must not contain any exaggerated or false claims. Manuscript
of promotional materials should be reviewed and approved by the
head of Marketing Department and management of respective
business units before distribution or publication.

The Group abides by regulatory requirements of the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the HK Laws). During the
Reporting Year, no cases of non-compliance in relation to advertising
and labelling were reported.

Protection of Privacy

Having a large student base, the Group has an indispensable
responsibility in data protection. The Group stipulates its requirement
on protecting confidential information in its Staff Handbooks. Internal
documents must not be taken away and disclosed to third parties
without management approval.

The Group abides by the laws and regulations in relation to customer
data protection and privacy, including but not limited to the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the HK Laws) of Hong
Kong. During the Year, no cases of non-compliance in relation to
customer data protection and privacy were reported.
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Business Ethics

Protection of Intellectual Property

The Group specifies the instructions for protecting intellectual
property in Staff Handbooks. Employees should not infringe or
violate any patents, trademarks, copyrights or intellectual property
rights of any third parties. Employees must abide by the provisions
of the Copyright Ordinance. If they wish to download or use software
other than those required by the Group, they should provide
sufficient reasons and seek approval from the department head and

management.

The Group abides by the laws and regulations in relation to
intellectual property, including but not limited to the Copyright
Ordinance. During the Reporting Year, no cases of non-compliance
or complaints in relation to intellectual property rights were reported.

Anti-corruption

The Group is aware of the impact of its activities and its relationships
with other members in the community. Upholding integrity is key for
the Group in producing positive influence and promoting fair and
sustainable development of the society. The Group does not tolerate

bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

The Group established the Employee Code for Securities Transactions
to strictly prohibit employees from disclosing confidential or insider
information to anyone outside the Group to obtain benefits. As stated
in its Staff Handbooks, all employees are prohibited from soliciting or

receiving any forms of advantage from any business associate.

Employees are required to complete the Declaration and Disclosure
of Interests Form to disclose any matter that raises a conflict with
their duties and particulars of any pecuniary or other personal
interest that they have.

The Group abides by the relevant laws and regulations in relation
to corruption, including but not limited to the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the HK Laws). During the Reporting Year,
no cases of non-compliance or legal cases in relation to corruption
were reported.
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Supply Chain Management

The business nature of the Group is provision of educational services.
Its major suppliers include providers of printing, stationery and
uniform. The Group is dedicated to working with and procuring from
reputable and ethical suppliers. To further integrate this vision into
the procurement practices, it is on the Group’s agenda to establish
policies to set out requirements on supplier selection and ongoing

evaluation.

CARE FOR EMPLOYEES

As a caring and responsible employer, the Group is committed
to promoting a harmonious and engaging workplace, providing a
healthy and safe work environment, and supporting its employees’
development.

Employment System

The Group communicates its employment practices through the Staff
Handbooks which cover the key areas, including but not limited to
compensation and dismissal, promotion, working hours, rest periods,
other benefits and welfare. The Group’s rewards and compensation
policies are fairly based on employees’ performance and ability, while

the remuneration packages are reviewed annually.

The Group embraces the principle of equal opportunity and
anti-discrimination. Employees should not be treated differently due
to factors such as gender, disability, pregnancy, family status, race,
religion, age, sexual orientation, nationality in hiring, compensation,
benefits, work arrangements and promotion. Employees who
encounter or witness any conduct of sexual harassment can report
directly to the Human Resources and Administration Department or

the Company Secretary for investigation.

The Company formulated the Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the approach to diversity of the Board. The Group understands that
employment diversity can bring broader development opportunities
to the Group. The Group will review the current policy and improve
employment guidelines and measures in relation to diversity from

time to time.
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To enhance employees’ sense of belonging and improve their health
and well-being, the Group organised annual picnic and barbecue
party along with other team building activities.

The Group abides by the relevant employment laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57
of the HK Laws), the Employee Compensation Ordinance (Chapter
282 of the HK Laws) and the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter
480 of the HK Laws). During the Reporting Year, no cases of

non-compliance cases relating to employment were reported.

Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour violate fundamental human rights and
threaten sustainable social and economic development of the world.
The Group prohibits any form of child labour or forced labour in its

operations.

The Group verifies the age of job applicants by checking their identity
documents during the recruitment process. The Group stipulates in
the Staff Handbooks the arrangements of working hours and overtime
work, in compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Employees
can give notice to the Group to terminate the employment contract

voluntarily.

The Group abides by the relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Employment Ordinance. During the Reporting
Year, no cases of non-compliance relating to child labour and forced

labour were reported.

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group is committed to creating a healthy and safe work
environment for each employee. While the Group has not identified
positions with high risks of occupational hazards due to its business
nature, the Group nevertheless provides health and safety guidelines
to its employees in Staff Handbooks.
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The Group regularly circulates office health tips and encourages AEETEHEHGRAZREIS LT TEHBEEZ M
employees to exercise. Safety notices are also placed at conspicuous  E&) - AETBER R B L2 BE  REEEEEE
places to remind employees to beware of potential safety hazards, FERNZZ2REE @ flUEZERERRIEEHATE -

such as slippery floor and improper use of electrical equipment.

The Group abides by the relevant laws and regulations, such as the — ZAN&BEE SFAHERER - MI0E B %55 500 = B
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the HK ¥ %% RI@FEEH - R|EFERN - SHEK D AERE
Laws). During the Reporting Year, no cases of non-compliance in  ERZZ2HTABREARNRE -

relation to health and safety were reported.

Training and Development ZIRER

Based on the operational needs and aspirations of the employees, AEBREBEEENIEFZSERERATHETNER
the Group organises learning and development programmes to  #F&] - LUBEHE BBRE - S8 H R 8 TF MW -
unleash their potential. The training plans are described in the Staff

Handbooks.

Employees are encouraged to participate in training and development 7~ £ [ 38 38 B B 48 BE &2 & Bh 8L B (& 8 2 s 31| &z 3%
programmes through financial subsidies and sponsorship. RERE -&EEEME EENMASRIRAKE 2%
Employees can also sit in on classes held by Modern Education with ~ #RE - BR/NE+FAeREERHEREIIN
management approval. Modern Bachelor Education provides monthly €% - LAIR FHE B BB ¥ £ hs -

on-the-job training and meetings to employees to enhance their job

skills.

Learning from “HICHKI”
B E B (FEA B R Miss)

Modern Bachelor Education organised a film screening “HICHKI” in November 2018. The film is about how a teacher with speech
disability struggles to get a teaching position. Free film tickets were distributed to teachers and centre managers. The Group hopes

that they can be inspired by the film.
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SUPPORTING THE COMMUNITY

As a caring enterprise, the Company is keen on fulfilling the
expectations of various stakeholders and the communities in which
it operates. With a particular focus on welfare, education, recreation
and healthcare, the Group strives to support local charitable
organisations and engage in community services through contribution
of a total of HK$31,950 on supporting the local charities during the
Reporting Year.
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Care for the Community

W& it &

The Company joined a mooncake workshop in September 2018. The volunteer team had a great time and raised over HK$21,000
of sponsorship for the benefit of the Association for the Rights of Industrial Accident Victims for the Injured Workers and Family
Members of Deceased Workers. The mooncakes were sent to members of the association for a shower of festive blessings for the

Mid-Autumn Festival.
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The Group also cooperates with non-profit organisations to provide
academic or tutorial courses to students in need with special
discount. As a result of its continuing efforts, the Group is delighted
to be awarded the “5 Years Plus Caring Company Logo” from the
Hong Kong Council of Social Service for the seventh consecutive
year, recognising its commitment to corporate social responsibility

and performance in community services.

In the future, the Group will continue to understand the needs of the
community where it operates, formulate policies and plans related to
community investment, and bring about more positive impact to the

community.
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SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Environmental Performance

Types of emissions and emissions data

Nitrogen oxides (kg)
Sulphur oxides (kg)
Respirable suspended particulates (kg)
Total greenhouse gas emissions
Scope 1: Direct emissions (tonnes of CO,-e)
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions
(tonnes of CO,-e)

Scope 3: Other indirect emissions
(tonnes of CO.-€)

Greenhouse gas emissions in total
(tonnes of CO,-€)

Greenhouse gas intensity
(tonnes of CO,-e/1,000 square feet)

Total hazardous waste produced
Total hazardous waste (kg)

Hazardous waste intensity
(kg/1,000 square feet)

Total non-hazardous waste produced
Total non-hazardous waste (tonnes)
Non-hazardous waste intensity

(tonnes/1,000 square feet)

Direct and/or indirect energy
consumption by type
Electricity (MWh)

Total energy consumption (MWh)
Energy intensity (MWh/1,000 square feet)

Total water consumption
Total water consumption (cubic metre)
Water intensity (cubic metre/1,000 square feet)
Total packaging material used for
finished products
Total packaging material used (tonnes)
Packaging material used per thousand tonnes of
product

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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(ZE S EWE)
BERE A
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NolC SR =
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(ZE i g =M, 1,000 F 75 HR)
FELBEREVHEE
BEEREENEE (TR)
BEBEENTE
(F52,/1,000F 5 ER)
RELBRERENRE
BEBEZEWEE (W)
BEEEENTE
(W, 1,000 ER)
BENBSMERR W
HiEgFREE
B OKEE)
gRaESE OLRE)
ERERERE
(kLB ,/1,000F 7 #IR)
HEKE
BREKE (FAK)
FKEE (7K, 1,000 7 HR)
B RmAaREE
HEE
FrABEMREE ()
BTHERMABENH

RiR  HEREBRE

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
535.80
355.30
891.10
9.32
223.00
2.33
5.60
0.06
999.20
999.20
10.45
409.00

10.35

No applicable; the Group’s
operations did not

involve use of packaging
materials.
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Number of employees (by gender and employment type)
BEEAB(RHENRERERES)
Total
employees
Gender Employment Type by gender Gender ratio Total
=B85
3] ERER ER#EH : 311420 @5t
Full-time Part-time
2 E ]
Male B 53 13 66 1:2.3 216
Female 7 120 30 150
Number of employees (by gender and age)
BEREAB(RENRFERES)
Age group
FicH
Gender Below 18 18-29 30-39 40-49 50 or above
30 18T 18E 291K 30E391, 40 E4198% 5088 Ll E
Male B 0 32 24 7 3
Female 2 0 70 47 16 17
Number of employees trained (by grade)
ZEAIER A (RBR)
Non-
Director Managerial managerial
Gender grade grade grade Total
R EER EHR FEEER @t
B8 |/
Male >3 ‘E 1 (33%) 2 (22%) 19 (35%) 61 (28%)
Female 7 0 (0%) 9 (43%) 30 (23%)
Average training hours (by grade)
I3 1 B A B (FRER AR )
Non-
Director Managerial managerial
Gender grade grade grade Total
R EER EHR FEEER @t
Male B 5.0 5.0 1.5 53
Female g3 0.0 15.0 5.5 '
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Material Aspect
EEEm

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R HE8RERRSE

Content

AR

BE HERELSHEESIABTRSI

Page Index/Remarks
HREE| &

A. Environmental
ABE

Al Emissions
A1BEHH
General Disclosure
—MREE

Al.l

Al.2

Al3

Al4

Al.5

Al.6

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRERRERBYR MKk EE5 AEREEEEYNEESH

(@) BUR: &

(b) BFHBITABERTENHBEZRRAOINES -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BRI E 2R AR R BE PR -

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.

per unit of production volume, per facility).

BERBAHNE G E) R nEm) BE (ML SEEER - SERIE
HE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

EXAAEEEYWEAE NS R (WER) BE (MASGEEEN - 817
Rt HE) ©

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
EAEEZEZEYWEE S R (WER) BE (WMASGEEEN - 817
RIiEETHE) ©

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved.

e UORRHE I E RO b S P AS BCR ©

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.

WHRIEEERBTEZYNIE  REELENEENAIFER -

64-67

75

66, 75

67,75

67,75

64-67

67
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Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks
EEEG AE HERFES| W
A2 Use of Resources

A2RiR{ER

General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw 64-67

— B H R materials.

ERERER(BEEIR  KREAMERME) BB -

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in 66, 75
total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
REAESMERE R SMEER(NE - fskh) BFE UATETRRTE)
REE(MAEBESEN - BERBAE) °

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per 75
facility).

BRKEREE(WMABESEMN - §ARBH) o

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. 66-67
e it 2R 0 FA R e At & PTG AR o

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, 65
water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

o SKEUE AR LRl B EMMRE - AREARKEGETERAERRER -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, 75
with reference to per unit produced.

X mPTABEMHNESE (UEHE) R (NER) BEEERMEE -

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

AMBRERXRER

General Disclosure  Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and 67

— MR natural resources.

WIRZEITABRERRARERERKERZERNBUR -
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural 67

resources and the actions taken to manage them.

W RGASHRERRAERNEAZERCENEERBTENT -
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Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks
EEEG AE HERFES| W
B. Social
B.iit &
B1 Employment
B1{E &
General Disclosure  Information on: 71-72
— I EE (a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
LR E BEIEA IERE REA TERS  Zalk RE
A5 LA B B A 55 58 K A8 A A9
(@) BE: Rk
(b) BIFHBBTABEARZENHBEZLROINER -
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region. 76
RIER - EEEE - FRARNRKMES D HIESHEE -
B2 Health and Safety
B2@REEZZ
General Disclosure  Information on: 72-73
— R E (a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
FRARBRZE2TIFRERREREREBEEREN
(@) % : &
(b)) EFHETATEARZENHEBEZERRRONNER
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are 72-73

implemented and monitored.
M PTER M B R R L 2 - A RBEMITRERGE -
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RIR - HERER

B

Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks
EEEG AE HERFES| W
B3 Development and Training
B3 & & K %l
General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at 73
— M= work. Description of training activities.
FRARAEEBITIEBE N ANB R REEBER - il FES -
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. 76
senior management, middle management).
RUERNREEEMN(NERERE FREEES) EHASNZIIEEB DL
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 76
category.
RUEFINEEERNED  BREETHRII TR -
B4 Labour Standards
B4% T #H|
General Disclosure  Information on: 72
— M= (a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BRAB IE Teisa % T
(@) % : &
(b)) EFHBETABERZENHBEZERRRONNER
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced 72
labour.
R B EOEEAERET REHST -
B5 Supply Chain Management
B5 it fESEE B
General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 71
—MR IR EE EEHEENIRE G RBRIBE -
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Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks
EEEG AE HERFES| W
B6 Product Responsibility
B6EMEE
General Disclosure  Information on: 68-70
—R I EE (a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
BHREERMNRBNRESRLZS  EE SRMLEBEEASLERTTED :
(@) BE: Rk
(b) BIFHBBTABEARTZENHBEZLROINEF -
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are 68
dealt with.
EEBNERRRBHRFEE AREBE X -
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property 70
rights.
fet B E RN BEREE ANER -
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 69
HiBE EWTEBRERERBYIRF
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 69

implemented and monitored.

B EEEMRERLERBE  UREBRTRERTE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERER

B

Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks
EEEG AE HERFES| W
B7 Anticorruption

B7TRES

General Disclosure  Information on: 70

— I EE (a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact

on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BRADTILRRRS - MR - BGFROERER ¢
(@) % &
(b) BFHBITABERZENHBEZERROINER -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the 70
issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERAAEZTASHESREYEEENETHRARMREHE RFDRER

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are 70
implemented and monitored.

P e e R BB RAR T - ARMABRITRER L o

B8 Community Investment

Bt &% &

General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities 74

— MR where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

BRAMME2ERTREEMEHEFTENBREAEB EHSEELEN R
IR ©

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 74

needs, health, culture, sport).
ETEREE(NHE RBEFH - SIFR BE- -t 8BE) -
B&.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 74
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

HONG KONG EDUCATION (INT’L) INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Education (Int’l) Investments Limited (“Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Group”) set out on pages
94 to 243, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBENERE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

1. Valuation of financial instruments classified as Level 3 under
fair value hierarchy
Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting estimates
and judgements and refer to Notes 20 and 26 to the
consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures
of financial instruments recognised by the Group as at
30 June 2019. Further details of the valuation technique(s)
and unobservable input(s) of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy are disclosed in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

1.

Valuation of financial instruments classified as Level 3 under
fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The key audit matter
AREXER

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss amounting to approximately
HK$15,422,000 and HK$39,605,000 respectively, in aggregate
representing 25.22% of the net assets of the Group as at
30 June 2019. In which listed equity securities of approximately
HK$31,808,000 included in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss were suspended shares which represented
14.58% of the net assets of the Group as at 30 June 2019. The
remaining HK$23,219,000 are unlisted investments held by
the Group as at 30 June 2019. These financial instruments are
valued with inputs that were not based on available observable
market data and were classified as Level 3 fair value financial
instruments as at 30 June 2019.

The Group considered the aggregate amount of Level 3 financial
instruments is material to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group as at 30 June 2019.

20196 A30R - E%RE%E 5 54 15,422,000 7T K&
39,605,000/ TR A FEFARMEm MmN EREE R
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TE23219,000/8 LR BEEEN2019F6 A30BEFHFAEH
FLETERE ZFSRMTADNRYIFERAIESH A BRE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BENER S

REBEXEH )
. PERAVEBRZE=RZEMIAZ
18 ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EFRERPNAREER

Our audit procedures included:

e evaluating the independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external valuation

experts engaged by management;

e assessing and evaluating the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by the independent
external valuers in estimating the fair value and
key assumptions used by management in different
valuation models by reviewing the contract terms
and the relevant market conditions and businesses

of each Level 3 financial instrument;

° reviewing the contractual agreements, relevant
legal document and the calculation made by
management and obtaining the investment
confirmation to verify the existence and accuracy of
the Group’s ownership and/or number of shares in
each Level 3 financial instrument; and

==
=
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B MR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) RBERFERE)

1. Valuation of financial instruments classified as Level 3 under 1. 27EBLATEEHzZEF=fzemIAZ
fair value hierarchy (Continued) fh{E (&)
The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
REERFER EERERPUNMNEERR

In light of the unquoted and illiquid nature of these Level 3 e  evaluating the appropriateness and adequacy of

financial instruments, the assessment of fair value was highly the disclosures of the valuation of the financial
subjective and required a number of significant estimates and instruments in the consolidated financial
critical judgements to be made by management. The fair value statements.

of each of these unlisted investments and those suspended
shares were based on the best available information to
management and do not necessarily represent amounts which
might ultimately be realised. The fair value of these Level 3
financial instruments were subject to change depending on
future circumstances and cannot be accurately determined until
each of them is disposed.

There is a risk that inaccurate judgements made in the
assumptions and the key inputs of the valuation models could
lead to an inaccurate valuation of the unlisted investments
and those suspended shares. In turn, the amounts at which
these financial instruments were carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position, the net changes in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income could be materially misstated.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2,

Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables, other
loan receivable and loan receivables

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting estimates
and judgements and refer to Notes 22 to 24 to the consolidated
financial statements for detailed disclosures of trade and
other receivables, other loan receivable and loan receivables
recognised by the Group as at 30 June 2019.

The key audit matter
AREXER

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s trade and other receivables,
other loan receivable and loan receivables amounted to
approximately HK$25,908,000, HK$43,000,000 and
HK$40,900,000 respectively.

In determining whether there is objective evidence of
impairment loss over these receivables and consider whether
the impairment provision for trade and other receivables,
other loan receivable and loan receivables is adequate require
management judgement.

201946 B30H - E%5EUAE 5 54 25,908,000% 7T »
43,000,0007% 7T & 40,900,000 7 JT 69 & 5 K H b & W 5K 8 -
RN E A &SR EUE K -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EFRERPNAERESER
Our audit procedures included:

e understanding, evaluating and validating the
key controls over impairment assessment of
the receivables, which relates to management’s
identification of events that triggered the provision
for impairment/expected credit losses of the
receivables and estimation of the amount of these
provisions;

e carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to test
the accuracy of the aging of the receivables as at
the end of the reporting period;

e evaluating the management’s process for
reviewing the collectability of the receivables by
reference to the credit quality, likelihood of their
collection and the past settlement history and
records;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBENERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2,

Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables, other
loan receivahle and loan receivables (Continued)

The key audit matter
REERER

In determining the impairment provision/expected credit losses
of trade and other receivables, other loan receivable and loan
receivables, the recoverability of these receivables was assessed
by the management taking into account the credit quality and
likelihood of their collection.

REEE 5 & HEMEYRGIR - BIYEHE bS5 ERE R
HERE  FREEBER EREBELERMATGZSE
Wk TR E AT M B (5 BB R A R U ) AT RE1E

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting estimates
and judgements and refer to Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements for detailed disclosures of goodwill
recognised by the Group as at 30 June 2019.

MEBEREER ()
2. BEEREMERRE BRHEBERRER
BERRER ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ESRERPNMAREER

e tracing a sample of the actual cash settlements
during the year to bank receipts; and

e tracing a sample of the post year end subsequent
settlements to bank receipts.

s WRERTHEBBEEMFANERRSEE:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

3.

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

The key audit matter
REERER

As at 30 June 2019, the net carrying amount of approximately
HK$23,783,000 of the Group’s goodwill was mainly allocated
to a cash-generating unit, namely, the provision of private
educational services in Hong Kong, which the activity arose
from the acquisition of Wind Fly Dragon Int'l Limited (“Wind

Fly”).

The assessment of the recoverability of goodwill is based
on the future business prospects and the forecast business
performance of the business.

There is inherent uncertainty involved in forecasting and
discounting future cash flows, which are the basis of the
assessment of recoverability of goodwill and, accordingly, this
is one of the key judgemental areas upon which our audit
focused on. There is a risk that the key assumptions, estimates
and judgements on which the calculations are based are
inappropriate and that goodwill is misstated as a consequence.

201946 A30H - SE5EMEMNREFEL 23,783,000
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERERPUMERER
Our audit procedures included:

e evaluating the independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external valuation
expert engaged by management;

e evaluating the valuation methodologies and
assumptions including comparing source and
market data used in the underlying assumptions
for the valuation of Wind Fly with reference to
comparable companies;

e assessing the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used for calculating the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit as adopted
by management for the goodwill impairment
assessment; and

e evaluating the appropriateness of the relevant
disclosures in respect of the impairment
assessment of goodwill in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBENERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon (“other

information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we will not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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B ZBENERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 September 2019

Tong Wai Hang
Practising Certificate Number P06231

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BENER S
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEmRkHMEEWRER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 # Z201946 A308 ILFE

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 F#&IT FET
Revenue WA
— Provision of private educational services ~ — R AL A B R 104,934 104,994
— Interest income from money lending —EFHRLEA 4,006 3,463
— Rental income from property —MEKREZHS KA
investments - 570
7 108,940 109,027
Other income, gains and losses Ea A - Wz & EiE 8 405 55,885
Staff costs 8 TR 10 (51,286) (41,140)
Tutor contractor fee EEARE (22,337) (27,708)
Operating lease payments LETHE (42,004) (33,624)
Marketing expenses TG HEERZ (5,266) (11,708)
Printing costs EN R & A (367) (294)
Depreciation and amortisation e R (10,202) (8,793)
Change in fair value of financial assets at A FEFABEZNEMEE
fair value through profit or loss AT EEE (19,826) 31,521
Impairment loss on available-for-sale ISR ENREEE
investments - (23,771)
Other operating expenses HEEeMx (34,341) (38,710)
Finance costs %2 A 9 (40) (3,415)
Share of results of joint ventures JEIEEERNRI¥E 19 (571) (16)
Share of results of an associate A i SR/NET 18 - (16,924)
Loss before tax BT A E 18 10 (76,895) (9,670)
Income tax credit TSk 12 65 1,438
Loss for the year FEBE (76,830) (8,232)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBRERkHEMEZERER
For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z=2019F6 A30H L F/E

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 F#EiT FET
Other comprehensive income (expense), Hfh2EI S (%) » Mk
net of income tax e
Items that will not be reclassified to FTEEHREERZL
profit or loss: HE -
Fair value changes on movements BAVEFAREMEE
in equity instruments at fair value WA T EES)
through other comprehensive LA EE
income 6,816 -
Items that may be reclassified HEAJgEEH P FERR
subsequently to profit or loss: BHEE -
Exchange differences arising on BEBIMEE X EE
translating foreign operations HIFE X Z 58 (85) 54
Reclassification adjustment on B R R B O Y
exchange differences released fEH ZREHNHE
upon disposal of associates FE - (1,037)
Fair value changes on revaluation of EMATHIEERERN
available-for-sale investments NTEESZ - (2,717)
Reclassification adjustment upon HERHIEERERH
disposal of available-for-sale B EAE
investments - (2,168)
Reclassification adjustment upon Al HE IR ERERT
impairment of available-for-sale EFOERAE
investments - (7,884)
Share of other comprehensive B —EEE R a
expense of an associate HEfb2mEAY - (12,978)
Reclassification adjustment on B — R D R A
investment revaluation reserve KR E B HERER
released upon disposal of an DR
associate - 9,470
(85) (17,260)
Other comprehensive income (expense)  FEEM 2wz (FX)
for the year, net of income tax R TSR 6,731 (17,260)
Total comprehensive expense for the year EE 2 B EH (70,099) (25,492)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FeEEREMEEKER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 # Z201946 A308 ILFE

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
g3 F#EIT FET
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: LA AT EIRFEE (B18) &5
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ ¥ =N (77,438) (8,246)
Non-controlling interests FEIE i = 608 14
(76,830) (8,232)
Total comprehensive (expense) income MU TFA+TEEEE2E (BX)
for the year attributable to: Wiz 4858
Owners of the Company RARER A (70,707) (25,506)
Non-controlling interests VR 608 14
(70,099) (25,492)
Loss per share BEREE 13
— Basic (HK$) —®EAKGET) (0.14) (0.02)
— Diluted (HK$) —#58 CEor) (0.14) (0.02)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

At 30 June 2019 201956 A30H

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
et F#ETT FHET
(Note)
(H1eE)
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BERZE 15 16,829 25,464
Goodwill EES 16 23,843 25,508
Other intangible assets HihmpEE 17 297 495
Interest in an associate R—EE R ER 18 = -
Interest in a joint venture R—EEERRINERE 19 4,851 6,422
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 20 - 25,295
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAREMEE NS
other comprehensive income MESREE 20 15,422 -
Non-current deposits FEREBIEE 21 9,260 7,954
70,502 91,138
Current assets mBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E e W ERIA 22 25,908 27,197
Other loan receivable/promissory note H A U E TR, FE W& K,
receivable =5 23 43,000 48,000
Loan receivables U E R 24 40,900 31,760
Current tax assets BNEARI IR & e 72 -
Amount due from an associate JE U — a1 Bt & A B FR0R 25 780 612
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEBEN S
profit or loss BE 26 65,984 74,646
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR RIS 27 6,839 42,709
183,483 224924
Current liabilities mBAR
Contract liabilities EHaE 29 10,336 -
Other payables and accruals B EM BN EETE A 28 15,606 9,638
Deferred income PEIEUR A 29 = 10,851
Current tax liabilities BNEARIIE B & 74 13
Amounts due to related parties JFE 1<t B B 5 7R 30 5,868 5,868
Other borrowing EMER 31 3,001 -
34,885 26,370
Net current assets mEBEESRE 148,598 198,554
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTHER 219,100 289,692
Non-current liabilities ERBIRE
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEEE 32 137 169
Provision for long service payments REBRTS BB 33 806 1,267
943 1,436
Net assets HERE 218,157 288,256
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEMBMRRE
At 30 June 2019 7201946 A30H

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt F#ETT FET
(Note)
(H1at)
Capital and reserves BER G

Share capital e 34 27,379 27,379
Reserves 1 190,680 261,387

Equity attributable to owners of KNARHE ANEGER
the Company 218,059 288,766
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR 98 (510)
Total equity BaWE 218,157 288,256

The consolidated financial statements on pages 94 to 243 were #H N B4 E 243 B MG A M EREX D L 20194
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 9 26 BEE Ee# /& RIEETFIZ - WH T AR

26 September 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: E=H=E
Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey Tsang Ka Wai
HEE BXRE
Director Director
o EFE
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 July 2018. M7 - REER 201847 A 1 H &R ER & H M 15 E 42
Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not FEISEEBEBEMBREENEIR - REMENB
restated (See Note 2). B HBRERTTEY (AME2) -

|
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z201946 A30H I-F/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

LONGE 2N 4
Investment Attributable
revaluation Share fonon-
Share Share Contributed Merger Capital TEServe options ~ Translafion ~ Accumulated controling
capital premium surplus TEServe resene  (recycling) TEServe Teserve losses Subtotal nterests Total
Btk i
BE ROREE  ESREH  ABER  BRAER  (TER) BREEE EXBR  2HEB N BREE a3t
HSO00  HKSOO0  HKSOOD HKSOOD HKSOOD  HKSOOD HKSOOD HKSOOD  HKSOOD HKSOOD  HKSOOD HKSODD
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT AT FET AT AT FET
(Note ) (Note i) (Note i)
sk) o) (W)
ALy 207 RATETR1E 2 MBS B BRI M6 LW 13 POG0E) 3 N IR
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - - - (8,246) (8,246) 14 (8232)
Eichange diferencesaisingon~~ BERIMILEREES
translating oreign operations HELZS - - - - - - - 5 - 5 - 5%
Reclassifcation acjustment on HE-FRENTRER
eichange differences released MERZBNENIE
upon disposal of an associate EES - - - - - - - (1,037) - (1,037) - (1,037)
Fairvale loss on revaluation of ~~ BETHEERER
avallablefor-sale investments LTEFR - - - - - (2717 - - - @ - @)
Reclassiication acjustmentupon ~ EETRBEREES
disposal of avaiable-for-sale ENpEaE
Investments - - - B - (2,168) - - - (2,168) - (2,168)
Reclassfication acjustmentupon I HEREHERS
impaimentof avalable-forsale  EFHEEE
Investments - - - B - (7.884) - - - (7,884) - (7,884)
Share of ther comprehensive E-HBEAR AN
(expense) income of anassociate. 278 () s - - - - - (1340) - iy - (1298 - (129m)
Reclassficaton acjustment on HE-BHELIR
investment revaluaton reserve BENREERER
released upon disposal o an NENHERY
associate - - - - - 9470 - - - 9470 - 9470
Total comprefensive (expense) R 2 (A% it
income for the year 4% - - - - - (16,719) - (541) (8,246) (25,506) 14 (5,49)
Share options lapsed EREsi - - - - - - (1356 - 138 - - -
Disposal of subsiares HEMELR - - - - - - - - - - BB LI
At 30 June 2018 20186308 21319 403,188 386,904 (28.321) 446 2332 - (1§ (4%8530) 288,766 (510) 288,256
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REERBER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

FORRAARL
Investment Fair Attributable
revaluation value to non-
Share Share  Contributed Merger Capital resere reseve  Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium surplus resenve reseve  (recycling)  (nonrecyciing) Teserve losses Subtotal interests Total
Be
EffRE OTERE R
B% BRER EEES AKEE KIEE (TER) (FNDR) EREE  AHER it HEEE i
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSUO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  KKSO00  HKSO00 - HKSU00  HKS000
FEr FErT FET FET FET FET FET FET FET 7 2T 2T
(Note ) (Note ) (Note i)
&) (&) (K&ii)
At1July 2018 201857 A 1R 21379 403188 386,954 (28,321) 446 (2,332) - (18)  (498530) 288,766 (510) 288,256
Impact on nita application of BRERERNBHREE
HKFRS 9 Note ir) BIB9S T8 Wit = = = = = 2332 (26,103) = 23771 = = =
Adjusted balance at 1 July 2018 2018%7A1R
mERk o Es 21379 403,188 386,954 (28,321) 446 - (26,103) (18)  (474759) 288,766 (510) 288,256
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - - - (17438 (77,438) 608 (76830
Bchange differencesaisingon BB ELEREEL
translating foreign operations MEXZE - - - - - - - (85) - (85) - (85)
Fair value changes on movements — RATEFALHZER
inequity instuments at fainvalue ~ EMRATAEH 22
through other TEZY
comprehensive income - - - - - - 6,816 - - 6,816 - 6,816
Total comprehensive income EE2E4E(RR)
(expense) for the year ag - - - - - - 6,316 (85)  (77438)  (70,707) 608 (70,099)
Reclassfication adjustmentupon ~ HERAFE A2
disposal of financial assets at EfaNERAERY
fair value through other ENERE
comprehensive income - - - - - - 3878 - (3,878) - - -
At 30 June 2019 R1956A308 21379 403,188 386,954 (28,321) 446 - (15,409) (103)  (556,075) 218,059 9% 218157
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Notes:

(i) The contributed surplus of the Group represented the credit arising
from the cancellation of share premium account and the reduction of
share capital of the Company in May 2015. The balance may be utilised
by the directors of the Company (“Directors”) in accordance with the
Company’s bye-laws and all applicable laws, including to eliminate the
accumulated losses of the Company.

(i)~ The merger reserve represented the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of Sino Network Group Limited (“Sino Network”) and
the Company issued in exchange for the entire issued share capital of
Express Education Limited in 2010 and Sino Network pursuant to group
reorganisation in 2011.

(i)  The capital reserve represented capital contribution arising from
transfers of interest in subsidiaries to shareholders and waiver of amount
due to a shareholder in prior periods.

(iv)  The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 July 2018.
Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not
restated (See Note 2).

The notes on pages 105 to 243 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FEEREHR
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

Mat

() AEBZEBBEBKIEARERN2015F5 HREFEHERN
BEREEBRAMEEZER -ARREE ([EF])
ARBEARBZABRMRRAEERZEREAZRLE
& BEANEEARRZ R5HEE -

(i) A Bt 35 Sino Network Group Limited ([ Sino
Network |) 82 72K 2 7] 4R ¥ & B & 48 7 2010 4F BE 12 B
Express Education Limited & #2011 4F 3t # EX Sino
Network ) 2 2B B 5 17 J& 4 1 5 77 A9 B 19 &0 A (8 2
HZERE o

(i) PRAREEHEN BT HRERREENHE QT NER
REBEN —BRROFKBRELENTE -

(v) RNEER2018F7RIRERERBTERN KRS LR
FISREEBMBRMELRNEIN - RIFEPMENREE
TE LR EMTTE(RHFE2) -

F 105 E 243 EE M T RERA M B ImERM — 8D -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nv_\/E\ }E; ﬁ;ﬁ% %

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
it F#ETT FET
(Note)
(H1:2)
Cash flows from operating activities BEITDMESNALRESE
Loss before tax PR A& R (76,895) (9,670)
Adjustments for: FATEEEHAR
Share of results of joint ventures EhaE REIEE 571 16
Share of results of an associate JEAG — M S AR EE = 16,924
Bank and other interest income SRIT R E M F B A 8 (3,866) (5,357)
Finance costs 5 E A 9 40 3,415
Change in fair value of financial assets ERAFEFABZNSH
at fair value through profit or loss BEZNFEES 19,826 (31,521)
Loss on write off of property, plant and WM - BEREED
equipment &5 18 8 903 34
Depreciation of property, plant and Y- - BELREBNE
equipment 15 10,004 8,262
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hib A E E s 17 198 531
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 16 1,665 559
Impairment loss on other receivables Hfth FE YR IE 2 R B B 18 8 3,135 7,643
Write off of other receivables I 8 LA i W ERIE 10 1 -
Reversal of provision for long service KRB S B ERRD
payments 33 (456) (295)
Dividend received from listed equity B ETMBRABESHFRRE
securities 20 95
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERE QA RA IS - (13,731)
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—EEE AR - (55,826)
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE—HEaE TR - (1)
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HERRIEERE ZEE
investments - 3,053
Impairment loss on other intangible HEthEEEE 2 REFIE
assets - 2,626
Impairment loss on available-for-sale A HEIRE 2REEBE
investments - 23,771
Impairment loss on a loan receivable e E TR 2 B 18 = 7,493
Write off of promissory note receivable J1 58 1 W B AR - 5,529
Operating cash flows before movements 2B & & #BATHKE LR
in working capital mE (44,854) (36,450)
Decrease in deposits, trade and other e B REMEWIE
receivables RS 6,373 6,033
Increase in loan receivables JEUR B ZRE N (9,140) (16,364)
(Increase) decrease in listed equity ETRATE S (L) B
securities (12,774) 57,031
Increase in contract liabilities AHaEEM 10,336 -
Increase (decrease) in other payables H e I8 R e B g N
and accruals CR ) 5,968 (15,825)
(Decrease) increase in deferred income  EIEU A (Fi2>) 3 N (10,851) 1,923
Decrease in long service payments REIRE 2R L (5) (37)
Cash used in operations LEMAR: (54,947) (3,689)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded (paid) 2R (BR) BBEFEH 22 (86)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEBPTARIR S FEE (54,925) (3,775)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
REHERER
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 F#EiT FET
(Note)
(Bt7)
Cash flows from investing activities BREZDFREHEAERERE
Interest received B U F B 647 1,778
Dividends received from a joint venture Bl —EaE QMR E 1,000 1,500
Advance to an associate ] — B & R A1 EVK (168) (321)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & — B E N A TS RIE = 65,654
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HHE—RB& & QB REHIE = 62
Repayment of other loan receivable EEEMERER 5,000 -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BB AT (EFT ABZAE R
through profit or loss BE - (9,300)
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  WEMEE
equipment (2,272) (4,978)
Proceeds from disposal of &SR I E IR E RS RIE
available-for-sale investments - 18,395
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets H & XA FET AEME2E
at fair value through other W H & B E EFTSRIE
comprehensive income 10,382 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets H &z AFEF ABRENEE
at fair value through profit or loss BEMGHIE 490 61,240
Proceeds from partial redemption of R oL AT ER ABEREN
financial assets at fair value through SREEMSHIA
profit or loss 1,100 -
Net cash outflow on acquisition of W B A MRS R FE
subsidiaries - (3,158)
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries 1% i B8 A & 8 IR & 7 A F 58 = 95,300
Net cash generated from investing HEEEFENIRES FE
activities 16,179 226,172
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTRER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
g3 F#EIT FET
(Note)
(Bt7)

Cash flows from financing activities MEEDMENRQTE
Repayment to related parties EZ RN A - (158)
Other borrowings raised 1% H fib {8 5% 37 5,000 -
Repayment of other borrowing EEHEMER 37 (2,000) -
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER - (14,400)
Repayment of loan notes EEEREE - (150,000)
Repayment of promissory note payable &8 Ef % X Z & - (29,000)
Interest paid BAFE 37 (39) (3,894)
Net cash generated from (used in) mEEESME (TR MRS

financing activities FE 2,961 (197,452)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and ReERBLFEY ORL)EM

cash equivalents FE (35,785) 24,945
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ F¥HIRE RIIREEEY

of the year 42,709 17,710
Effects of exchange rate changes fEXREFHNTE (85) 54
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FROBASEREEFED

the year 6,839 42,709
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 July 2018.  ffit : ALEBER2018F7 A1 BB X ERAE BB REE

Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not

restated (See Note 2).

The notes on pages 105 to 243 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

AIE 155 R B BM B RS LERIFE IR - REBEMED

BETE  WEREMTTES (RHFE2) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 26 January 2011 and
continued in Bermuda on 7 May 2015 (Bermuda time). The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and the principal
place of business in Hong Kong is located at Rooms 10067,
10th Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point,
Hong Kong. Its shares have been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
since 4 July 2011.

The Company acts as an investment holding company while its
principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
private educational services, investment in securities and money
lending business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional

currency of the Company.

SE PR wRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

—REH

ARRBR2011F1A26 B R 285 A&
S RR2015F5A7H (BERERHE) KRB HEE
FEAE—RERRZBERRARF - AR A& EM
#% % & (i 72 Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda * i AR EEH F 2
EEMBMNNEBILASTEBE8REESR L
10121006-7% - EH B 2011 F7 84821
ERBMARSHER AT ([HRAT]) R L -

ARAR—EREERQR MEXTEMNBAR
BAXTERERHUMAHBERY REZFHRE

EMBMRARRRMIEEEEET (BT

o

o &p

ey
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRME
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

ERAHMITREESTEEMBEREEN
(TERMBHEEEEN])

REFERHENNEBUHREEAN
1&&]
AEECRAFEERERATIHEL S
RE([BEEAMAG]) ROENTEY B RS

Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the amendments

to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on

the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current

and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”. It sets out the requirements for
recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities
and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items
that existed at 1 July 2018 in accordance with the transition
requirements. The Group has recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening equity at
1 July 2018. Therefore, comparative information continues to
be reported under HKAS 39.

The table below summarises the impact of transition
to HKFRS 9 on accumulated losses and reserves at
1 July 2018.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

2. ERFMITREBITEEMGEEER
(FERMBREEN] (&2)

ERMBHRELRNFEIRISMTA]
EAMBHREEEIORBMRE LG ESR
FIHIEWMTAE - ERARGE] - EE'J%M'J
BRALIECRHEE SRAGBRETABE
ENMHEFERMEREANNER -

AEBERBEZREN2018F7A1IBFAE
WIERBEVNEABEVBMEELNEFEIR K
ESEEKEAEANRTZERR AL 20184
TAIRHMYEROARE At hBREREE
BEBGETEREINRETR -

TRBNBEEEF BT HRELEAFIFERN
2018F7 A1 HMEARNESEMFEENZE -

HK$'000
FET
Accumulated losses RitEE
Reclassified to fair value reserve (non-recycling) EoEEHEAEEE ([ATHEE])
relating to previously recognised impairment loss on &ﬁiﬂﬁﬁ@w REEIBEEN
available-for-sale (“AFS”) investments N EREE (TR ) 23,771
Investment revaluation reserve (recycling) BEE MR (TEE)
Transferred to fair value reserve (non-recycling) relating to & BHIB R IR AN FEF A EME2E
equity securities now measured at fair value through W ([ A FEFAEMEE R
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) FFEMRAESFEEN AT ERE
(“~A] 1) 233
Fair value reserve (non-recycling) SFEERFE (RATER)
Reclassified from accumulated losses relating to SEoBaHERHEERERE
previously recognised impairment loss on R E R EEEEEN R EE
AFS investments (23,771)
Transferred from investment revaluation reserve EEEEEFIRAFEFAREGBEE
(recycling) relating to equity securities now measured WEETENRAFEHBENIEEER
at FVOCI fiE f (A] [E148) (2,332)
(26,103)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERMITREEITITEMBEREEN

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition approach are set
out below:

(i) Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

HKFRS 9 categorises financial assets into three principal
classification categories: measured at amortised cost, at
FVOCI and at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL").
These supersede HKAS 39's categories of held-to-maturity
investments, loans and receivables, AFS financial
assets and financial assets measured at FVPL. The
classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is based
on the business model under which the financial asset is
managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

The Group’s investments in equity securities were classified
as AFS financial assets and financial assets measured
at FVPL under HKAS 39. These AFS financial assets are
classified as investments at FVOCI upon the adoption of
HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018. The Group’s other financial
assets measured at FVPL and amortised cost at 30 June
2018 continue with their classifications and measurements
upon the adoption of HKFRS 9 at 1 July 2018.

The classification and measurement requirements for
financial liabilities under HKFRS 9 are largely unchanged
from HKAS 39, except that HKFRS 9 requires the fair value
change of a financial liability designated at FVPL that is
attributable to changes of that financial liability’s credit risk
to be recognised in other comprehensive income (without
reclassification to profit or loss). The Group does not have
any financial liabilities designated at FVPL and therefore
this new requirement has no impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBRERME
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

2. ERFMITREBITEEMGEEER
(FERMBREEN] (&

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)
(i)  Credit losses

ERYBRBEENEIRIEMTAE|(F)
(i) EEER

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39
with the “expected credit loss” (“ECL”) model. The ECL
model requires an ongoing measurement of credit risk
associated with a financial asset and therefore recognises
ECLs earlier than under the “incurred loss” model in
HKAS 39.

The Group applies the new ECL model to the financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, other loan
receivable/promissory note receivable, loan receivables
and amount due from an associate).

Further details on the Group’s accounting policy for ECLs
are set out in Note 3.

As at 1 July 2018, no additional credit loss allowance
has been recognised against accumulated losses as
the estimated allowance under the ECL model has not
significantly different to that under HKAS 39.

BEMBREENFIRNUFAREERRE]
(EREEBR) EXARRE LS ER
FIFWCELERIER - BHREEE
BEABRBETELSREEFRNGE
ERR At eRAE B ERIF395H
[EEABRIBEAFTRERBEREERSSE -

AEBHFOAEHREEEBRENEABNIR
BHEKAFENEREE (BRA AR
FEY B NMEMEBKGE  EMER
BRI - B FUA R B
—REBERBFHIAE) -

AEEAREMEEBRN ST BRME
— T HBERMES -

R2018F7A1E  UEARAEEER
BIMEEBEREG REREHEERRE
BATHREABBERAREEE G ER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue and some costs from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18 “Revenue”, which
covered revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering
of services, and HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” which

specified the accounting for construction contracts.

HKFRS 15 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the
consolidated financial statements to understand the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows

arising from contracts with customers.

The Group has elected to use the cumulative effect transition
method to recognise the cumulative effect of initial application
as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 July
2018. Therefore, comparative information has not been restated
and continues to be reported under HKAS 18. As followed by
HKFRS 15, the Group has applied the new requirements only
to contracts that were not completed before 1 July 2018. The
adoption of HKFRS 15 has no material impact on the opening
balance of equity at 1 July 2018.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Continued)
Further details of the nature and effect of the changes on
previous accounting policies are set out below:

(i) Timing of revenue recognition
Previously, revenue arising from provision of services was
recognised on an utilisation time basis, whereas revenue
from sale of goods was generally recognised at a point in
time when the risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
had passed to the customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised goods or service
in the contract. This may be at a single point in time
or over time. HKFRS 15 identifies the following three
situations in which control of the promised good or service
is regarded as being transferred over time:

—  When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

—  When the entity’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

—  When the entity’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall
into any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15 the
entity recognises revenue for the sale of that goods or
service at a single point in time, being when control has
passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of ownership is only
one of the indicators that is considered in determining
when the transfer of control occurs.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant
impact on when the Group recognises revenue from
provision of services and sale of goods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Continued)
Further details of the nature and effect of the changes on

previous accounting policies are set out below: (Continued)

(ii)  Presentation of contract liabilities
Under HKFRS 15, a contract liability, rather than a payabile,
is recognised when a customer pays consideration, or is
contractually required to pay consideration and the amount
is already due, before the Group recognises the related
revenue.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 from 1 July
2018 which resulted in changes in accounting
policies. The Group adopted HKFRS 15 using the
modified retrospective approach which means
that the cumulative impact of the adoption (if any)
will be recognised in accumulated losses as of
1 July 2018 and that comparatives will not be restated.
In summary, the following adjustments were made to
the amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the date of initial application (i.e.
1 July 2018) and line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included:

Under HKAS 18
Carrying amount at

2. ERWITREBITEEMGHEER

(FERMBHREEN] (&)

ERBUBBREERNFISRIBFFENBRAIE)

BESHTHRRESNNEL RFENE — T

Tft

#HwT : (8)

(i)

BEHEER 23]
REESMHRELEISHR  GHOAE
(EHENRBE)REPXMNRERIRAD
REXMNREEFRBCSIS IR AKE
FERR AR R IR A BT HERR

RNEBB2018F7 A1 B HRILMAE BB
HWELERFEISH  BHEHBEEEE - K
SERMBE BB REEE 155 EFRA
ERTBHE  ERZRMNERETE ()
BREZE20187 A1 B M Bt EEH R
ROMEBERBETTFEN 52 B
BRERBE (BN2018F7 A1) BWiEzEa
HHERAERERNESBIEEATHAZ M
TREHYENEETERTEENR

Under HKFRS 15
Carrying amount at

30 June 2018 Reclassification 1 July 2018

REEESs RETENY

R 185 WMEEREISH

20184 #2018

6H30H 7B1H

HREE ENoRE I REE

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET FiET

Deferred income IEFEWA 10,851 (10,851) -
Contract liabilities EHEaE - 10,851 10,851

Reclassifications were made as at 1 July 2018 to be
consistent with the terminology used under HKFRS 15:

e  (Contract liabilities relating to tuition fee received in
advance which were previously included in deferred
income.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Continued)
Further details of the nature and effect of the changes on
previous accounting policies are set out below: (Continued)

(ii) Presentation of contract liabilities (Continued)
The following tables summarise the estimated impact
of adoption of HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019,
by comparing the amounts reported under HKFRS 15 in
these consolidated financial statements with estimates of
the hypothetical amounts that would have been recognised
under HKAS 18 if those superseded standards had
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e RRMEE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

2. ERFMITREBITEEMGEEER
(FERMBREEN] (&

ERVBHREENEISHIBEFSNVRAIGE)
BESTRREIOMEEARFENE-—THE
HIWMT - (&)

BHNREENZS (&)
TR RAT BN RS ERF 155 Y
REBBZE201946B30H FFENERE
MBBRZEAFE BEABUERAY
BHRRPEEBMBEHREELF 1552 W
MEBRERFAGHEAF I8RBERNMR
E 2R B B R B (W 32 SR AV A
HRZR BBV B REERE ISR MARE
EANAEE)  HFIREBTZER

(i)

7

continued to apply to the current year instead of HKFRS
15. These tables show only those line items impacted by MBS REERE 15T EMNIER
the adoption of HKFRS 15:
Difference:
Estimated
Amounts Hypothetical impact of
reported amounts adoption of
in accordance under HKFRS 15 on
with HKFRS 15 HKAS 18 the current year
=8
REFEERN
BRESHMEHRE FHETHEN FTEUERS
HERE 158 F 185 THY HERIFE 15
EHMeH BRES# -4 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHEIT
Line items in the consolidated ®2019%£6A30H
statement of financial position HFeaMBERiES
as at 30 June 2019 impacted by SIFMEFEBMERE
the adoption of HKFRS 15: HRIE 15K ERIRE -
Deferred income EEHA - 10,336 (10,336)
Contract liabilities AHalE 10,336 - 10,336
Line items in the reconciliation ~ & Z 201956 A 30H
of profit before tax to net cash I F EFRIRATR T B
generated from operating BEIDFREAE
activities for the year ended PHHIRESZGM
30 June 2019 impacted by the  HFi#MEHE LR
adoption of HKFRS 15: FEISMPBENEA -
Decrease in deferred income U A R (10,851) 515 (10,336)
Increase in contract liabilities A4 aEEM 10,336 - 10,336

The significant differences arise as a result of the changes
in accounting policies described above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRME
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases!

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments!
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative

Compensation!

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures?
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle!

Conceptual framework for ~ Revised conceptual Framework for Financial

financial reporting 2018 Reporting?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2w N e
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way
that lessors account for their right and obligations under a
lease. However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no
longer distinguish between finance leases and operating leases.
Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees will be required
to account for all leases in a similar way to current finance lease
accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease the
lessee will recognise and measure a lease liability at the present
value of the minimum future lease payments and will recognise
a corresponding “right-of-use” asset. After initial recognition of
this asset and liability, the lessee will recognise interest expense
accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and
the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the current
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As a practical
expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply this accounting
model to short-term leases (i.e. where the lease term is
12 months or less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which
case the rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a

systematic basis over the lease term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a
lessee of leases for properties which are currently classified as
operating leases. The application of the new accounting model
is expected to lead to an increase in both assets and liabilities
and to impact on the timing of the expense recognition in the
profit or loss over the period of the lease.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019. As allowed by HKFRS 16, the Group plans
to use the practical expedient to grandfather the previous
assessment of which existing arrangements are, or contain,
leases. The Group will therefore apply the new definition of a
lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that are entered into on
or after the date of initial application. In addition, the Group
plans to elect the practical expedient for not applying the new
accounting model to short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective
approach for the adoption of HKFRS 16 and will recognise the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity at 1 July 2019, and will not restate
the comparative information. As discussed in Note 36, the
Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases for properties amounted to approximately
HK$64,130,000 as at 30 June 2019, a portion of which is
payable between 1 and 3 years after the end of the reporting
period. Upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 16, the opening
balances of lease liabilities and the corresponding right-of-use
assets will be adjusted to approximately HK$51,949,000, after
taking account the effects of discounting, as at 1 July 2019.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of approximately HK$13,449,000 (see Note 22)
as rights and obligations under leases to which HKAS 17
applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right
to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts
of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost and such
adjustments are considered as additional lease payments.
Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be

included in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result
in changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as

indicated above.

Except as described above, the Directors anticipate that the
application of other new and amendments to HKFRSs and
Interpretations will have no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RRMEE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEtEE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset take into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EXEHEEK(E)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value AN IS 2®mE AFEFEREBELF
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the B ENGASBUBEEREERATEITEN
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are BMABBHHEERBNEZUIEAF — F=
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value RE=H - FFBOT

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e |level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

« FRRANBAERRGERMITTR
2 ABEERAERERTS 2 BE (KT
BE)

s F_ABWABERANEEXARBEEEXME
BWABRE B ABE (F-NBRZHRE
BRI - R

s FEZABWABBREEXRBEZITTEHE
WA -

SRHBEBIIMT -
GABEER
BAMBREBEAAARSEAL T RENS
ATEHOEEOHBERE - AR AR TS
S BN A A

o HRIRESHERED:

o B2 MG E ] B0 HAAE R R
SEBEEF &

o BRNNBEENAFZEEEE -

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if i B I8 BB R £ X PR =18 % %'ch%ﬁ’\] —
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one HIZEEE ASEeEHITBERSTES
or more of the three elements of control listed above. WILET °
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current ability
to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’” meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of
equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution
of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

3.

EXErBE(E)
AEBERRAHBANNETRERNRD

AEBERREMBARNEEEEDSHIRE

B |BEYAKERELZSTHE QR EHIE

QAR R H AR - AEBENHEBERED (8

EEHEIFERES) WREESE T UHEE

ARBRERH B AR MAREEDEN &S - JFE
BREENEFFENARESBORAFARNS
BEMMKAEKENRFERNER  BE
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When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is WAREBERKEM BRI MIEHE RIS
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference BEgRBRRER EEHZ DETREN A TE

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All

N AR AR B2 25 0 2 T (B O AR B B (i) N 1 B R
BEAREZMBRARNEE (BREEME) AR
REERMNZENE - CANE M2 E K5
ZWMBARERNAAESE  SRBNAKH

amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income EEEREHEZWBARMEEEELAEAR (B
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group REABRAEVISREEAMEIA AT mERN

had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39, or when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy for share-based

payments arrangements below); and

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured

in accordance with that standard.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit

or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the
Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that

interests were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
as at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected

the amounts recognised at that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy for business combination above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management

purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or

group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the

amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is

not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous

consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and a
joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5. Any retained portion of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not
been classified as held for sale shall be accounted for using
the equity method. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or
a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture (Continued)
An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted

3.

EXEHBEE)
R-EBEAAR-—HEERANRE (
R—EBEARAN—MALARANREARR

for using the equity method from the date on which the investee B R A— R A F sk — F'ﬂ./:l\ MONE AR
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the I RS R A BE o MUK ER — RO AS A T2k — 1

investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKFRS 9 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture (see
the accounting policy for impairment of other non-current assets
below).

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is
discontinued.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair

value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss

on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related

to the Group.

Investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, an associate

and a joint venture, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date of the Group commits to purchase/sell
the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at FVPL for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, please
see Note 6. These investments are subsequently accounted for

as follows, depending on their classification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.

Investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 July 2018:

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

e amortised cost: if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective interest method
(see the accounting policy for revenue and other income
recognition below).

e  FVOCI - recycling: if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of ECLs, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

° FVPL: if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 July 2018: (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purpose and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed
of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained profits/
accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the accounting

policy for revenue and other income recognition set out below.

Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2018:

The Group classifies its financial assets in loans and
receivables, financial assets at FVPL and AFS financial assets.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determines the

classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. These assets are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method (except for short-term
receivables where interest is immaterial) minus any reduction
for impairment or uncollectability. Typically trade and other
receivables, bank balances and cash are classified in this

category.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2018: (Continued)

Investments in securities held for trading were classified as
financial assets measured at FVPL. Any attributable transaction
costs were recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of
each reporting period the fair value was remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Investments which did not fall into (a) loans and receivables,
(b) held-to-maturity investments, or (c) financial assets at
FVPL were classified as AFS financial assets. At the end of
each reporting period the fair value was remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the investment
revaluation reserve (recycling). Dividend income from equity
investments and interest income from debt securities calculated
using the effective interest method were recognised in profit or
loss in accordance with the accounting policy for revenue and
other income recognition set out below. Foreign exchange gains
and losses arising from debt securities were also recognised
in profit or loss. When the investments were derecognised
or impaired (see the accounting policy for credit losses from
financial instruments — policy applicable prior to 1 July 2018
below), the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity was

reclassified to profit or loss.

Revenue and other income recognition
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the provision of services and sale of goods in the ordinary

course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue and other income recognition (Continued)
Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

Franchising income includes initial fees and continuing
franchise fees. Initial fees are recognised when the Group
has performed substantially all initial services and other
obligations required of the franchisor (the Group) under the
franchise agreements. Continuing franchise fees represent fees
charged for the use of continuing rights granted by a franchise
agreement, or for other services provided during the period of a
franchise agreement, are recognised as revenue as the services
are provided or the rights are used.

Income from provision of tutoring and education services is
recognised when the tutorial and educational services are
rendered.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the products.

Supporting services income is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the

shareholder’s right to receive payment have been established.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance)
of the asset (see the accounting policy for credit losses from

financial instruments below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EXEHBE(E)
Leasing HE
The Group as lessee KEBEBERFAA

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the
net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests.

132 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &B#HE (HR) REEBHRAT

REHENK (BREEHEERTHWKE 1K
R)DIREMNEREERRRAX  RIERH
EMAELEFRARBEEELAMGBREZE
BEXAERw - KEHEBTEEZHAM
SRELHMEEIR/MAX -

M LGB ERKWNESES  IEHESR
HARABE BEANENEREIEARES
ML BRIESAEERREERTRERREESR
EEERmIBREZ RMEXRIERR -

SN

RESBUSEERNOMBRRE  UXER
MINEEER AN ER SIME) ETHR S &
REAMERER - RIMER - UINETY
ENEBHENEANERERHRE - ARF
EFRLAINENEXFEEHBREERT
BEAMOEREXEHRE - LE LKA
BARMIEERIEE - T TEHGRE -

REEBRERENRESYHBELZER
ZHENELRRNBE AR fERKE
MBI EBzERRR ZEXZ5H  BREF 3
REE AL Z AT TR (B I R85 7%
BREZ—#7) VPR EMEERSER - I
REEXBOHERNKRE 2 BEFhESEHN

DEEEERIN



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling

interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are

reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange

differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in

other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those asset
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Short-term employee benefits and retirement benefit costs

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these

amounts are carried at their present values.

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as and when employees have rendered
services that entitling them to the contributions.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash

flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the

receivable can be measured reliably.

Provision for long service payments

Provision for long service payments under the requirements of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is recognised when the
employees have rendered services entitling them to the benefits.
The amounts recognised are determined at the management’s
best estimate of the future cash outflow for settlement of the
obligations and measured on a discounted basis, if the effect is
material.

Share-based payments arrangements

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in

equity (share options reserve).

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the
fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from (loss before tax) as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that

taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
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temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets giEf  ATeRRAZSFELHEBEELEERE
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arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather

than through sale.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the

accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EXEHEEK(E)
Property, plant and equipment M BERZHE
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated WE - BEMREBIERABREENZA;INE

statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.

MEFMRBERE (A REE BT
HwWERYER

BEREMGAIEAFRIAEBREMBEK AL
MR ERABERRITE - BTl ERFH
RpBERTEDERSREMRT AR
A EBSNTERILAEE LR -

ME BEMREEENLERNEBHMTE
&R ZEER TS E A AR RN 20 B 42 1 FE
R-ALEXBEYE BEMREBEEEL
MEREE  NIEZEEN L EMEHIALK
T {6 22 RR B 72 3 N R 2

Intangible assets BEEE
Intangible assets acquired separately BUYNKBHEREE

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy for impairment on

other non-current assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as

their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Alternatively, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses
(see the accounting policy for impairment on other non-current

assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised

in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see
the accounting policy for credit losses from financial instruments
below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EXEBEE)

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEEY

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, MireBReRnERMs RekReZEDE
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand SFEBRSMERFER  URABEHEBREE
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are HMBeFBE2EAaREKE X TEXRER
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject ZEBEEBMAR UHAENESE KR =
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short EAAAR BN EREER - R ERkI N
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, which WBKASEERSER CERE D -

are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial REEEPWBRARME BELBReFEVE
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and SFERSRBETRS  EECHERKLEE
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature SMHEEREMAZREERZEE -

to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance RehB2FEYIREATEeMIAZEER
with the accounting policy for credit losses from financial EREZEGHBERMEREEBBETHMG -

instruments below.

Credit losses and impairment of assets EEEBEREERE

Credit losses from financial instruments PHTAZEEEE

(i) Policy applicable from 1 July 2018 (1) H20I18F7AH1HEEEHZHE
The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on REBRZBENATECSREE (B
financial assets measured at amortised cost (including RENREEEY  EZRHEMEWFIE
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, HEERER TERAREE  ERER
other loan receivable/promissory note receivable, loan LW —HEE QA RNIR) BRBHEES
receivables and amount due from an associate). BrEBERE-
Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity BAFEFEZEMEE (BREEAFER
securities measured at FVPL, financial assets designated at ABRFAECRAZS BEAEAYE
FVOCI (non-recycling), are not subject to ECL assessment. AEMmEEREZ R EE (T B#))

BAETEIEEEBANG -
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Policy applicable from 1 July 2018 (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive if the debt is drawn down), discounted when the

effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of

future economic conditions.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs which result from
possible default events over the expected lives of these
financial assets. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the

end of the reporting period.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. The 12-month ECLs are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within 12 months after

the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Policy applicable from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the end
of the reporting period with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 1 year
past due. The Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal and interest on

their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating

(if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to

meet its obligation to the Group.
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Bt (5)

FEFBEREERME(E)
THTAZEFEER (&)

(i)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Policy applicable from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status

and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at the end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk
since initial recognition. Any change in the ECLs amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to

their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised (see the accounting policy for
revenue and other income recognition above) is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the

financial asset.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial
asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of

the financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. BXE % ()
EEERAREERE(E)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Policy applicable from 1 July 2018 (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

the following observable events:
—  significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse

effect on the debtor; or

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
an investment in an equity instrument below its cost
or disappearance of an active market for a security
because of supervision of issuer’s shares trading.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously

written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

3. EXEHBEE)
FEEFBREEREZ)
Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued) THTAZEEEE(E)
(i) Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2018 () R20184 7 A 1 H 5 i
R2018F 7 A1HA ' [EEABEIEXA
REtEWFPBERERATEFAEBRZ ZS
BEE (N8 5 & EAMEUGRIE - EHRURR
RE BEEFRRAIHBEERE) 2 REE
B-RBEIEELEBEIRK  BESEE
REBEREE RN 2B®ER -

Prior to 1 July 2018, an “incurred loss” model was used
to measure impairment losses on financial assets not
classified as at FVPL (e.g. trade and other receivables,
promissory note receivable, loan receivables and AFS
investments). Under the “incurred loss” model, an
impairment loss was recognised only when there was
objective evidence of impairment.

WEEETMZFER  MRTITAEE
R HER R EEE

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss was
determined and recognised as follows:

FhE 5 Ko B At FE R TR A Ko 3 B K
AFEBEZHEMERHEEMS  REE
EREERAEREGBFRARERE
REZH(HBERTEER RS
REERANERMERMBR)FE -5

—  For trade and other receivables and other financial —
assets carried at amortised cost, the impairment loss
was measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s

original effective interest rate, where the effect of
discounting was material. This assessment was
made collectively where these financial assets shared
similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and had not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which
were assessed for impairment collectively were based
on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreased and the decrease could
be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss
was reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss was only recognised to the extent
that it did not result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior

years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. BXEEBE (&)

FEEFBREEREZ)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued) 2RI AZEEEE (&)

(i) Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2018 (Continued) (i) R20184 7 A 1H Fi
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss was WFEEMZEEE BT AREE
determined and recognised as follows: (Continued) MIERBEREE (&)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

\, T &/ 4EE )
1L IR (35

When the recovery of the trade receivables or
other financial assets carried at amortised cost was
considered doubtful but not remote, associated
impairment losses were recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group was satisfied that recovery
was remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
was written off against the gross carrying amount
of those assets directly. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance account
were reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly

were recognised in profit or loss.

For AFS equity securities, the cumulative loss that
had been recognised in the fair value reserve was
reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the
cumulative loss that was recognised in profit or loss
was the difference between the acquisition cost and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that

asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in
respect of AFS equity securities were not reversed
through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in
the fair value of such assets was recognised in other

comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;

goodwill;

other intangible assets;

interests in an associate and a joint venture; and

investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of

financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for goodwill and intangible assets that
have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated

annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a

cash-generating unit).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EXEEBE (Z)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) EEFEREERE(Z)
Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued) Bk mEEE2BE ()

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of
units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see the accounting policy for revenue and other income
recognition above). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see the
accounting policy for trade and other receivables above).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method.

Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2018

In the comparative period, amounts received before the related
service was performed were presented as “deferred income”.
These balances have been reclassified on 1 July 2018 as shown
in Note 29 (see Note 2).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy for borrowing costs
above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EX®

Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(ii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
chief operating decision makers for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority

of these criteria.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when

material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4., EEEHYERGAHSRAEEEME
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY BXRiR

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which RERMEIMLAREE ST BORE - EFHA
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make HARKSBEEMBRECHETNEENNBEMNE
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying MEEE LR Bt RBR - At AR ERR

amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an

TINBERR M EMRR R ERNE R SEE -
ERERAEEZFER TR -

rmEH

et R BRR SR EETR - WH A

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised FTREETE R B E TSI ER - BB IR
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision ZHEBER MBI EE AT R ARKAAHE -
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and BIPAME 5T HARE R R 2R B e R

future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.
Critical accounting judgement EEEHE
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those T AEENERAEENSTBRRBIERIE

involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment for goodwill and other intangible assets
The Group tests annually whether goodwill and other intangible
assets have suffered any impairment in accordance with

HAHEGAMBRRAMERNEEERE
FENEEAME (TS RMAFTERIN -

BERAMETEEE R EF G
AEERBEMESHAB c GTBRRFAAEE
REMBETLEESREREMBE - JRES

accounting policies stated in Note 3. The recoverable amounts BOREBEFEREETERRFEREEMA (A
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair BEBRE)ETE ZZEAEDHE RIEE -

value less costs to sell, whichever are higher. These calculations
require the use of judgments and estimates.

Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted in
the valuation models for impairment review purpose. Changing
the assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment could materially affect the result of the impairment
test and as a result affect the Group’s financial condition and
results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the key assumptions applied, it may be necessary to take
additional impairment charge to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Please refer to
Notes 16 and 17 for details.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment allowances on trade and other receivables, other loan
receivable/promissory note receivable and loan receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and other
receivables, other loan receivable/promissory note receivable
and loan receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires
the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the end
of the reporting period. Where the estimation is different from
the previous estimate, such difference will affect the carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables, other loan receivable/
promissory note receivable and loan receivables and thus
the impairment loss in the period in which such estimate is
changed.

Provision for long service payments

The provision for long service payments is based on the best
estimate of the future payments required to settle the obligations
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in relation to the

employees of the Group in Hong Kong.

In making this judgement, the management mainly considers
the number of current employees who have achieved the
required number of years of service to the Group, at the end of
the reporting period, who are eligible for long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the employee
turnover rate as well as salary growth. Any change in these

estimates will affect the provision to be recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4. BEESHIEHRGEHBRIABREEDE
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY BRE(E)

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

EE P RIABEENEEZRIR(F)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes RFEFERGEES
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair AEBIHHDEERBBERVEEREMIEAF
value for financial reporting purposes. The Directors determine B2 BEFRATEFEETEENHER

the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

EREBABIR o

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group REET—BEEL —BHEENATER %
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where BEFRAESNMISIBREE E8/EES

observable market data are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified professional valuers to perform the
valuation and works closely with the independent qualified
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. The use of
valuation models and assumptions in valuing these financial
instruments is subjective and requires varying degrees of
judgement. Note 6 provide detailed information about the
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the

determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The management reviews the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, and
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new shares issues and debt financing.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and total equity (comprising issued share capital,
reserves and accumulated losses).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS &€MTH
Categories of financial instruments SRMIAER
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FEIT
Financial assets SEMEE
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFAEBGNESHEE 65,984 74,646
Financial assets at amortised cost AT EZERMERE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BREBESMREEEY) 125,190 156,655
Financial assets at FVOCI/ EAFEFAEMEERERN
AFS investments CRMEE /M HHERE 15,422 25,295
Financial liabilities eMaR
Amortised cost [z =N 12,593 9,679
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HEMBHRRMT
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at FVOCI/AFS investments, trade and other receivables, other
loan receivable/promissory note receivable, loan receivables,
amount due from an associate, financial assets at FVPL, bank
balances and cash, other payables and accruals, amounts due
to related parties and other borrowing. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate the effects of these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure
in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it

manages and measures the risks.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk related primarily to its fixed-rate other loan
receivable/promissory note receivable, loan receivables, unlisted
convertible bonds and other borrowing. The Directors consider
the Group’s exposure of the fair value interest rate risk on fixed-
rate other loan receivable/promissory note receivable, loan
receivables, unlisted convertible bonds and other borrowing
and the cash flow interest rate risk on its bank balances are
insignificant. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is presented.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments
in listed equity securities which included in financial assets at
FVOCI/AFS investments (see Note 20) and financial assets at
FVPL (see Note 26). The management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks.
The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on listed

equity securities.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting
period.

If the prices of the respective listed equity securities had been
10% (2018: 10%) higher/lower:

e the post-tax loss for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$2,203,000 (2018: approximately
HK$2,260,000) as a result of the change in fair value of

listed security investments; and

e the investment revaluation reserve for the year ended
30 June 2018 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$918,000 as a result of change in fair value of the listed
security investments.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, trade and other receivables, other loan receivable/
promissory note receivable, loan receivables and amount due
from an associate. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from bank balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(i) Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which customers operate
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has a certain concentration of credit risk as 9% (2018:
10%) and 29% (2018: 39%) of the trade receivables
was due from the largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

In respect of trade receivables, management has a
credit policy in place and the exposure to the credit
risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer operates.
The Group allows an average credit period within 30 days
(2018: within 30 days) to its trade customers. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
Management considers the aggregate risks arising from the
possibility of credit losses are limited and to be acceptable.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases. The management estimated the expected loss rate
is zero based on past experience and industrial data.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIA(E)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) BRRBEEEERBEK (&)

Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)

(i) Other financial assets (i) Btz EE
The Group considers the probability of default upon REBZEVINEREECHNENAKES
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been ZEERRNSREEMAE D EREIE I -
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis BIEEEREERHEBEEIN  NERL
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether ERRE AR HEEERAEENN
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group B  HERAEESE A HENORE
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as HWER o LT LHEESEEE

at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the

following indicators are incorporated:

-~ internal credit rating - RNEBEEFTR

—  external credit rating (as far as available) — HNEMEERTFH (AT EE

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in — ERoKTEHRNER - BRI
business, financial or economic conditions that FHE K THE (LTS ERR 5 Y
are expected to cause a significant change to the FRITEBHNEE R EE A NS

counterparties’ ability to meet its obligations
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Other financial assets (Continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s

ECL model is as follows:

Category
|l

Definition of category
mAmEs

&MIA(E)

MERBREREEERBEK(£)

EERE (&)

(i) 2 Gt &2 ()
AEBEZEMEESEEXERNRRER
e N

Basis for recognition of ECL provision

HERHMERGRERHESE

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

E=FEE

Exposures where there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
that are not credit-impaired upon origination.
BURERE 2 EERR I EEZEREMN  BR
EERITREEREZER -

Exposures where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but
are not credit-impaired.

BYRER R 2 EERRBZEIL N - ELEE
BREZER

Exposures are assessed as credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset
have occurred.
ERLGHZEENMEFRRBREBERT
NMEgEBz -—HERZEEN  ABBRGHT
ERLBREERE -

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s

exposure to credit risk arising from other receivables,

other loan receivable/promissory note receivable and loan

receivables are set out in Notes 22, 23 and 24 respectively.
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Portion of the lifetime ECL associated with the
probability of default events occurring within the
next 12 months is recognised.
HARTZEARREZOSH 2 FIRIEEEN
>HRBREEEEIY TINER -

Lifetime expected losses (i.e. reflecting the
remaining lifetime of the financial asset) is
recognised.

WRTHEREE AREEHEENTRT

Lifetime expected losses is recognised and interest
revenue is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost (net of provision)
rather than the gross carrying amount.

WRATHERER  WHEBERERNEN#
SHACAR (FOBR ) MIERRMARE E N BUA -

BRAEEREMEWZRE EMEKRER
WA ZENERERMEEANEERRBRSY
HE— R ESRIERHIFE22 - 23 %24 -



6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(if)  Other financial assets (Continued)

(A) Other loan receivable/promissory note receivable

As at 30 June 2019, the Group has concentration of
credit risk over other loan receivable/promissory note
receivable as the other loan receivable/promissory
note receivable is due from one (2018: one)
counterparty.

The management of the Group assess the
collectability on the carrying value of the other loan
receivable/promissory note receivable at the end
of each reporting period. Management considers
that the exposure to credit risk is mitigated in view
of management’s dedicated effort in monitoring the
outstanding balance and positive development on
settlement arrangement.

Having assessed the other loan receivable/promissory
note receivable under the ECL model, the Directors
concluded that there had been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition but are not
credit-impaired. As a result, the other loan receivable/
promissory note receivable at 30 June 2019 and
1 July 2018 are classified as stage 2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

6. &MIAE)

BEEREEREREE (&)

EERRE (&)

(=Y

(A) E@Euﬁzﬁmﬂ%uﬁz%@m#

M2019%F 6 A30H AEEME
BERBEFREMBEREREIK
AHER RERHMEKRER
BRAHLZETRE —BARSHF
(20184 « —1@) -

AEBERENERSHURTHEM
B E R EYEEEREmENT
BEE -EERERR BREEER
NWREEE AR E SN EE RN
BEEE - FREEERR -

EAEEREEEEEX T EMmE
WEH, W ENEEE EEBH
i BYIRERR - EERRE
BMERM BEYEEERE Bt
A 2019F 6 A30H k201847 A1H
B HEH A ERE R AR RES R
BEIEE -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIR (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) HERAREEEERBE(E)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)

A\ T R

(if)  Other financial assets (Continued) =y
(B) Loan receivables FEHE R

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RIFEHR AEEBNEERESE
a concentration of credit risk as 82% (2018: 97%) F o RARBEBKERHE2% (20184 ¢
of the loan receivables due from the Group’s three 97%) KB ANEE = (20184 : = &)
(2018: three) largest borrowing customers. BAEREFE -

The Directors consider that the credit risk arising FEERE NMEFTE BFENERS
from the loan receivables is significantly mitigated AR REEKETEENEERRM -
by the collaterals held, if required. The Group does REFEIBHIMSFERNEFEAST
not provide any guarantees which would expose the EZERRATER -

Group to credit risk.

The 12-month ECL calculated by the Group is not AEBFENI2EAAEEREZEEELT
significant and there has been no significant increase TEAX BAVBREIAUKREERR
in credit risk since initial recognition. As at 30 June W ZEEIL N - 20196 A30H -
2019, no loss allowance on loan receivables was TR R W E U IR R o

made.
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mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIA(E)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) BEEREERERBE(E)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued) (i) EtmEE (&)
(B) Loan receivables (Continued) (B) BWERE)
Comparative information under HKAS 39 RIEE B 5 2ERFE 395 8 B A& #Y
Prior to 1 July 2018, the Group managed and R2018F7H1IBR  AEERIEMH
analysed the credit risk for each of the new and AT ERREGHRIEERDITE
existing borrowers before standard payment terms 2 RBEERAZEERR © MR
and conditions were offered. If there was no EBUE AEEEREBEERAZ
independent rating, the Group assessed the credit BBARR  BArgHRLEMARTG
quality of the borrower based on the borrower’s BRAZEEEZ - {52 g R 5EiZ
financial position, past experience and other factors. FREEFTERREE 2 W EF ek H BB 5T 4% ifn
Individual risk limits were set based on the internal B TERHEINXBAEBEETR
or external ratings in accordance with limits set by HIENERERREEBRERAE 2
the directors. The credit quality classification of loan EEE=NE
receivables and their respective interest receivables
using the Group’s credit rating system was set out in
the table below:
2018
HK$'000
FET
Performing JBITH 31,760
Doubtful RIR -
Loss %= 7,493
39,253

The Group considered the loan and respective
interest receivables as doubtful if the repayment of
principal and/or of interest had been overdue. The
Group considered the loan and respective interest
receivables as loss if the repayment of principal
and/or of interest had been overdue for more than
12 months and the collection of principal and/or of
interest in full was improbable.

The Group estimated and recognised impairment
losses for the loan receivables considered as
“doubtful” and “loss”, taking into account of the
fair values of collaterals which were inadequate to
cover the loan receivables. The amount of doubtful
and loss of loan receivables were approximately
HK$7,493,000 as at 30 June 2018.

AEERR WEEARR /IFEEEH -
AIEFRREERKANEERE AEBRA
HEEAE R SFEEAMER T —@EA
BEfrXRaggrlimAe Rk, SFE - MER

K AARA MR BB 1R -

ZERIEMMZ AFENRAZINEBKE
AEERGE B IRE] RBE] 2 BKERG
P HEROBEE R - 10 2018F 6 A30H © EM
ERZREREBTELT7,493,0008 7T
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Other financial assets (Continued)

(B)

(@)

Loan receivables (Continued)
Comparative information under HKAS 39 (Continued)

The Group performed collective assessment of the
loan receivables considered as “performing” by
grouping together all its receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics. The impairment review was
carried out on all those loan receivables based on
the historical impairment rates. Since the historical
impairment rate was zero during the current and prior
year, the management therefore considered that the
collective impairment loss was HK$nil as at 30 June
2018.

The amount of provision for impairment was
monitored by the management on a monthly basis.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other
receivables, amount due from an associate and bank
balances. The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for ECLs on a timely basis.
In calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category of receivables
and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.

At 30 June 2019, other receivables of approximately
HK$3,135,000 (2018: approximately HK$7,626,000)
were individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to debtors
that were in financial difficulties and management
assessed that only a portion of the receivables was
expected to be recovered. Consequently, specific loss

allowance was recognised.
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&MIA(E)

MERREEBERBUR (&)

EERE (&)

(i) Bt mEE (&)

(B) rEK Atm(é%”)

RIE T E &5 ERE 395 Ay B EH
(#%&)
AEBEEMBEAEEEUGEERRE

(C)

B BYE HRABIETH]Z
EWEFETREIE - MAXTRE
WE AR 558 R E X E TR ER
A e AR AFE RERFE 2 BER
BXAT ARBEERAN2018F

6A3HZERREBERTAT

EEETHEERERBERE -

RBEN AT EZEMEREE

HEERAGEZHEMSREERR
H i & WRIA - B MR — R B 2 2 AR
HARRITES - AKEREEER
REEmLEFIREREEEE -®
AEAHEEERXE AEEEE
JB & K8 e MUK IR 2 JEE St 5 48 %R 3 L A
B2 ZBEBEBBREH AR -

720196 A30H - Hith fE Y sRIF XY
3,135,000 7% 7T (2018 4 : £97,626,000
BT B ERIEE RSEIRE 52
BRKRERENBRE ZEBHAR
M- mERENFEENES S0k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIA(E)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) BEEREERERBE(E)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)
(if)  Other financial assets (Continued) (i) Aot = (42

HEERAGEZ R SBEE (&)
wE RAEMBERNEZ EHEEER

(C) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued) (C)

ECLs allowances of deposits and other receivables

##iE
An analysis of changes in the corresponding ECL HENESHEEEEREZ2EH o
allowances is as follows: T
Under
Under HKFRS 9 HKAS 39
RETE
| Ll
BREEMBEREENER #3988
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
E-REE S-EBER SZSER it et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FET
Balance at 30 June 2018 R2018%6 A30H
2 it - - - - 7,626
Transfer B - 7,626 - 7,626 (7,626)
Balance at 1 July 2018 R2018F7H1H
R - 7,626 - 7,626 -
New receivables originated 1 E 4 B U 5118 129 - - 129 -
Transfer to lifetime ECLs not  E & =2 HFEHEE
credit impaired BEMmMIEEERE (1) 1 - - -
Impact on year ended ECLs ~ F A &P 2 M8
of exposures transferred FREHEEER
between stages during Rz
the year - 3,007 - 3,007 -
Impairment loss written off £ A Jif 8531 /&5 18
during the year - (7,627) - (7,627) -
Balance at 30 June 2019 R2019%6 A30H
b 1 128 3,007 - 3,135 -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(if)  Other financial assets (Continued)

(C) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)
ECLs allowances of deposits and other receivables
(Continued)

Except for the abovementioned receivables, the
Group has assessed that the ECL rate for other
financial assets at amortised cost is immaterial under
12 months expected losses method. Thus no loss
allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost.

No significant changes to estimation techniques or

assumptions were made during the reporting period.

Liguidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents which are
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

As at 30 June 2019 and 2018, the Group has no available short

and medium term banking facilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay and includes both interest and
principal cash flows for non-derivative financial liabilities.
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AR AT ARBEHEK A EZ
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ELBCEBVEREEERRTRKYE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMTIA(Z)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) BXEREEEEREEK (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBEZEE (E)
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To NERFEFMERAERERE - EFERER
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted FEMEFEMNEEN - KBRS BEHERS
amount is derived from market interest rates prevailing at the HIRMIRITMS XSS -

end of the reporting period.

More than
Weighted ~ On demand 1 year but not Total
average or within more than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years cash flows amount
1£HE RAUEH
il REXRH @8 b h
EYF|E 1£R 5% o] R {E

% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TFET FET

As at 30 June 2019 201968 30H
Non-derivative financial liabilities L BEE
Other payables HEMENRIE NAZFER 3,724 = 3,724 3,724
Amounts due to related parties JEf B 5 A NARER 5,868 = 5,868 5,868
Fixed-rate other borrowing EEFEEMER 12% 3,060 = 3,060 3,001
12,652 - 12,652 12,593
As at 30 June 2018 20186 A 30H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTLECBEE
Other payables HEMENIE NATE 3,811 - 3811 3,811
Amounts due to related parties JE 1~ BB 7 A N/ARiE A 5,368 - 5,368 5,368
9,679 - 9,679 9,679
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these financial assets
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used).

Fair value as at

6. EMIRARZE)
SWMIAE>AVENE
SR EEAEENAET S TEREAEN

N ERHEER -

REEEMBEREZN FETENIEHTHE

EHAFHE

AEBISEMEEN SRS RRLFER
E-TRABEHGANNEEZSTEREE
ZRFHE(EERMABGBETDEREABRE) -

RTIEMBLFEE
30 June 30 June Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 2019 2018 hierarchy and key input(s)
2019 20184
SMEE 6HA30H 6 H30H LFERR FEHEREAEEASE
HK$’000 HK$°000
TFETT &
Financial assets at FVOCI /AFS
investments (Note 20)
— Listed equity securities - 9,181 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
— Unlisted equity interest 15,422 16,114 Level 3 Market approach
Major significant unobservable inputs:
(i) Price-to-book (“P/B”) ratio of
comparable listed companies;
and
(i) Discount for lack of marketability
BRoFEMARMZERRH
SMEE THAERE
(Htet20)
— ETRANE 5 - 9,181 E—& RIS E AR
— Ik kA i 15,422 16,114 FE=4 %A
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMTIA(Z)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAZAFETE(E)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value RIEZEMBEER L FETENEIEFLHE
on a recurring basis (Continued) EWAFHE(E)

Fair value as at

RTIHBBAFEE
30 June 30 June Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 2019 2018 hierarchy and key input(s)
2019% 20184
eMEE 6A30H 6 H30H AFERYN FEAEREEBHAHE

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T

Financial assets at FVPL (Note 26)

— Listed equity securities 26,379 27,071 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
— Suspended listed equity 31,808 38,100 Level 3 Index Return Method
securities

Major significant unobservable inputs:

(i) Change in share price of
comparable listed companies
during the suspension period;
and

(i) Discount for lack of marketability

— Unlisted investment fund - 477 Level 2 Quoted price based on net asset value

— Unlisted convertible bonds 7,797 8,998 Level 3 Discounted cash flow model for debt
component and the Black-Scholes
Model

Major significant unobservable input:

(i) Discount rate

BATEHARSHEMAE
(Htat26)
— LMRAES 26,379 27,071 B ERTTIR MR E A E
—EF L TRAES 31,808 38,100 F=H it {Ekbr
TEEATABRTEALE :
() 15 B B MRS A bk 8 L A Al
MRESE R
(i) BEERS IR AT
~FLIREARES - 477 B EREEFENRE
— 3 LT AR E 7,797 8998 E=# BERSRERR (EEHH) R

B —EFRER N
EFBERTAERGAHE

(i) BRIR=
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring hasis (Continued)

There was no change in valuation techniques during the year
ended 30 June 2019. The Directors believe that the estimated
fair values resulting from the valuation technique(s), which are
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, and
the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

Below is a summary of relationship of unobservable input(s) to

fair value, significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of

&MTIR(E)

EMIRZAVEFEE)
RELEZMBEZ L FETSEHNIEDEHBE
EHRFEE)

MRBZE20196 A30H ILFE @ HEF AL E
B BEERRMBETE/BZAFTAFEMR
REMBIRKRAR) RARAFEZE (K8
mREMEEREAR) SEE  TRANKREH
REIREZEE-

R20194%6 A30H » TAIBR B ABEREAQF
BENREE TRTAGEIEATAIEREGA

financial instruments together with a quantitative analysis as at HBERTEDTOMENT :
30 June 2019:
Relationship of Significant
Valuation unobservable input(s) unobservable Sensitivity of fair value to
Financial assets technique to fair value Input(s) Range/amount  the input(s)
FUBRRBABER EXTAHE
EMEE HESE LFEHRE WARE BE /¢ WBABRBOTEIHRE
Unlisted equity interest ~ Market approach Higher the P/B ratio, P/B ratio 1.37 times 5% increase (decrease) in
— approximately higher the fair value the P/B ratio would result
HK$15,422,000 and vice versa in increase (decrease) in
fair value of approximately
HK$771,000
Higher the discount rate  Discount for lack of 20% 5% increase (decrease) in
of lack of marketability, marketability the discount rate of lack of
lower the fair value marketability would result
and vice versa in (decrease) increase in
fair value of approximately
HK$193,000
AR - miE% miEEdE  ATEYE WRX 13715 MEREEMOAL)5% 88
415,422,000 7T B RZMA BATEEMORD) K
771,000 7T
RzmSRBENEER MRz TEREE  20% B2 TG 6 Bh IR R
s NFERE - i MORA) 5% & BHAF

RZ R
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mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIA(E)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAZAFETE(E)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value RIEZEMBEER L FETENEIEFLHE
on a recurring basis (Continued) EWAFHE(E)
Relationship of Significant
Valuation unobservable input(s) unobservable Sensitivity of fair value to
Financial assets technique to fair value Input(s) Range/amount  the input(s)
ATHRBANER EXFTRE
EMEE HESE LFEHRE BABE 6E &8 BARBEAFECHRE
Suspended listed equity  Index Return Method ~ Higher the share price Change in share price -35.05% to 5% increase (decrease) in
securities of the comparable of comparable -2.99% share price of comparable
- approximately companies, higher companies during companies would result
HK$31,808,000 the fair value and vice the suspension in‘increase (decrease) in
versa period fair value of approximately
HK$303,000
Higher the discount rate  Discount for lack of 35% 5% increase (decrease) in
of lack of marketability, marketability the discount rate of lack of
lower the fair value marketability would result
and vice versa in (decrease) increase in
fair value of approximately
HK$856,000
EFEELMRAES - REERE AL R RHRE EEEEBRET -35.05% AL B B AR B N ORL
#)31,808,0007%5 7 we ATESS - HBRARIMRE £-2.99% 1)5% 8 EHAFEEM
RZ % 2% (8 2) #1303,000# 7T
REZMERELENEE  HERZTHREE 3% Wz g E’Jﬁﬁfﬁﬂ'
s NHERE - i MORL) 5% BEHA
R Z TR & Gl J\>iﬂﬁjju278560oo
BT
Unlisted convertible Discounted cash flows Higher the discount rate,  Discount rate 15.93% 5% increase (decrease) in the
bonds - approximately model for debt lower the fair value discount rate would result
HK$7,797,000 component and and vice versa in (decrease) increase in
the Black-Scholes fair value of approximately
Model HK$10,000
FImaakEF-  HRAGREEN  HRXgs ATEE ARX 15.93% MREEMOAD)5% 88
#)7,797,0007 7T (BBH) kAN B R2TA HATECHD) Z MK
R A RETELR 10,000% 7T
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HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)

&mMIRE)
SMIAZATFENE(H)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value RIEAEMBEER L FEFTENEIEFLHE

on a recurring hasis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

EH R FE(E)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E=—® EW B=® et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 30 June 2019 20196 A30H
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEFAEMEE
W= aEE
— Unlisted equity interest —JE TR A = - - 15,422 15,422
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFAEZED
TREE
— Listed equity securities — F R ARE
excluding suspended (TBEFEE
shares HEH MG 26,379 = = 26,379
— Suspended shares —HIEEENRD - = 31,808 31,808
— Unlisted convertible bonds —JEEmABRES - = 7,797 7,797
26,379 - 55,027 81,406
As at 30 June 2018 1201846 A 300
AFS investments AIIEERE
— Listed equity securities — FRRAE 9,181 - - 9,181
— Unlisted equity interest — I E TR ARRE S - - 16,114 16,114
Financial assets at FVPL BATFEGTAEERN
TREE
— Listed equity securities — EHRAE
excluding suspended (TEELE
shares EEMRG) 27,071 - - 27,071
— Suspended shares —EEEEMRG, - - 38,100 38,100
— Unlisted investment fund —FELTREES - 477 477
— Unlisted convertible bonds —3E AT R (E - - 8,998 8,998
36,252 477 63,212 99,941
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 and no transfers HZE2019F6A30HILFE  F—REF 4

into or out of Level 3 during the year ended 30 June 2019. 2B EAEMER - IEEALEHE =R -
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mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMTIA(Z)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued) SMIBEZRATEFE(E)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value RIEBAREMEER L FE #s B E L E
on a recurring basis (Continued) EWAFHE(E)
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year HE2018F6 H30ALFE  E—REF -4
ended 30 June 2018. During the year ended 30 June 2018, ZEWEMMER - §HE2018F6 4300 IEF
there was a transfer of fair value measurement from Level 1 into B FTRABLENAFEFEHRE —HEA
Level 3 for listed equity securities. The details of movements in F=ZH - BE=MATFEFENESFHBOT :

fair value measurements in Level 3 are as follows:

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements Z

2019 2018
Financial Financial Financial
assets at assets at assets at AFS
FVPL FVOCI FVPL investments
BRAFE

BATFE FFAHAh BRFE
ARG 2EKSEM RSN A HIHE

SMEE SMEE CREE ®E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT FAET FET
At beginning of the year REH 47,098 16,114 - 38,715
Addition NE - - 9,300 -
Redemption &[0 (1,100) - - -
Transfer from Level 1to Level 3 FE —REB AL =K
(Note) (Ktat) - - 58,267 -
Change in fair value recognised MEZHRERZ A FEEH
in profit or loss (included in Gt ARAFERA
change in fair value of financial EBZFMNEREE 2
assets at FVPL) NFEZS) (6,393) - (20,469) -
Impairment loss on AFS AHIEERER
investments A 18 - - - (14,717)
Change in fair value recognised B’\E‘rﬁziﬁﬂﬂl = TR
in other comprehensive NEEES GTARTF
income (included in fair value B RE# (7] @)
reserve(non-recycling)) - (692) - -
Reclassification adjustment upon =] 4 § € 5 & i (5 i £
impairment of AFS investments & #717 £8 7% - = - (7,884)
At end of the year RER 39,605 15,422 47,098 16,114
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring hasis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

Note: The transfer from Level 1 to Level 3 is due to the suspension of
shares trading of equity securities, Convoy Global Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 1019) (“Convoy Shares”), since 7 December 2017.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and transfer out
of Level 3 as at the date of event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 30 June 2019 and 2018.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of Group’s
financial assets and liabilities recorded at cost or amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values as at 30 June 2019 and 2018.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating and reporting segments have been
identified on the basis of internal management reports prepared
in accordance with the accounting policies conform to HKFRSs,
that are regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, being
the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) of the Group,
in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performances.

The Group’s operations have been organised based on
three operating divisions as described below. Similarly, the
information reported to the CODM is also prepared on such
basis. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving the reportable segments of the

Group.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are

as follows:

e Provision — secondary tutoring services, primary
of private tutoring services, skill courses and
educational test preparation courses, franchising
services income, English language training and

test preparation courses and dance
tuition services

e |nvestmentsin - trading of securities
securities

e Money lending - providing loans as money lender

Other operating segments which do not meet the quantitative
thresholds prescribed by HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” for
determining reportable segments are combined as “Others”.

During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Group acquired two
subsidiaries with businesses which are included in the “Provision
of private educational services” segment.

“Property investments” segment was discontinued due to
disposal of entire equity interest in Ultimate Elite Investments
Limited (“Ultimate Elite”) which held 100% equity interest in
Vision Smart Limited (“Vision Smart”) (collectively, “Ultimate
Elite Group”) and Dignity Choice Limited (“Dignity Choice”)
on 28 August 2017 and 29 September 2017 respectively
(see Note 39).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

BARSBREH (&)

AR ARENA HREMEEDHMAOT

o REHAA — PEHBRYE - NEHE
HERY R - RERIELEAR
2 RRFEERA 9%%%

RO B S R A2 A S 5%

B R 5
o AR BEEES
- BE — ERERARHER
ANEEAMBRELANFSRLLENHIA
MEEA RS D HBNEEENEMEE D

AlaptRIHEM] -

REE20185F6 A30R ILFERN - AEBEWE
MR B QA - BRI ATRRLAZRER
%J/\i °

R E2017F8 A28 H &2017F9 A29H % 5l
it & Ultimate Elite Investments Limited ([ Ultimate
Elite ]) (E ## 4& Vision Smart Limited ([ Vision
Smart 1) 100% & #) (%t [ Ultimate Elite &= &)
&D|gn|ty Choice Limited ([ Dignity Choice |) #9

EHBRE W MERE] DR EEE (R
MTE?39) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results

7. WARSHEH (&)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

(a) ZEBAREE

REBREERAIHE

2 EEITHIRA K

results by operating and reportable segments: EESNWT -
For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZ201946 530 H IFF/E
Provision
of private
educational  Investment Money
services  in securities lending Others Consolidated
RELA
BERE REES B8 Hth #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Segment revenue ELON
(revenue from external CEE SIS ON)
customers) 104,934 - 4,006 - 108,940
Segment results DEELE (47,838) (20,977) 3,939 - (64,876)
Finance costs HIEER (40)
Share of results of joint ventures ~ [EI5 & &N A1 ¥#4E (571)
Unallocated corporate income RO BE R AIMA 3,866
Unallocated corporate expenses A< ELA BRI X (15,274)
Loss before tax PRELAIES B (76,895)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(a) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (a)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

7. WARSEHEH (&)

DPEHBAREE (E)
AREBIREE RO REDIETHWRA K
EEOWOT : ()

results by operating and reportable segments: (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2018 BZ201846 530 H IFF/E
Provision
of private
educational  Investment Property Money
services insecurities  investments lending Others  Consolidated
RELA
HERE  REEF  WERE EE Hh @
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Segment revenue DEYA
(revenue from external (RENBERPKA)
customers) 104,994 - 570 3,463 - 109,027
Segment results DEEE (40,712) 34,510 431 (4,175) (3) (9,949)
Loss on disposal of AFS HETHHEERENBE
investments (3,053)
Impairment losses on AFS AtEER ERRERSE
investments (23,771)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (& KB 2 Al 60 4Las 13,731
Gain on disposal of an associate & — B2 A Al M) 4as 55,826
Gain on disposal of a joint venture 1 & —A € R AMME 1
Finance costs BHBER (3,415)
Share of results of joint ventures ~ [E(EA SN AIEE (16)
Share of results of an associate  JE{G — B & N EIEE (16,924)
Unallocated corporate income N WNGIL N 5,357
Unallocated corporate expenses KD E A AR X (27,457)
Loss before tax BREiAIE R (9,670)

BREKERRENKEBEOTERTMGE
DEHEGE EFETHBELARFTALZESD
MO HEEAER BHEATHEER

The CODM assesses segment results using a measure
of operating loss whereby certain items are not included

in arriving at the segment results of the operating

segments (i.e. loss on disposal of AFS investments, EWEE AIHESRENRERE B
impairment losses on AFS investments, gain on disposal EWBAR —MBELATIR—HEEA

AR HBBR EEAEATR—
MR A TEE  RHEATRARSE -

of subsidiaries, an associate and a joint venture, finance
costs, share of results of joint ventures and an associate,

unallocated corporate income and expenses).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. MARSEBEER (&)
(Continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (h)y »HEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AEERBRLERAIMEDBETHEER
liabilities by operating and reportable segments: BESNBT
As at 30 June 2019 H20194 65 30 H
Provision
of private
educational  Investment Money
services  in securities lending Others Consolidated
RELA
BERS REEH HE Hth #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Assets gE
Segment assets DEEE 63,201 73,367 41,636 = 178,204
Unallocated assets AOMEE
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MBS 6,174
Other loan receivable EWEMER 43,000
Interest in a joint venture R—FE&ERAER 4,851
Financial assets at FVOCI ERAFEFAEMER
RENEREE 15,422
Other corporate assets HREEE 6,334
253,985
Liabilities i
Segment liabilities DEEE 30,475 911 50 - 31,436
Unallocated liabilities AnEBE
Current tax liabilities BT B 1R 74
Deferred tax liabilities ERIBRE 137
Other borrowing HipfE® 3,001
Other corporate liabilities Hi AR BE 1,180
35,828
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

liabilities by operating and reportable segments: (Continued)

REMEmRME
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

7. WARSEHEH (&)

(b)) 2WEERERE(E)
AEEREERAREDMETNEER
BEANMT : (&)

As at 30 June 2018 201846530 H
Provision
of private
educational  Investment Property Money
services in securities  investments lending Others  Consolidated
RALFLA
HERYE  REER  WERE £ Het st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Assets BE
Segment assets DHEE 77582 76,516 - 34,261 - 188,359
Unallocated assets AOREE
Bank balances and cash RITEBRIAS 40,208
Promissory note receivable YRR EE 48,000
Interest in a joint venture R—EaERANER 6,422
AFS investments AHRHERE 25,295
Other corporate assets HAFEE 7778
316,062
Liabilities =X
Segment liabilities PHERE 27,149 - - 50 - 27,199
Unallocated liabilities RAEEE
Current tax liabilities NEHEEE 13
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE 169
Other corporate liabilities HiRABE 425
27,806
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRME
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. BARSBEH (&)

(Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to the operating segments
other than bank balances and cash (other than
those included in the money lending segment), other
loan receivable/promissory note receivable, interest
in a joint venture, financial assets at FVOCI/AFS

investments and other corporate assets; and
e all liabilities are allocated to the operating segments

other than current tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities,
other borrowing and other corporate liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RRMEE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARSEBEH (2)
(Continued)
(c) Other segment information (c) HEtpIpER
Provision
of private
educational  Investment Money
services  in securities lending Others Consolidated
REHILA
BERE #EE% - Htt i

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THET FAT FAT FHET

For the year ended EFE20196H30R

30 June 2019 LEE
Capital additions ERRE (1,873) (47) - (352) (2,272)
Depreciation and amortisation e RE#E (9,533) (617) - (52) (10,202)
Reversal of provision for long RORBESEERD

service payments 456 - - - 456
Change in fair value of financial IR AFEFTAREN LA

assets at FVPL BEMNRFEZS - (19,826) - - (19,826)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREEE (1,665) - - - (1,665)
Impairment loss on other HAb U IE R ERE

receivables (2,939) (29) - (167) (3,135)
For the year ended BHZE2018F6H30H

30 June 2018 IFFE
Capital additions ERRE (4,837) (141) - - (4,978)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (7,947) (845) - ) (8,793)
Reversal of provision for long RERB 2B EELD

service payments 295 - - - 295
Change in fair value of financial AT ETABZAE R

assets at FVPL BENATEZSY - 31,521 - - 31,521
Impairment loss on goodwill EERESE (559) - - - (559)
Impairment loss on other HiEREERERR

intangible assets (2,626) - - - (2,626)
Impairment loss on other HinEWGRIE R EEE

receivables (7,643) - - - (7,643)
Impairment loss on a loan BN EFRERE

receivable - - (7,493) - (7,493)
The Group’s assets, revenue and results for the year ANEFNRNEE R G NE B LA b = B 3 5%
derived from activities located outside Hong Kong are less HMEE WANEELVRAEERAFENR
than 10% of the Group’s total assets, revenue and results BE - WAREEN10% o
for the year.
No individual customer accounted for over 10% of the PWEFER BIEENRE(EAREFRIA
Group’s total revenue during both years. HBiE10% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MKmRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. BARSBEH (&)

(Continued)

(d) Revenue from major services

d) EERBYRA

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#&T FET

Secondary tutoring services rh 2 RS 53,879 71,640
Primary tutoring services, skill courses and ~ /NEFHER - RERE X

test preparation courses B R A2 18,555 15,162

Franchising income Frar g A 5,704 4,509

English language training and test HEEIIRERRE

preparation courses 9,229 11,243

Dance tuition services EERABERG 17,567 2,440

Rental income el A - 570

Loan interest income =&/ PSR PN 4,006 3,463

Total revenue FEA N 108,940 109,027
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OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

8. Rt - R RER

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
Interest income on L TEIERFEHLA
— other loan receivable/promissory note —HAa R E R R
receivable =5 3,216 5,035
— unlisted convertible bonds — LM BRERES 635 314
— bank deposits —iRITIFX 6 4
— other interest income —E A B WA 9 4
Loss on write off of property, plant and WEEME - BB REERNEE
equipment (903) (34)
Supporting services income SRR WA 139 605
Impairment loss on T & IERREEE
— goodwill —E (1,665) (559)
— other intangible assets —HihmEEE - (2,626)
— other receivables — E {th fE UG 5k 18 (3,135) (7,643)
— a loan receivable — U E - (7,493)
(Loss) gain on disposal of HENATEEDN (BE) W
— subsidiaries — M B A A] - 13,731
— associates /Nl = 55,826
— a joint venture ——HE&aERH - 1
— AFS investments —AEEERE - (3,053)
Others H A, 2,103 1,773
405 55,885
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRME
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. M¥EH

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRET F&ET

Interest expenses on bank and other BITREMEENTEMXT
borrowings 40 135
Effective interest expense on loan notes EREENERFERE - 3,070

Interest expenses on promissory note AN EoRESNe b

payable (Note) (Ha) - 210
40 3,415

Note: The interest expenses on promissory note payable arising from
the issuance of promissory note payable for the acquisition of a
subsidiary by the Group during the year ended 30 June 2018.
The promissory note payable was issued by the Group on 30 April
2018 and subsequently fully repaid by the Group on 22 June
2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

10. LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

10. BRI AIE 1R
BBATEEE R (M) THIEE

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&TT FET

Directors’ emoluments = 1,432 3,554

Other staff costs Efh 8 TR 47,602 36,212

Other staff's retirement benefit scheme H b B TR RKEH

contributions FHEIHER 2,252 1,526

51,286 41,292

Tutor contractor fee to a Director M—RESZHERARE - (152)

Total staff costs B T AARARE 51,286 41,140

Auditors’ remuneration % Gk 690 630

Write off of other receivables i1 8 L Ath e W ROR 1 -

Write off of promissory note receivable Wﬁ%%%%ﬂ%ﬁz - 5,529

Reversal of provision for long service payments & Hf iR 7 & B 5 5 @l (456) (295)

Gross rental income from investment properties & ¥ 4 AU A - (570)
Less: direct operating expenses incurred for B RENEERS KA

investment properties that generated MIEEMEEE

rental income during the year WEELERS - 9

- (561)

Tutor contractor fee is calculated based on (i) certain EBEIEBBIIRENRETEHERS R EE

BIREARBRANETFTE AL Kii)/NE
HERY BRERBEREARB2E)EEE
(ii) fixed hourly rate on primary tutoring services, skill courses WBETE -

percentage of revenue derived from secondary tutoring services

and English language training and test preparation courses; and
and test preparation courses.

Operating lease payments represent the minimum lease KEHENFERBLCEHEMHEA(ZEZR
payments under operating leases paid or payable to lessors BYE=F)ENSHENNRERENK -

which mainly are independent third parties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

1L EERFRITHRARHMERAGES

EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID Fol{E R B Eam
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Directors’ fees ER0e 360 463
Other emoluments to Directors MEEYNAOHEMEE
— basic salaries, allowances and —HARFE BB NEAM
other benefits in kind Z e T 1,032 2,733
— discretionary bonus —BNIBIEAT - 154
— retirement benefit scheme contributions —IRIREFIFT 8 3 40 52
1,432 3,402
Tutor contractor fee to a Director M—REELMNEMEABRE - 152
1,432 3,554
The bonus is determined with reference to the operating results, BADNE2ERNMFANKEEER  BAARR

individual performance and comparable market statistics during

both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 1. EFREFETHARHNBMERANRS
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID #wElE R BB (&)
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)
Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the Directors and AEBREERTETBRAEINHMEFE
chief executive are as follows: wmr
Other emoluments
Hiti &
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other Tutor benefit Share-
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary contractor scheme based
fee in kind bonus fee  contributions payments Total
EXFad Mk
AR M BT HEn
g EWiRdl PR SEREHE HERR % it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FRT FET FET

Year ended 30 June 2019 #E2019%6RA308

I2:3:
Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey EEEAE - 600 - - 18 - 618
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai LRELE - 216 - - 11 - 227
Mr. Wong King Hol EAElEE - 216 - - 11 - 227
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee A5t 120 - - - - - 120
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James REBRA 120 - - - - - 120
Mr. Fenn David BEELE 120 - - - - - 120
Total @t 360 1,032 - - 40 - 1,432
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRME
For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z201946 A30H I-F /&

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 11.EERFETHAENHMERAMRS
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID FMES REE (2)
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Other emoluments
EftMe
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other Tutor benefit Share-
Directors' benefits  Discretionary contractor scheme based
fee in kind bonus fee  contributions payments Total
£5Fs MR
2R R RIREH RER
ESHe ENET WL BHREE STEIRH IS @

Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
it TET TR TET TET TET TET TET

Yearended 30 June 2018 EZE2018F6730H

I5E

Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey  EBEB%E (i) - 31 - - 12 - 343
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai EREEE (i) - 149 - - 7 - 1%6
Mr. Wong King Hol el () - 139 - - 7 - 146
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee 5t & £ () 77 - - - - - 77
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James RHBRE (i) o4 - - - - - 54
Mr. Fenn David BEELE (i) 17 - - - - - 17
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu hEARE (v) 66 - - - - - 66
Mr. Wong Yuk Tong ITERRHE ) 112 - - - - - 112
Ms. Wu Mei Chu WERLL (i) - 415 154 - 11 - 580
Mr. Lee Wai Lok, lgnatious ~ ZEZL5%4

(“Mr. Lee") (33 (viii) - 1,699 - 152 15 - 1,806
Mr. Pun Kwok Shan BRI (iv) 3 - - - - - 3
Mr. Ong Chi King B b (vi) 43 - - - - - 43
Mr. Lee Shu Fai TRIBLA () % - - - - - 5%
Total @t 463 2,733 154 152 52 - 3,564
Notes: Bt
(i)  Appointed on 10 November 2017 (i) 2017411 A10 A BRI
(i) Appointed on 24 October 2017 (i) # 2017410 A24 REZT
(iii)  Appointed on 19 January 2018 (i) 720184F 1 A19 A E (T
(iv) Appointed on 10 May 2018 (iv) 201845710 AREZAE
(v)  Appointed on 24 October 2017 and resigned on 10 May 2018 (v) 720174 10 A 24 REZAT A A 20184
(vi) Retired on 19 December 2017 5 A 10 AT
(vi)) Resigned on 21 December 2017 (vi) F2017412 A 19 BRI
(viii) Resigned on 9 November 2017 (vi) 72017412 A21 B &
(ix) Resigned on 26 October 2017 (viii) 52017411 A9 A &HT

(ix) PA20174 10 A 26 HEHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11L.EFRFETEARNMERAGRS
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID & R B BEm(2)
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)
The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year, REFRAEEZRAUGSHFMALTH  — £
one (2018: two) was Director whose remuneration are set out (2018F - MA) BES  BEZHMFBEHR
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining X %THE (201845 =) ZoHFM AL
four (2018: three) highest paid individuals are as follows: ZERFEEEHMFBOT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Basic salaries, allowances and HEAH ¢ ZHNREGMEY
other benefits in kind & Fl 2,451 2,326
Discretionary bonus 1B IEAT = 111
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRE T B R 63 46
2,514 2,483
The number of the highest paid individuals who are not FWRATHEBE  HFES 2 ESFTMAT AR
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is wn
as follows:
2019 2018
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 A#
HK$1 to HK$500,000 17702 500,000 7% 7T 1 -
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 /& 7T & 1,000,000 7% 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% T & 1,500,000 7% 7T -
4 3
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HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 11LERTRFETHARNHMERAMES
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID FEN{E R & BEm (F)
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Details of tutor contractor fee of the five highest paid tutors REAN Ao HHEm (TeEES) NS

(excluding Directors) during the year are as follows: EABBEFHBLT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
Tutor contractor fee AR B 12,614 15,258

The tutor contractor fees to the five highest paid tutors (excluding RS SEHEm (FTeEES) HEMEALE

Directors) were within the following bands: NELATEE :
2019 2018
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 A&
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T £ 1,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T 2 2,000,000 7T 2 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7t & 2,500,000 78 7T 1 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7% 7t = 3,500,000 7T - 1

HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000

6,000,001 % 7T & 6,500,000 /& 7T 1
6,500,001 % 7£ % 7,000,000 7 7T =

AEBEVERAEENAUKSHHES LG
ST € VE R TR BN A SRR A0 A S S B B £ B
TRIERBEREE -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors or the
five highest paid employees and tutors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

During the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018, no director
waived or agreed to waive their emoluments on a voluntary

REZE2019F R 2018F6 H30 R ILFE - #H &
EEOMNEXRENEEME -

basis.

ENEBATESEINNT S RHRREME
VRN -—RARBEEARFREMNBARSE
BHRANEMRSALOE I RERME

Salaries, allowance and other benefits in kind paid to or for the
executive Directors are generally emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of those persons’ other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries.
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mEMBHRRMETE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

12. INCOME TAX 12. R IR
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
Current tax: BVERR IS -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BENEH
— Provision for the year —F B 45 -
— Over-provision in respect of prior years —BAEFEBEEE (78) (57)
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) R ARFEME ([FRE])
Enterprise Income Tax EFTEM - -
Deferred tax R I8 (33) (57)
(32) (1,381)
Total income tax credit recognised in RERERZEHERETE
profit or loss (65) (1,438)
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated BEMEHBREBEMESE 2 At BT AR Z
assessable profit for both years. 16.5% MFLEFTHE ©
The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is based on the PRECERSHBEEDBRERREBIE 2GR
estimated taxable income for PRC taxation purposes at the rate AR ARESEEMER M EGTE - R
of taxation applicable to each year. A subsidiary established in 2 B A B R M E A R Y91 25% B AN 1b %
the PRC were subject to Enterprise Income Tax at 25% for both Frigii -
years.
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HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

12. INCOME TAX (Continued)
The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to loss before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

12. FRrBM (2)
AEEMHER CREABRREMEEKZE
EEREMOBRR A EBYENT

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FET

Loss before tax B i A 5 18 (76,895) (9,670)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated #2746 B8 Rl AR 8 F &9 &5 18

at the rates applicable to loss in the MEFENRBBIEEN

jurisdictions concerned HERIA (12,692) (1,726)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 78 ;2 % I A B9 75 78 S & (1,003) (17,571)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax AN HFRAS R ETE

purpose 4,885 9,460
Tax effect of share of results of associates BB E R R EENT BT E - 2,792
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures JEReaE R EENBBTE 94 2
Tax effect of temporary differences not REREREZHENHETE

recognised 783 (592)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERBRBEBEEOREZE 8,365 6,582
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BABTREROTEERE

recognised (419) (328)
Over-provision in prior years BT FERERE (78) (57)
Income tax credit for the year FRAEHER (65) (1,438)
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13.

14.

LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company for both years are based

on the following data:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

13. BRI IR
ARBFEAANREFEEEZSRER L
SBERTRBATEIEH -

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted AU ESRERR
loss per share BEEENER
Loss for the year attributable to owners ARAEEANEBEEE
of the Company B8 (77,438) (8,246)
Number of Number of
shares shares
& E LigvE 4=
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AU ESRER K
for the purpose of basic and diluted HEEE R T AR Ik
loss per share FHE 547,570,880 547,570,880

No adjustment has been made in calculating the diluted loss
per share amount presented for the years ended 30 June 2019
and 2018 as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in

issue during the year.

DIVIDENDS
The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2019 (2018: HK$nil).

HRFERLERITABEENEE L B &
RETEBE2019F 201856 A30H ILFE 2
52 SR E R R RS W E(F LA

14. R 2
EEETREREBE2019F6A30BIFFEX
MREIEE (2018F : |HEIT) ©
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SRE P BmRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. MK - BB R exm

Leasehold Furniture Office Computer
improvements  and fixtures equipment equipment Total
HERE FARRE HBOERF B iR - h
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETL FET FETL FET
COST BE
At1 July 2017 R2017%F7A1H 29,455 5,087 7,218 8,625 50,385
Additions NE 4,002 365 295 316 4978
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 38)  WEEHIB AR (#1:£38) 3,589 200 23 119 3931
Disposals/write off &/ (195) - (283) (5) (483)
At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 R2018F6 A308 K
2018%F7A1H 36,851 5,652 7,253 9,055 58,811
Additions NE 1,389 190 190 503 2,272
Disposals/write off HE /M (2,553) (247) (408) (32) (3,240)
At 30 June 2019 7201946 A30H 35,687 5,595 7,035 9,526 57,843
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RiHE
At 1 July 2017 R2017%7A81H 11,958 2,746 5,660 5170 25,534
Depreciation expense MERY 5,759 698 594 1,211 8,262
Eliminated on disposals/write off HE /Mg (198) - (246) (5) (449)
At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 R2018F6 A30H Kk
2018%F7A1H 17,519 3,444 6,008 6,376 33,347
Depreciation expense NERX 7,606 862 478 1,058 10,004
Eliminated on disposals/write off HE/HsEET 8 (1,886) (167) (262) (22) (2,337)
At 30 June 2019 7201946 A30H 23,239 4,139 6,224 7,412 41,014
CARRYING AMOUNTS IREE
At 30 June 2019 7201946 A30H 12,448 1,456 811 2,114 16,829
At 30 June 2018 R2018%6 A30H 19,332 2,208 1,245 2,679 25,464

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant

and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using the

straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements 20%-30%
Furniture and fixtures 20%-30%
Office equipment 20%
Computer equipment 20%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RRMEE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

16. GOODWILL 16. o &
CGU 1 CGU 2 CGU 3 Total
Be&EE HeEE HeEE
Bl B2 {3 #Et

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

COST 5% 3
At 1 July 2017 R2017F7H1H 60 - - 60
Arising from acquisition of P=Re NS

subsidiaries (Note 38) (H17#38) - 25,448 559 26,007

At 30 June 2018, 1 July 2018 and #2018 6 H30H -
30 June 2019 20187 H1B K
201946 A30H 60 25,448 559 26,067

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION S8 RiRE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2017 ®W2017F 7R 1R - - - -
Impairment loss recognised BRERBEEIE - - 559 559

At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 720184 6 H30H K&

20187 A1H - - 559 559
Impairment loss recognised EERREEE - 1,665 - 1,665
At 30 June 2019 7201946 A30H - 1,665 559 2,224
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2019 7201946 A30H 60 23,783 - 23,843
At 30 June 2018 7201846 H30H 60 25,448 — 25,508
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HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. 8 (&Z)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to three cash generating units (“CGUs”) which
are engaged in money lending business (“CGU 1"), private
educational services (“CGU 2”") and IT services (“CGU 3"),

respectively.

CGU 1 — Money lending business

Based on the result of impairment test, no impairment loss
on goodwill allocated to CGU 1 is recognised during the years
ended 30 June 2019 and 2018.

CGU 2 - Private educational services (dance tuition services)
As at 30 June 2019, the recoverable amount of CGU 2 is
determined based on value-in-use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated
weighted average growth rate of 3%. This growth rate does not
exceed the long-term average growth rates for the market in
which CGU 2 operates. The cash flows are discounted using
a discount rate of 14%. The discount rate used is pre-tax and
reflects specific risks relating to CGU 2. Other key assumption
for the value-in-use calculation relates to the estimation of cash
inflows/outflows which included budgeted sales, such estimation
is based on the CGU 2's past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development including the
fluctuation in dance tuition services business in the current
economic environment in Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. 8 (&Z)

CGU 2 - Private educational services (dance tuition services)
(Continued)

As at 30 June 2018, the recoverable amount of CGU 2 has been
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD").
In determining the FVLCD of CGU 2, the management has
adopted the market approach (level 3 fair value measurements),
which have adopted P/B multiple in the valuation. Several
companies with business scopes and operations similar to those
of CGU 2 were adopted as comparable companies (“Comparable
Companies”). The Comparable Companies were selected mainly
with reference to the following selection criteria:

— the Comparable Companies selected are principally
engaged in provision of providing indoor physical education
classes (e.g. dance, fitness and yoga);

—  the Comparable Companies have sufficient listing and
operating histories; and

—  the financial information of the Comparable Companies is
available to the public.

Key assumptions used in the FVLCD calculation of CGU 2 for
the year ended 30 June 2018 included the P/B multiple of 1.96,
marketability discount of 20% and control premium of 25%.

As the CGU 2 has been reduced to its recoverable amount
of approximately HK$23,783,000 as at 30 June 2019, an
impairment loss of approximately HK$1,665,000 (2018:
HK$nil) has been included in “Other income, gains and loss”
for the year ended 30 June 2019. The Directors believe that
any adverse change in the assumptions used in the calculation
of the recoverable amount would result in further impairment
losses.

CGU 3 - IT services

Due to uncertain operating environment, the estimated
recoverable amount of CGU 3 was below its carrying amount
and goodwill allocated to this unit was fully impaired during the
year ended 30 June 2018 and included in “Other income, gains
and loss”.

REEEEN2-MAHBERYE (EBRHBRY)

20186 A30H - HEeEL B2 2 AT kM@
SREEAFERHERA ([AFEREEXA]D)
B BERSEABU2HAFEBDEXRN
B BEECRATSE(F=RAQFEHE) -
REEFEADEREH KAXHHEREE
B eEABM2RUNETATHERTLER
A (AR AR]D - AILBRARTDEELE L
THERSERE

- MEBENTUBARTENLERHEAR
BEH B RIZ (WNEFEEE - 2 5 Rwfn)

- AHLBRARABRENLTREEESL
53

— AHRAFNMBEHMATRIRER -

AHEBRSEABEM2REIE2018F6 A30H 1
FENAFERHERAREANIEZRRE
FE1.96 T iR 15 8 - ™ 35 48 M 3T &% 20% S 12 il
R E25% °

HRREeELEM2E M D EHR2019F
6 A 30 B rI U [El & %E 49 23,783,000 8 7T * B E
20194 6 A 30 B -5 [ 89l {8 E5 48 49 1,665,000
BT (20184 : T L) Bt ATEMERA - e
kER] -EFRE FEAJRLSEMARRK
B (] /) 22 8 S G B — SRR E 1R -

REEAENI-EMNKRRE

MR ERETAE - BeEEEMINMEEA
WolgHEEREREE MOKEXZEMND
EREE2018F6 A30H L FEEREREL
FEATEMUBA - s REE] -
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. Rt o &

Franchise
Trademark rights IT systems Total
=% W EMRERE # et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
COST 5% 3
At 1 July 2017 M2017F7R18 2,957 1,979 - 4936
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary & B W BT B A &)

(Note 38) (B1i£38) - - 2,960 2,960
At 30 June 2018, 1 July 2018 and 30 7201846 A30H *

June 2019 2018F7A1H K

20196 A30H 2,957 1,979 2,960 7,896
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND Z&tHi#isH R iR {E

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2017 M2017%7HR18 2,957 1,287 - 4244
Impairment loss recognised ERRREEE - - 2,626 2626
Amortisation expense BHER - 197 334 531
At 30 June 2018 and M2018F 6 A30A &

1 July 2018 2018F7H1H 2,957 1,484 2,960 7,401
Amortisation expense BHE A - 198 - 198
At 30 June 2019 # 201946 A 30 B 2,957 1,682 2,960 7,599
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2019 720196 A30H - 297 - 297
At 30 June 2018 # 201846 A30H - 495 - 495

The Group’s trademark protects the design and specification of
“MODERN BACHELOR EDUCATION” logo, and was assessed
to have an indefinite useful life. On the date of acquisition (i.e.

31 December 2010), the fair value of this trademark is assessed

using an income approach under the relief from royalty method

by an independent qualified professional valuer.

Franchise rights represent the right to use the name “MODERN
BACHELOR EDUCATION” under contractual franchise

agreements in the business of primary tutoring services. The

amortisation period of franchise rights is 10 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RRMEE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. REBBEAFIZHER
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAEIT FET
Cost of unlisted investment FELMIREM A 5 5
Share of post-acquisition results and reserves, — FE{5 UL EE 14 348 K HE s
net of dividends received (IR B (5) (5)
Balance at end of the year R A R - —
Particulars of the Group’s associate at 30 June 2019 are as REFER2019F 6 A 30 HHELE A TIEEEW T -
follows:
Place of Proportion of nominal
incorporation/ value of issued capital Proportion of voting
Name of associate operation held by the Group power held Principal activities
BMEL FRARBERT
4 UNCEL BER BFEELH s RRELG ETERH
2019 2018 2019 2018
Modern Legend Management  Hong Kong/ 50% 50% 50% 50%  Investment holding and its subsidiary is
Consultant of Education Hong Kong principally engaged in the provision
Limited (“Modern Legend”) of private educational and training
(Note)* services in the PRC
RRERYEERLEABR AR/ BF 50% 50% 50% 50% REAFRREMBAREERNHEK
RA(RRER]D SRUFAHE RIB RS
(Hiat)*
* Neither Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited nor another member firm * AEEBSMEBEMBR AT RABEER G
of Baker Tilly International is the auditor of the associate. Hihpk B AR IEZ ST E N A X B -
Note: On 18 November 2016, Modern Legend was incorporated and Kzt - R2016%F 11 A 188 MR E S E T ML
the Group subscribed 50% equity interest of Modern Legend. REBRBHRERESH50% K - NEBEEEH
The Group has ability to exercise significant influence through its BRERETFEERTLESN -

shareholding.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these ZBENRNZEREUBHRERFP DIRAER

=)
consolidated financial statements. SENER o
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses of
an associate. The amount of unrecognised share of result of the
associate, extracted from the relevant management accounts of

18. RBELATIZHEE (F)
AEECRILEREEE—HBE QR ZEE -
FARBFARERRIGZB LR ZEERH (7
BREZBEARZARERRBE)WT

the associate, for the year and cumulatively, are as follows:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unrecognised share of loss of an associate FARBREL —EHERT
for the year ) it (269) (358)
Cumulative unrecognised share of losses REFARBEREN —EHE AT
of an associate ) it (819) (550)
19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. REEBEAFICES
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of unlisted investments IE LM E KA 14,000 14,000
Share of post-acquisition results, FE(R B 18 245
net of dividends received (BB U8 (9,149) (7,578)
Balance at end of the year RERE R 4,851 6,422
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mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. REBLAFIZRE (&)
At 30 June 2019, the Group had interest in the following joint MR2019F6 A30H  REBRUTEE AR
venture: BREZE
Place of Proportion of nominal
incorporation value of issued capital Proportion of voting
Name of joint venture and operation held by the Group power held Principal activities
HERmBIR FRERBFCRT
BELFEE BEER BFmELLE R RELLE ETEEH
2019 2018 2019 2018
Full Profit Hong Kong Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50%  Provision of management and
Development Limited consultancy services for kindergartens
(“Full Profit”)
REFREREBRAA e 50% 50% 50% 50%  AHZERHEEREARE
(&g
The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in ZABNARNAERAMEHRERP TV RAERS
these consolidated financial statements. ENER o
Summarised financial information of a material joint venture ERGERAZUKERNBE
Summarised financial information in respect of a material joint AEBERAERAINMNEWNBAR (KEIBYE
venture and its subsidiary (collectively “Full Profit Group”) of the SE)CHBERBEEHIIMT o Rz
Group is set out below. The summarised financial information BEERBENIEALARRET SV EHRE
below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial FRARE W BRERPATHEEE -
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.
Full Profit Group BEEH
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FiET
Current assets MENEE 2,504 4,101
Non-current assets EREBEE 1 3
Current liabilities nEaE 978 1,619
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mEMBHRRME
For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z201946 A30H I-F /&

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. REEBAFIZIER (&)
Summarised financial information of a material joint venture ERAEQAIZUBERBEE)
(Continued)
Full Profit Group (Continued) BEEH(E)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the FHEENEBEBESHEEENTSIE
following:
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ETT FET
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFELEEY 2,476 4,065
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade nBpeRABEBTEBEEIR
and other payables and provisions) L FE A FRIE R ) — —
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FEL
Revenue WA 2,092 4,672
Profit for the year FEaF 1,042 2,157
Other comprehensive income for the year FEAEMPERA - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FEETEBRALTE 1,042 2,157
Dividend received from the joint venture ERENGIEEET S 1,000 1,500
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19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

19. REEQFIZHES (&)

Summarised financial information of a material joint venture
(Continued)

Full Profit Group (Continued)

The above profit for the year includes the following:

| =]
EXRGERAZUBERBE (&)

E58 (&)
ERFERENBEA TSR

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Depreciation and amortisation ITE N 2 4
Interest income HEHA 1 1
Taxation I8 125 431

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Full Profit Group
recognised by the Group in the consolidated financial

LA BERMBRANEENGEE M BEREA
PN B SRl 2 et iR E(E 2 H 5K

statements:
Full Profit Group BEEH
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FiET
Net assets of Full Profit Group BLEEEMEEFE 1,527 2,485
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in ~ ZN& EA B L &= [F ¥ A REfE 25
Full Profit Group #9 Eb 51 50% 50%
Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition WEERF N EAR FE 14,000 14,000
Other adjustments H {th & (9,913) (8,820)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REBRBESE s Em R
Full Profit Group [ERED 4,851 6,422
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HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20. RAFEARZERGHESME
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/AVAILABLE- E AHHNERE
FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

30 June 2019 1 July 2018 30 June 2018
20194 20184 20184
6A30H 7A1H 6 A30H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt F&T FET F&ET
Financial assets at FVOCI BROFEMARMEE
WK ERMEE (i)
— listed equity securities — BB LMRAES
in Hong Kong, at fair value BAFE (i) - 9,181 -
— unlisted investment fund, —JLmEEES
at cost DN (iff) - - -
— unlisted equity interest —/BINE TR AR
in overseas, at fair value BERFE (iv) 15,422 16,114 -
15,422 25,295 —
AFS investments At ERE (i)
— listed equity securities — BB LMRAES
in Hong Kong, at fair value BAFE (i) - - 9,181
— unlisted investment fund, —JLmEEES
at cost DN (iff) - - -
— unlisted equity interest —/BINE TR AR
in overseas, at fair value BATE (iv) - - 16,114
- - 25,295
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

()

(ii)

(iii)

Available-for-sale financial assets were reclassified to financial
assets measured at FVOCI (non-recycling) upon the initial
application of HKFRS 9 at 1 July 2018 (see Note 2).

As at 30 June 2018, the listed equity securities represent the
shares of GET Holdings Limited (“GET”, a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8100) held by the Group
which are stated at fair value with reference to the quoted market
bid price in the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Group had disposed of
an aggregate of 26,010,000 shares in GET and all shares in Target
Insurance (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 6161) resulting in
the aggregate loss on disposal of approximately HK$3,053,000
recorded in the profit or loss and approximately HK$2,168,000
which had been reclassified from investment revaluation reserve
upon the disposal.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group has disposed
of all remaining shares in GET resulting in a loss on disposal of
approximately HK$48,000 recorded in the other comprehensive
income and approximately HK$2,379,000 which has been
reclassified from fair value reserve (non-recycling) upon the
disposal.

The unlisted investment fund represents the investment in private
fund established in the Cayman lIslands. The unlisted investment
fund is held for an identified long term strategic purpose so the
Group does not intend to dispose them in the foreseeable future.
During the year ended 30 June 2018, due to the uncertainty in
the prospect of this investment, the management considered that
the probability to fully recover investment in the investment fund
would be remote and as a result, the unlisted investment fund was
fully impaired by the Group during the year ended 30 June 2018.

On 14 March 2019, Wise Action Limited (“Wise Action”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, accepted the offer from Convoy
Collateral Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability, an independent third party to purchase all
shares of the unlisted investment fund at the disposal price
of approximately HK$8,992,000 (“Disposal Price”) by cash
settlement in 34 instalments from March 2019 to December
2021. Upon the disposal, the Disposal Price is discounted to
its present value using a pre-tax discount rate and a fair value
gain of approximately HK$7,556,000 is recognised in other
comprehensive income. The remaining loss of approximately
HK$1,499,000 which had already been included in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling), has been transferred to accumulated
losses.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

20. BAFEFIARZEBRNEME
& THEERR(E)

Wit

() T2018F7H1BEREREEMBHREEIE
IR AIHHECREEENORERATE
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(i) M2018F6HA30H  EHRAESFEAEER

ENESERERAR(TES]  —HRBXM
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ERNSERBZAART IS EABIRATET

HZE2018F6A30RIEFEAN  AEEEHE
& #£26,010,000 1% & 5 R 19 & BT B 2= IR B (4%
BOBBRAR (—HERBRAMERLETZAF
Befn (5% - 6161) BORXfn - EEAE & B IR ARRRAY
3,053,000 % 7T 70 48 5 1 8% A K2 49 2,168,0007% 7T
ERNLERAREE[FERENSEA -

BIE2019F6 A30R L EAR AEEBEHE
BB TR - B4 EEE 148,000
B TT R E 2 M R BRI %9 2,379,000 7T
EREERBATERB (TR R EFNOME-

(i) FLTREESERASHERIIZLAZER
B EMEREESNRHERAEERRERE
R MARERTEERERESHEES - &
E2018F6 A30R LLFER - AR IR E AT
R2IHEEE BEERANKREESZREL
SRR [B] 4 7T B ME AR A - (A b AN 5 R B = 2018
FOANALFENDHIELTREZSEER
-

M2019F3A14H ARAIMHESZENE R
AEBERAA(EB) EXREVMBAERA
RI(RBIE=T —HARBEEEZMRILNER
DA EL mHEEELS992,0008 T ([HE
EBDBEMAFRLTREZSRD - B2019%F
3AZE2021F 12 AN 34BUBR A ER - ©
HER - HEBURTATERRUREHRE
A EW R X7,556,00058 7T B 7 E s 2 H s
THER - DR AR FERE (TR E18) KO8R T8
1H#)1,499,000 8 TE B = RETEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20. RAFEARZERGHESME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/AVAILABLE- E THMERRE(E)

FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) BaE - (48

(iv)  On 9 November 2016, Fastek Investments Limited (“Fastek”), (iv) 7201611 A9H * H# = &M@ A 7 Fastek
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a subscription Investments Limited ([ Fastek |) E24% 3% & 77 & 4&
agreement with the investee and the guarantor, to subscribe RAEIMRE W - AT 2 R (B 428,459,000
approximately 9.49% of unlisted equity interest at a cash B REIE LM RAEZRL9.49% ° K 2017 F
consideration of approximately HK$28,459,000. On 24 January 1 A 248 - Fastek LATR & {8 472,372,000 4 7T
2017, Fastek further subscribed 13 rights shares of the —PREBIELTRAERMIIRERRSD 5
unlisted equity interest at a cash consideration of approximately BRER A HEEERATDRENBAR (58
HK$2,372,000. The investee acts as an investment holding [WIREEE]) TERERNEENEERS &
company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Investee Group”) A ERERH BEERE - REHEMEE
are principally engaged in the dealing in securities, advising on BRI RIEE X

securities, advising on corporate finance, asset management,
provision of wealth management service and money lending
business in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the agreement, the guarantor guarantees to BIE R E - L ERAM Fastek (REBHIRE K ER
Fastek that consolidated net profit after tax for the year ended HZE2017F12 31 HIEFEMGRAERBEEBLT
31 December 2017 of the Investee Group will be not less than 5 ~54 28,000,000 8 7T+ & AIER A ZE M A E
HK$28,000,000, failing which the guarantor shall pay to the BEURSINEZENET B ((ZERD - RR
Group the shortfall in cash with a multiplier (“Guarantee”). On the BHH EERE TEERERIARE T
date of subscription, in the opinion of the Directors, no contingent AR ERSARBRAFELAEK - JELTRA
consideration receivable is recognised as the fair value of the BRRIARERREBRRREHRNATE
contingent consideration receivable is not significant. The fair N2 E-—ZBIABEREEMBEMENRMISE
value at both the date of subscription and the end of the reporting MR ESEEBANGHBEENERRSREEHE
period of unlisted equity interest and contingent consideration TRERER -

are arrived based on market approach and expected cash flow
approach of the Investee Group’s forecast financial budgets
respectively, by reference to valuations carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the management had HZE2019F6A30HLFERN  ERBELR
determined a fair value loss of approximately HK$692,000 (2018: E-—RBUAEREEMEMET ZHED
approximately HK$14,717,000) by reference to valuations carried EERFEEEL692,0008 T (20184 : 4
out by an independent qualified professional valuer. 14,717,000 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

21. NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS 21. ERENEE
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Rental deposits (Note 22) Hekse (Bit22) 9,260 7,954
22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. B R HMEWRIA
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ETT FET
Accrued revenue and trade receivables JEETUW AR & 5 e U F A 967 1,004
Rental deposits Heke 13,449 14,016
Other deposits Hfbite 646 783
Prepayments BT RIR 1,497 1,577
Other receivables H th fE W IE 21,744 25397
Less: Impairment loss on other receivables A Bt R IR MR E SR (3,135) (7,626)
35,168 35,151
Less: Rental deposits (shown under B Heke
non-current assets) (FIAFERBIEE) (9,260) (7,954)
Trade and other receivables (shown under B 5 & E b fE U SR IE
current assets) (FINRENEEE) 25,908 27,197
Included in the Group’s other receivables, prepayments and FTARSE B A E MR RIE - BN RIERIE
deposits were rental deposits and other receivable amounting & AL 49,260,000 7T (20184 : 49
to approximately HK$9,260,000 (2018: approximately 7,954,000 7T) K 493,388,000 JT (2018 4F :
HK$7,954,000) and approximately HK$3,388,000 (2018: TET)NHESERS NEMERZIE - BHERN
HK$nil) respectively, which are expected to be recovered or —FRWENEREAL -EHMEEMNES
recognised as expenses after more than one year. All of the REMERFIBEHR —FAREI X ERAERSL -

other trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered

or recognised as expenses within one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MKmRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(a) Ageing analysis
The following is an aged analysis of accrued revenue and
trade receivables, presented based on the invoice date at

22. RS R AU RIEA (&)
(a) BREEDH
AT ABEREARERAH (HESWA
R B HRE) 27 MR A R E 5 81

the end of the reporting period which approximated the IR EREC AT -
respective revenue recognition dates:
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
Accrued revenue not yet billed M) A 25 AR B Y IR ET A 443 483
Trade receivables: Z 5 WA
1 to 30 days 12 30H 410 238
31 to 60 days 31260H 107 168
61 to 90 days 61ZE90H - 21
More than 90 days HBiB90H 7 94
967 1,004

Trade receivables are usually due within 30 days (2018:
within 30 days) from the date of billing. Further details on
the Group’s credit policy are set out in credit risk in Note 6.

EHRENAERETOEHRE 2 AT
30H W (20184 : 30H W) B - HRIAE
BEERRNE—SPHBEHRAWITEE
BB o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2. 85 REMEWKRIE(Z)

(b) Trade receivables that are not impaired (h) WEBENE S EWRKIE
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither FENEEBTHIAERATRENE S
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as JEUGRIERBRER DT
follows:
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
Neither past due nor impaired B 4 380 HA U ORI (B 485 592
1 to 30 days past due BHEI1Z=30H 386 189
31 to 60 days past due BEI31ZE60H 89 146
61 to 90 days past due #HI61 2= 90 A - 15
More than 90 days past due BHEIQ0 B A k£ 7 62
Amounts past due mES 482 412
967 1,004
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate B 4% 480 HA T R (B B FE L 5K TR B 5 AR P A
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent EYHEBNEZEFEE -

history of default.

As at 30 June 2019, receivables that were past due but MR2019%F6 A30H © 2@ E{BE I E R E S
not impaired relate to a number of independent customers JE W R I8 B % 7 B R R (B B R E AL 8%
that have a good track record with the Group. Based on MBLREFEH ERBALH BEE
past experience, management believes that no impairment REVEVERZEERIED BERE
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as RRABEEEXZWESEREIREHBER
there has not been a significant change in credit quality AAEELE o

and the balances are considered fully recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

23. OTHER LOAN RECEIVABLE/PROMISSORY NOTE 23. Kt B SR &R RE

RECEIVABLE

On 7 September 2018, Rosy Lane Investments Limited (“Rosy
Lane”), a directly wholly-owned subsidiary entered into an
agreement (“Loan Disposal Agreement”) with Mr. Wong Kui
Shing (“Mr. Wong”), an independent third party, in respect
of disposal of the promissory note receivable. Pursuant to
the Loan Disposal Agreement, Rosy Lane has conditionally
agreed to sell and assign, and Mr. Wong has conditionally
agreed to purchase and be assigned, Rosy Lane’s rights,
titles, benefits and interests in and to the outstanding principal
and interest accrued (“Aggregate Outstanding Sum”) of
approximately HK$53,529,000, the promissory note receivable
and the Share Mortgage at a consideration of HK$48,000,000
(“Consideration”) with maturity date on 17 June 2019 (“Maturity
Date”).

The Consideration was determined after arms’s length
negotiation between Rosy Lane and Mr. Wong principally
with reference to the amount of Aggregate Outstanding Sum
as at 30 June 2018 and its recoverability, with a discount
of approximately 10.33%. A write off of approximately
HK$5,529,000 was recognised in “Other operation expenses”
for the year ended 30 June 2018.

A repayment commitment letter is signed by Mr. Wong, to repay
the outstanding principal of HK$43,000,000 and interests of
approximately HK$3,216,000 in 7 instalments from 31 August
2019 to 29 February 2020.

Mr. Wong settled the first instalment, amounting to
HK$15,000,000, on 31 August 2019 in accordance with the
revised repayment schedule. The Directors considered the
other loan receivable is recoverable as at 30 June 2019 and no
impairment loss is recognised during the year ended 30 June
2019.
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MR2018F9A7H EEE2EMWE A F Rosy
Lane Investments Limited ([ Rosy Lane J) B2 ¥& <7
FEZHFEMEE ([EAED 5t & EUBEN
ERFIviE((ExLERzE) - BEERD
E W% Rosy LaneE B KHRENE REZE
MmEXRECHE KGR EREE WL # T EERosy
Lane 753,529,000/ JT A i A& g Bl AR & K fE 5
FE(HARKEEARE]  EURALERR
DR BEERN A FamkiEs RE
748,000,000 7T ([RE L) - B/ EIH A20194
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T EREELE R AKRBSELENR2018F
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ERMEE2018F6 A30B L FEERTH KL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RRMEE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

24. LOAN RECEIVABLES 24. B E =R
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
Loan receivables fEUE 7R 48,393 39,253
Less: Impairment loss OB EEE (7,493) (7,493)
40,900 31,760

Loan receivables represent outstanding principals and interest
arising from the money lending business of the Group. As at
30 June 2019 and 2018, all of the loan receivables are entered
with counterparties with a maturity within the next twelve
months except for a loan receivable with outstanding principal
and interest as at 30 June 2018 in the aggregate amount of
approximately HK$7,493,000 which has been past due and
impaired by the Group during that year with a maturity in
February 2018.

As at 30 June 2019, the loan receivables are interest-bearing
at fixed rates mutually agreed between the contracting parties,
ranging from 8.5% to 10.5% (2018: 8% to 10%) per annum
and all loan receivables were unsecured.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its loan
receivables in order to minimise credit risk by reviewing
borrowers’ and their guarantors’ financial positions.

The Group has a policy for assessing the impairment on
loan receivables on an individual basis. The assessment
includes evaluation of collectability and aged analysis of
the loan receivables and on management’s judgement on
creditworthiness, collateral and past collection history of each
borrower.

Except for the loan receivable of approximately HK$7,493,000
impaired during the year ended 30 June 2018, all other loan
receivables were neither past due nor impaired at the end of
the reporting period. Receivables that were neither past due
nor impaired relate to customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
Note 6(ii)(B).

BREREARBEEEEGMEE 2 AL
Ra RHE - R2019F & 201856 A30H * P
BZEETON S —HEI L2 BKE TR ARK
T ZEARE - HR20185F 6 A30 R M AR EE
AR S R A B & HH#7,493,000% 7T 2 W E R
(RR2018F2 A2IH) froHh - REEBHW AR
BN ZFERELRE -

201946 A30H F B E KR A 77 HF
HENFEF85%E10.5% (20184 : 8% &
10%) Z BEEMZEFT S - MAA B E T SEER -

$%I;TEFH&E KA SKEFTERABIRS] - BB
%ﬁf\&ﬁﬁ*{%/\zﬁﬂ%ﬂkﬁ NEER
ﬁ:f?

AEBAREREEFERKERZBENR

o BT B 1A 3 B W B R 2 AT W Bl 1 R £ K R
DIMAREEBHZERAZEE - Ef A
N B U BR RS 8% 2 H i

BRI EIE2018F 6 A30 B IEFE AR WE TR
16 #)7,493,0008 7T » FT A At & UL E R0 e
EHRBE R BB IR RAE L RE - BERBE IR
1 R0 18 A JE SR 0 BT H F B 0 RCER A R
FER -

BRAKEEERRNEZFIEHNME6)B)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

25. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

25. Bl —RHBE 2 FIRTA

Maximum amount
outstanding

during the year

REREREED
mEe#
At 30 June At 30 June
2019 2018 2019 2018
#20195F 20184
6 30H 6 H30H 2019 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET TFET FET

Modern Legend BRES

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable

on demand.

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

780 612 910 612

FZRAREER R RRERFEER

26. BAFHHARBHSRMEE

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FRET FEL
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong, 1% ®$TE§U RMAES LM
at fair value J& AN 75 3 (i) 26,379 27,071
Suspended listed equity securities in 12 A (B IR EF B
Hong Kong, at fair value TEEE LMRAES (i) 31,808 38,100
Unlisted investment fund, RAESRrIIE LT
at fair value WEES (i) - 477
Unlisted convertible bonds, RAESRIIIE LT
at fair value A]mRES (iv) 7,797 8,998
65,984 74,646
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26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(ii)

The amount represents equity securities listed in Hong Kong. The
fair values of the investments are determined with reference to the
quoted market bid prices in the Stock Exchange.

As at 30 June 2019, the fair value of the suspended listed equity
securities represents the Convoy Shares, which was determined
by the Directors with reference to valuation carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer. During the year ended
30 June 2019, loss on change in fair value in respect of the
Convoy Shares amounting to approximately HK$6,292,000 (2018:
approximately HK$20,167,000) was recognised in profit or loss.
Such unrealised loss represented the decline in its fair value by
comparing its carrying amount as at 30 June 2019 and that prior
to the suspension of trading.

On 22 March 2017, the Group through Wise Action, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, subscribed for 7,750 participating
shares in an unlisted investment fund with a subscription amount
of US$7,750,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$60,927,000).
The unlisted investment fund represents a private fund
established in the Cayman Islands.

On 27 June 2017 and 28 July 2017, the Group served notice to
redeem its interests in the unlisted investment fund in the amount
of approximately US$3,875,000 and US$3,976,000, representing
approximately 3,794 and 3,892 participating shares in the unlisted
investment fund, both at the redemption price of US$1,021.36
per participating share. Upon completion of the redemptions
as at 30 June 2018, the Group remains to hold approximately
64 participating shares in the unlisted investment fund.

The management had determined a gain on fair value change of
approximately HK$652,000 based on closing net asset value of
the fund at 30 June 2018 and recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 30 June 2018.

On 31 July 2018, the Group served notice to redeem its remaining
interests of approximately US$62,000, representing approximately
64 participating shares in the unlisted investment fund, at the
redemption price of US$980.77 per participating share, resulting
in a gain on disposal of approximately HK$13,000 recorded in the
profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2019.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

26. RAFEAAREHEMNEE (F)

His -

() BREERBEBLTOREAES - REZATE
TESERBZ BT ISEANBRETE -

(ii) BA2019¢6H30E| EEEEFTMRAZFESZ
AREEERERD HBHESKL2BRBILAE
REEGEMETZHEETE - REE2019F
6A30BILFEN  BEELERHD 2 AFEES
&5 18 496,292,000 7T (20184 : 4 20,167,000
BIL)EREBEZER - ZSABRBREER
ER2019F6 A30 EY D'\%ﬁuzﬁﬁﬁfém
bz B &% -

(iii) EA2017¢3H A -AEEEBEEEENES
RAIEBRE—EFLMIREESH7,7508

S - REERA7,750,000% 7T (HH & 74
60,927,000/ 7T) ° F E MR EE S R — AN H

SEHENTHLEES -

M2017%F6 A27H k201747 H28H A%
EMEHBNBOANFELITREESEERY
3,875,000% 7T }23,976,0005% T 2 # % - HHE
I LETHRERS 43,794 % & 3,892 1% 2 8 ik
3 BEEHABR2ERGK1,021.36% 7T B
201846 A30 R sepk B E 12 - REE N IE L
MREESHRENCARSELL) -

EHERESMN2018F6 A308 WM E EF
EEEQATEZBUKEL6520008 7T LHRE
F£2018F6 A30 H IEFEARIBRIER °

201847 A31H *ZIK%%Hj%%%DEE@EK‘
JFLETRERESH62000E TR TR -
ERAARZER D B“”@Fﬁjlﬂx/,\ﬂxﬁ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iv)

On 12 January 2018, the Group acquired unlisted convertible
bonds from an independent third party at a cash consideration
of HK$9,300,000. The convertible bonds were issued by Larry
Jewelry International Company Limited (a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8351) (“Larry Jewelry”).
The convertible bonds is unsecured, bears interest at a fixed rate
of 7.5% per annum and will mature on the second anniversary of
the first issue date (i.e. 4 September 2019) (“Maturity Date”).

The initial conversion price of the convertible bonds is HK$0.3
subject to adjustments in accordance with the certain conditions.
The conversion period of the convertible bonds commencing from
the date of first issue of the convertible bonds up to and including
the date falling on the seventh day immediately prior to the
Maturity Date.

At any time prior to the Maturity Date, Larry Jewelry may
redeem the convertible bonds at 100% of the principal amount
outstanding plus interest accrued by giving written notice to the
Group. The Group has no right to request Larry Jewelry to redeem
the convertible bonds at any time prior to the Maturity Date.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the unlisted convertible
bonds of HK$1,100,000 were partial redeemed by Larry Jewelry.

As at 30 June 2019, the fair value of the unlisted convertible
bonds were determined by the Directors with reference to
valuations carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer. During the year ended 30 June 2019, loss on change in
fair value in respect of the unlisted convertible bonds amounting
to approximately HK$101,000 (2018: approximately HK$302,000)
was recognised in profit or loss.

26. BAFEHAAREHEMEE (F)

Hiat (&)

(iv)
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NERD BT -ARARESFTEEMN R7.5%
BEEF AR SWNETE ARTE _ERFH
FH(BN201959 R4 R) (TRHAD) -

AR EF 2 IR ERERCIBIL  AIREE
THRM T AGRE - A RES 2 B0 H A E iR
BREFETEDRCZEEZINMAMNELR (BF
E?E)JJ:E@FQ °

REHBEREEEER  EXELREBRAE
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27.

28.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carried interest at market rates ranging from
0.125% t0 0.135% (2018: 0.001% to 0.02%) per annum.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s bank balances and cash with
an aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$322,000
(2018: approximately HK$1,932,000) were denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB") and placed with bank in the PRC, which
is not a freely convertible currency in the international market.
The government of the PRC has implemented foreign exchange
control and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is
subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the government of
the PRC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

27.

HBITHBRERRA®
WITHBIEN FTEHEF0.125%£0.135%
(20184 : 0.001% ZE0.02%) M5 FI K& 8. -

720194 6 A30H - A& E4ARREE4) 322,000
77T (20184F : 491,932,000 7T) 2 #R1T 48 84 I
REAARE (TAREDE X HERHPED
RIT - MARBLIFFETS L2 BEHARER -
TERFEETIIEEH - EELFEEI
AR BT B e 2 FE SRR I AT AR R

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. Ht BRI R ES B A
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Other payables E iy fE S F00E 3,724 3,811

Accrued tutor contractor fee, salary and bonus ~ fEFHEEIABE - HE M

and other accruals TEAA R EMEE R 11,882 5,827
15,606 9,638
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INCOME 29. aMAR TBEKRA

30 June 2019 1 July 2018 30 June 2018
20194 20184 20184
6A30H 7H1H 6 H30H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEIT FET FET
(Note)
(B17t)
Provision of private educational RIEFAKE RS
services
— advances received from —BEFKEINBR
customers 10,336 10,851 -

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative Meg - AEBEEVISHARBRYELEAT BV HR

effect method and adjusted the opening balance at 1 July 2018,
accordingly, an amount of approximately HK$10,851,000 was
reclassified from deferred income to contract liabilities.

The contract liabilities primarily related to the advance
consideration received from the students for the provision of
private education services, for which revenue is recognised
when the services have been rendered.

The movements in contract liabilities are summarised as follows:

HAERE 155 - WHN2018F7 A1 HAERD
fEeh - A BUEE 49 10,851,000 78 T E MR AE 4
ABHNDBEARHAR -

BHBEIZARBEHRLARERE B LR
BTN RERR - BB AREH IR R -

BRABENESHHALT

HK$'000

FET

Balance at 1 July 2018 R2018F7 A1 8 2% 10,851
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising REVEREFTAELHERE
revenue during the year that was included in contract NERR=EEEHEERLD

liabilities at the beginning of the year (10,715)

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of provision of AR HFAHE RIEE
private educational services SHBEEM 10,200
Balance at 30 June 2019 R2019F 6 B30 H 2 &4 10,336
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30. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 30. EFIRABE A RIA
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
Amounts due to a director and a non-controlling B F|E K E 2R AR A A
shareholder of Able Investment Development ([FEEE]) —REER
Limited (“Able Investment”) — & IR R AR R R IE 495 495
Amount due to a director of Wind Fly Dragon BT ERERBRER AR
Int'l Limited (“Wind Fly”) (TFEME) —RESEHIA 5,373 5,373
5,868 5,868
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable ZEERTVERR 2B RIZEREERER -
on demand.
31. OTHER BORROWING 31. Hfh =
As at 30 June 2019, other borrowing of the Group from an MR2019F6 A30H  AEERBE—RBBUE=
independent third party is unsecured, repayable within one year FHEMERDERTE FR—FRAEELK
and carried a fixed interest rate at 12% per annum. FF12% B EFIEFT B -
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32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 32 REMBAKRR

The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised and
movements thereon during both years:

AT AMEFEERNEEHRERBENREES :

Accelerated

Intangible tax
assets depreciation Total
EEE MERRARE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET FiET
At 1 July 2017 R2017F7AH1H (113) (89) (202)
Credited to profit or loss during FRREEPETA (M)
the year (Note) 33 - 33
At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 7220184 6 A30H &
20187 A 1H (80) (89) (169)
Credited to profit or loss during FARRBRPETA
the year 32 - 32
At 30 June 2019 7K 201946 H30H (48) (89) (137)

Note: Credit movement in respect of deferred tax liabilities of
approximately HK$1,348,000 contributed by the disposed group
classified as held for sale was not included in the credit movement
to profit or loss during the financial year 2018.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately HK$190,861,000 (2018: approximately
HK$142,701,000) available for offsetting against future profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. As at 30 June
2019 and 2018, no deferred tax assets have been recognised
in respect of tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit

streams. All tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely.
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Wi 5 B R AR L 18 9 1 5 4 7 45 401,348,000
TR IE B8 B 18 015 B 8 B 3 5 3T A 2018 Bf
BEEREDEEEDT -

RBEERR AKFENRPBREABRD
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mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

33. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 3. RAARRTE 2 1

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
At beginning of the year REL) 1,267 1,599
Credited to profit or loss during the year FFAFRNER (456) (295)
Reductions arising from payments FERE £ Z 1R (5) (37)
At end of the year RER 806 1,267
The provision for long service payments is based on the best REART & B#E DRIEBER KA RO EEMETE
estimate of the future payments required to settle the obligations - MARNKRTARGEERE S B EFED

under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in relation to the RAEEEFENEEBAENETE -

employees of the Group in Hong Kong.

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. B&E
Number of shares Amount
& A &8
HK$'000
FET
Authorised JEE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each HFREEO.05E T T
At 1 July 2017, R2017F7H18 -
30 June 2018 and 20186 A30H &
30 June 2019 2019 6 A30H 6,000,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid B #FiT R E
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each HREEOSE T E B
At 1 July 2017, M2017F7H18 -
30 June 2018 and 2018 6 A30H &
30 June 2019 2019% 6 A30H 547,570,880 27,379
The shares issued rank pari passu with other shares of the BETRMORATEFEERRARE BT 2 Eit
Company in issue in all respects. None of the Company or its IR h =B EFHA - REZE20194F K 20184F
subsidiaries repurchased, sold, redeemed or cancelled any of 6A30BILFER AR Ak EKE QR ME
the Company’s shares during the years ended 30 June 2019 BEE - HE - BEEHEEMARTRD o
and 2018.
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 35. MR HEat 2

The Company has a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) which was adopted pursuant to a resolution in writing
of all shareholders passed on 11 June 2011 (“Adoption Date").
The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to attract and
retain the best available personnel and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to full time or part-time employees,
Directors (whether executive or non-executive), consultants,
supplier, customer, joint venture partner, business associates
and advisor (professional or otherwise) of the Company for their
contribution to the Company and to promote the Company’s
success. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 4 July
2011 (“Effective Date”). Subject to earlier termination by the
Directors and approved in advance by the shareholders in a
general meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effecting for a period commencing from the Effective Date and
expiring at 5:00 p.m. on the business day preceding the tenth

anniversary of the Adoption Date.

The total number of shares of the Company available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate, exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the Effective
Date.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of the
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled or outstanding options) to each
participant (other than a substantial shareholder, chief executive
or director as explained below) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being. Any further grant of share options in excess of this

limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 35. Rk ® (2)

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive Directors (excluding any independent
non-executive Director who is the grantee of the options). In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director of the Company, or
to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of the
grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of grant, are subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in writing
by a participant within 21 days from the date of offer upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee.
No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. The
exercise period for the share options granted is determined
by the Directors, which period may commence from the date
of acceptance of the offer for the grant of share options but
shall end, in any event, not later than 10 years from the date
of the conditional adoption of the Share Option Scheme by
the shareholders subject to the provisions for early termination
under the Share Option Scheme.

AARREE TBETRABRTIERRARK
FEAZEMBEAL(EER LTRANDEKT
BREAEANBBIFNTES (TRESR
BREARA ZEMBYIFRITES) 4 - It
S MERBEERHBH (BHEZA) L+ @
AHEA BT ARBEERRIBIIFHRTT
EFUREFATABEA L Z TMBEAE
BEARAZHEITERMD 20.1% A 8E (RER
HERARR RS 2 T (ERE) #78 5,000,000
BT RIZBEBRAE EBUSIRRALE -

RERABRIBTz2EREER  2EBEAR
SZHBEHRFA2IANAEEEMNERBRE
B2H - REBEREBAINRE BEROBK
BZITEHREFRE  ZHEAIREAER
BEEZENANME  BERDOAAERBRR
BiRHRABEET SR BB T F AR
WARBREEIA N ZRPBEIEARIR -
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 35.

Details of the share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme to Directors, employees, consultants and other
eligible participants of the Company during the year 2018 and

movement in such holding during last year are as follows:

FERREatE (=)

R2018FFEARBBREFEIMNAAFTES -
BE HAAREMEAERSEERL ZER
BEBENEFAMBRBREZZBFHFNT

Exercisable Outstanding Lapsed Exercised Outstanding

price per at 1 July during during at 30 June

Date of grant Exercisable period share 2017 the year the year 2018

R2017F #2018%

7A1H 6A30A

BHAM fTEm BRTER AETE FREN FRTE ARTHE

Directors 23.01.2017 23.01.2017 t0 22.01.2018 1.142 10,144,000 (10,144,000) - -
B2 2017€1A23H 20171 R23BE2018F1A22H

Employees 23.01.2017 23.01.2017 10 22.01.2018 1.142 25,343 483 (25,343 483) - -
B8 2017F1A23H 1751A23BE018F1A2A

Consultant 23.01.2017 23.01.2017 10 22.01.2018 1.142 5,072,000 (5,072,000) - -
EAA 2017F1A23H 1751A23BE018F1A2H

Others 23.01.2017 23.01.2017 10 22.01.2018 1.142 5,072,000 (5,072,000) - -
Bt 2017F1A23H8 1751A23BE018F1A2H

Total
@it 45,631,483 (45,631 483) - -

Exercisable at end of the year

RERAITHE

Weighted average exercise price (HAS$)
METHTEE (ET)

During the year ended 30 June 2017, 35,487,488 options were
granted to the Group’s Directors and employees on 23 January
2017. The Group recognised total expense of approximately
HK$10,647,000 for the year ended 30 June 2017 in profit or
loss in relation to share options granted by the Company to
the Group’s Directors and employees. The weighted average
fair value of share options granted to the Group’s Directors
and employees during the year ended 30 June 2017 at

measurement date was approximately HK$0.3 per option.
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
During the year ended 30 June 2017, 10,144,000 options
were granted to other parties on 23 January 2017. The fair
value of the share options granted to other parties amounted to
approximately HK$2,921,000 has been recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 30 June 2017.

The share options of the Group are accounted for equity
share-based payment under HKFRS 2.

Options granted are fully vested at the date of grant.
The fair values of the share options granted to Directors and

employees were calculated using the binomial option pricing
model. The inputs into the binomial option pricing model were

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RRMEE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

35. MR At @ (2)
B ZE201746 A30 8 IEFE A + 10,144,00013
BRECN20I7FIAZERETAEMT - KT
H 75 60 B8 B HE ~ P {E492,921,00078 TLE R &
E2017F6 A30 B L FEIBa T HER

AEBENBREREEEMHRELRNE2H]A
ARDI s AR D AR Z 5K -

L BERER R B EERER -
RTEShEEMNBREZ AFENER A

AREEEATUFE - —AAHEEER
AFTRHEAZETT

as follows:

Date of grant 23 January 2017
#wHA™M 2017 1A 23H
Closing share price at the date of grant R B ERDKTE HK$1.110# 7T
Exercise price 11 (E HK$1.142 7% 7T
Contractual option life & AR F 1 year
Risk-free rate 4 3 fg F1) 2 0.850%
Annualised dividend yield FLE B & 0%
Expected volatility of underlying share R R 10 & T8 B R 1@ 79.829%

Expected exercise multiple

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the most recent
period commensurate with the expected life of the share
options.

The fair values were calculated by an independent qualified

professional valuer.

During the year ended 30 June 2018, total of 45,631,488 share
options were lapsed. During the year ended 30 June 2019, no
share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. As at
30 June 2019 and 2018, no share options were outstanding.

EHITTE R

1.60X-2.47X

BHREIDERARAREREBRERYF
HIER 2 OO M E R R IRETE -

RFEDH—RBLABREEGHEMTIAGE

REBZE2018F6 A30BILEFER - & H
45,631,488 BE IR E 2 K& - MBI E 2019 F
6A30BIEFE  WEBREERE  17/# &
SHE R R - 20194 201846 H30H + If &
1) AR AT 6 #0 A HE o
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36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 36. EEHEXIE

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for the following future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases to mainly independent third
parties in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

AEBEABEA

RBEHR  AEERBETIHELCEHER
HEVETZRBIYE = A XTNARRER
SEREFBBERIAT

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ETT FET

Within one year —FRr 35,324 38,159
In the second to fifth years inclusive FoEEERF(HEEMF

BIEEA) 28,806 48,816

64,130 86,975

Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for lease terms of
110 5(2018: 1 to b) years.
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37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING J7. MEEHELERFRHEIE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TR AEEMEETHMELEBENE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash BEReMIEREEFH BRETZFMELEE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for AREREXARKRRERELRALEELLEEE
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in ERERSEABRETHMESNRESRE -

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

Amounts due

to related Bank Other Promissory
parties borrowings borrowing Loan notes  note payable Total
&£ Rk 75 &R
R BITHER Hth &= ERRE RE tH)
(Note 30) (Note 31)
(M530) (Bt 31)

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET TET FET FET /& FET

At 1 July 2017 120177 A1H 495 14,400 - 150,500 - 165,395
Repayments of loans, BEEN AEER.

promissory note, borrowings &5 e 45 % B

and to related parties HE (158) (14,400) - (150,000) (29,000) (193,558)
Interest paid BEAFE - (114) - (3,570) (210) (3,894)
Non-cash changes: HELEE)
Finance costs MEKAK - 135 - 3,070 210 3415
Arising from acquisition of REWERBLA

subsidiaries 5,531 - - - 29,000 34,531
Others Hith - (21) - - - (21)
At 30 June 2018 and R 201846 A30E R

1 July 2018 201857810 5,868 - . - - 5,868
Other borrowing raised Er g E R - - 5,000 - - 5,000
Repayment of other borrowing 128 E 1 fE 7% - - (2,000) - - (2,000)
Interest paid BEARFIE - - (39) - - (39)
Non-cash changes: HHzE
Finance costs BERK A - - 40 - - 40
At 30 June 2019 201946 A30H 5,868 - 3,001 - - 8,869
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND BUSINESS 38. iiMiB AT R XK S

COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of subsidiaries and business combinations during
the year ended 30 June 2018

On 13 September 2017, the Group acquired the entire issued
shares of Wisdom Union Holdings Limited (“Wisdom Union”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively “Wisdom Union Group”) from
an independent third party at a consideration of HK$4,200,000
which was settled by offsetting the loan receivable borrowed by
the vendor from the Group in prior years. The acquisition was
completed on 13 September 2017 and Wisdom Union became
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company upon
completion of acquisition. Wisdom Union Group is principally
engaged in provision of IT solutions in Hong Kong.

On 30 April 2018, the Group acquired the entire issued shares
of Wind Fly from an independent third party at a consideration
of HK$34,000,000, in which HK$5,000,000 was settled by cash
and the remaining HK$29,000,000 was settled by issuance of
a promissory note (“Promissory Note Payable”) by Diligent Lush
Holdings Limited (“Diligent Lush”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, to the vendor. The Promissory Note
Payable bore interest at a rate of 5% per annum and shall be
repayable on 3 August 2018, subject to early repayment at the
sole discretion of Diligent Lush. The Promissory Note Payable
was fully repaid on 22 June 2018. Wind Fly is principally
engaged in provision of dance tuition services in Hong Kong.

The primary reason for the above acquisitions was for the

expansion of the Group’s business and to increase returns to its
shareholders.
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries and business combinations during

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

3B BB LATIRERSH (=2

REZE2018F6 A0 B LFEWBHELQF

the year ended 30 June 2018 (Continued) REBEH(E)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition RUBHFKBENEERBERZNEE
Wisdom
Union Group Wind Fly Total
Wisdom Union
$£E TEMEE et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT FHET
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment W - WEREE 143 3,788 3,931
Intangible assets mREE 2,960 - 2,960
Trade and other receivables B NHE A 390 14,095 14,485
Cash and cash equivalents RehkReEEY 154 1,688 1,842
Liabilities afE
Other payables and accruals H b IE R ERTE A (6) (1,364) (1,370)
Deferred income PRIEYA - (4,124) (4,124)
Amount due to a related party FES A B 5 SRR - (5,531) (5,531)
Fair value of identifiable net BWENERFEEN
assets acquired NE 3,641 8,552 12,193
Goodwill EES 559 25,448 26,007
Total consideration BRE 4,200 34,000 38,200

The fair value of receivables acquired approximated the gross

contractual amounts. The best estimate at acquisition date of

the contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was nil.

P RUCRIEN R FERANESERII -
REBEH AHAEREMNA RS REN

REMGFRE -
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS (Continued)
Acquisition of subsidiaries and business combinations during
the year ended 30 June 2018 (Continued)
Net cash inflow (outflow) arising on acquisitions

3B BB LATIRERSH (=2

REBZE2018F6 A0 B LFEWBHELQF
REBEG (E)
WIETELHRERA (Fil) FHE

Wisdom
Union Group Wind Fly Total
Wisdom Union
%H TERAE #ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Purchase consideration BERE (4,200) (34,000) (38,200)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : FTUt IR & RIS
acquired EEY 154 1,688 1,842
Offset with loan receivable I £ E W B 3R 4,200 - 4,200
Issuance of promissory note payable 277 & <t 7 6, Z 1% - 29,000 29,000
154 (3,312) (3,158)

Goodwill arose from the above acquisitions because the cost
of the combination included a control premium. In addition,
the consideration paid for the combination effectively included
amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce of the Group’s business. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to

be deductible for tax purposes.

The acquisition-related costs of approximately HK$124,000
were recognised as expenses during the year ended 30 June

2018, within other operating expenses.

RN AR ARSI S E - Fit Bk
BEERELABRE - WI RAHFINOREER
BEREREMGREME WAER  RKD
SERREAESEANEGNENSHE - ZFH
@ AT & Al B B E R R IR AT R

ZEWEEHELNBER T EMBE -

MEE2018F6 A30H It F/E @ Wi Z MK
7K#)124,00078 7T B H b 48 & B 2 iR B A
%o
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38.

39.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries and business combinations during
the year ended 30 June 2018 (Continued)

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Group

The acquired subsidiaries contributed approximately
HK$2,440,000 to the Group’s revenue and resulted loss of
approximately HK$5,824,000 for the period between the
respective dates of acquisition and 30 June 2018.

Had the above acquisitions been effected at the beginning
of the reporting period, the total amount of revenue of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2018 would have been
approximately HK$120,751,000 and the amount of the loss for
the year would have been approximately HK$18,340,000. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed at the beginning of the reporting
period, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal of interests in Ultimate Elite Group and Dignity
Choice during the year ended 30 June 2018

On 28 August 2017, Rosy Lane disposed of its 60% equity
interest in Ultimate Elite which directly held 100% equity
interest in Vision Smart at an adjusted cash consideration of
approximately HK$89,568,000.

On 29 September 2017, Rosy Lane disposed of its entire equity
interest in Dignity Choice at an adjusted cash consideration of
approximately HK$30,366,000.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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38.

39.

KRB ARRRBEE6H (&)

RBZE201856 A30 R L FERBKHE LA
REBE 6t (E)

WIEH A EERE

B IEIE B B £ 20184 6 A 30 H (HHARS -
PR AR B P B 2 R 2 R AN SR B B B U A4 2,440,000
78 7T R B BUE £ E18 405,824,000 8 7T ©

BREAKRBRESHIECEN AEH
BLE2018F6 A30R IEFER K AL E
#41120,751,000 8T  MEEE RS EELD
18,340,000 7T - A BZ EFHEHRFA - R R
REGAUERBREMIS ZHHNBERT A
SEEREBMBARKEEE  TIFRKE
AEZTEA -

HEMB AT

REZ20184 6 A 30 A 1L F E 1 & Ultimate
Elite £ [ }2 Dignity Choice 2 fE %%

MR 201748 A28 H * Rosy Lane A& FHEIR &N
{8 #989,568,000 7% st i & H 74 Ultimate Elite &)
60% A% - 1 Ultimate Elite B %% #5 4 Vision Smart
B 2 EPARHE o

R 201749 A29H * Rosy Lane AR #3181
{8 4930,366,000 % 7t i & H 7 Dignity Choice &9

AP ARAE o
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Disposal of interests in Ultimate Elite Group and Dignity
Choice during the year ended 30 June 2018 (Continued)
The net assets of Ultimate Elite Group and Dignity Choice at the

39. HEMB 2R (&)
FAEZ 2018 % 6 J 30 A 1L B i £ Ultimate

Elite £ [ 1 Dignity Choice = # 2 (&)

Ultimate Elite £ & } Dignity Choice 7 H & B HA Y

dates of disposal were as follows: BEFEAT :
Ultimate
Elite Group Total
Ultimate Elite Dignity
=E Choice #et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Assets EE
Investment properties AW 126,200 30,500 156,700
Other deposits Hibize 387 3 390
Bank balances and cash IRITEHR AR 1,634 - 1,634
Liabilities AR
Other payables and accruals HMENFIBERESE R (740) (137) (877)
Amount due to the Group e AR B F A - (18,822) (18,822)
Bank borrowings RITER (23,000) - (23,000)
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIEEE (419) (100) (519)
104,062 11,444 115,506
Non-controlling interests FE¥E AR RE 2R (51,125) - (51,125)
Gain on disposal & W s 13,631 100 13,731
66,568 11,544 78112
Satisfied by: BRI THRER -
Cash consideration BeRE 89,568 30,366 119,934
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (23,000) - (23,000)
Assignment of amount due HEREN NS B IR
to the Group - (18,822) (18,822)
66,568 11,544 78112
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Disposal of interests in Ultimate Elite Group and Dignity
Choice during the year ended 30 June 2018 (Continued)

39. HEMB AR ()
REZ20184% 6 A 30 B I £ E 4 & Ultimate
Elite £ [ 1 Dignity Choice = #£ %% (&)

Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEFEENEERAEHE
Ultimate
Elite Group Total
Ultimate Elite Dignity
$£=m Choice et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET FET
Cash consideration BERE 89,568 30,366 119,934
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (23,000) - (23,000)
Cash and cash equivalents FTtEReRIBEEEY
disposed of (1,634) - (1,634)
64,934 30,366 95,300
40. LITIGATION 40. R &R

(1)

On 19 December 2017, Fastek received a writ of summons
(“Writ”) with Statement of Claim issued in the Court of
First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong (“CFI”) by
Convoy and certain of Convoy’s subsidiaries (“Plaintiffs”)
to claim an order against Fastek, as one of the placees
under the placing of shares (“Convoy Shares”) of Convoy
conducted in October 2015, that Fastek was wrongly
placed the Convoy Shares and wrongly received certain
circular financing facilities by one of the Plaintiffs.

On 31 May 2018, the Plaintiffs filed an amended
Statement of Claim against, among other defendants,
Fastek as one of the defendants, pursuant to which:

(i) Convoy (the 1st plaintiff) seeks, inter alia, (i) a
declaration and order as against the placees that the
allotment of the Convoy Shares is null and void or
has been rescinded and set aside; (ii) an account of
profits and an order for payment of any sums found to
be due, equitable compensation to be assessed, and/
or damages to be assessed for breach of fiduciary,
common law and/or statutory duties, dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful
means conspiracy, as against, among others, Fastek;

I

RETHEBAR ([ZERE)REESS
ERREAEE ([FRAE]) B#HENERS
k(2R ERRRRILE  ZERESE
Sk &t ¥} Fastek (1E & 72 2015F 10 B #172
BB D ((RRRM)) BEEEMEFR—
FABN) ETERERERG MTEER
HEP—ZZERERIMNETRERAR
EWES -

(1) 2017 12F 198 ' Fastek i EFEE K E
54

R201845A31H  xFREFHLEHE (B
EEMRE) Fastek (FREF —RKE) 1
RIEFTHRBLE - R

BER(F—RE)FRKEPEE) (HE
$R RS A BB 72 AR 1) B e 35 8B 1R BE
BRSO HEBEREENBRARES
(iINZEAMBREM—ARERKER
- E@BER/FEEEE THE
BB AR REEFRBRME
4 (B 4%) Fastek F i 89 B B 2 4
EAENRE - BTHE2GFHE
R/ THEZEEHRENRS

(i)
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40. LITIGATION (Continued)

(1)

232 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &H&HE (BIK) &E

(Continued)

(i)  Convoy Collateral Limited and CSL Securities Limited
(the 2nd plaintiff and the 3rd plaintiff) seek, inter
alia, an order against, among others, Fastek as one of
the direct recipients of funds under the said circular
financing arrangement for an account of profits
and an order for payment of any sums found to be
due, equitable compensation to be assessed, and/
or damages to be assessed for breach of fiduciary,
common law and/or statutory duties, dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful
means conspiracy; and

(iii) the Plaintiffs seek against all the defendants (a)

general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; (d)

further and/or other reliefs.

On 5 June 2018, the solicitors for Fastek received a letter
from the solicitors for the Plaintiffs dated 4 June 2018
which clarified that the amended Statement of Claim
(which states “re-filed on 31 May 2018") served on Fastek
on 31 May 2018 has yet to be officially filed in the Court
pending the resolutions of the Plaintiffs’ applications
lodged to Mr. Justice Harris on 4 June 2018 to amend the
Statement of Claim and to add new parties by amending
the Writ.

On 25 July 2018, Fastek received a sealed order of the
hearing for the Plaintiffs’ summons held on 28 June 2018
(“Order”). Pursuant to the Order, it is ordered, among
other matters, that as between the Plaintiffs and Fastek
(among certain other defendants), the Plaintiffs do have
leave to file and serve the amended Statement of Claim.
On 9 July 2018, the Plaintiffs served on Fastek copies of
the amended Writ and amended Statement of Claim.

Pursuant to the Order of Mr. Justice Harris granted on
12 July 2019, the Plaintiffs have filed and served its
re-amended Writ and the re-amended Statement of Claim
on 16 July 2019.

EBERR

40. BF &R

i

(1)

()

(%)
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&) Fastek (1E /% LAl fE IR B & R HE W
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BRBESERERREEREME  TBE
R/SEEEE - THEWRE - IE
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40. LITIGATION (Continued) 40. BFid (2)

(2) On 2 January 2018, Fastek received a petition dated
27 December 2017 made by the petitioner filed with the
CFIl, whereby the petitioner seeks, among other things, a
declaration that the placement of Convoy Shares to Fastek
in October 2015 is void ab initio and of no legal effect.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
19 December 2017, 2 January 2018, 4 June 2018, 7 June
2018 and 25 July 2018 for details on the litigations involving the
Group during the year and after the reporting period.

Given that the litigations are still at a preliminary stage and has
not gone into substantive pleading stage, having considered
the alleged claims and consulted with the Company’s legal
advisers, the Directors are of the views that (i) it is premature
to assess the possible outcome of any claim which is pending,
either individually or on a combined basis; (ii) it is uncertain as
to whether there will be any impact, and if so, the quantum, on
the financial position of the Group; and (iii) no provision for the
claims in these legal proceedings is required to be made based
on their current development. The Directors will monitor these
litigations against the Group closely.

(2) F201841F2H - FastekZ#E 2 AEL
MBEHA2017F12A27B T ERRIRER
EEMZEFE B 2EBASK(EFAEE)
F i 1A 20154 10 A 17 Fastek B2 & 89 5z 7= I%
D EEER  BREERR®RN -

FRPEAKRERAFEARER S HEN
HBFB FLHARABHK2017F
127198 - 20181 H2H - 201856 A4 H -
201846 A7 H 201847 A 25 B 2 A fff

EER BERIMEHOBREFERHADE
ERERE  EEAR O TmABER SR EE
RBRFGEANAFERERROAEERS Z2H
B (AT S D A K E /YRS EK
ERFE Mg AMAEEEFZENEE
Li)RIBRFERER  BANKXTERERF
MEBERELHBE EERETERZEFRAY
AEENTE -
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41. ABB X H
(a) Parties are considered to be related if one party has, (@) WM— 7 BEENTEEMFEDITBRLER
directly or indirectly, the ability to control or jointly control T BB ok A R 1 o ok 2k (R4 o ok B At
or has significant influence over the other party in making FEEATE BZABERAeERHEMAEN
financial and operating decisions. The management is of Bl -BEEERA UWTARALTA
the view that the following companies/persons were related FRERAEERETEARILELEHNE
parties that had significant transactions or balances with B 75

the Group during the year.

Name of related party Relationship with the Group
RS RE BEFEEORE
Sun Ace (HK) Limited (“Sun Ace”) A former indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Hang Tai Yue Group

Holdings Limited (formerly known as Interactive Entertainment
China Cultural Technology Investments Limited), which was in
turn a former associate of the Group up to 15 June 2018

e (BEB)ARQR(#FED EFRBEEZERBER AR (AIBERPBEXERRRERR
AR EE2018F6A15H AREBRAE &R F]) 280
MZE2EMB A A

Mr. Lee A former Director who resigned on 9 November 2017 and a
former director of certain subsidiaries of the Group up to
15 June 2018

FhRAE AITES HER2017F11A0RABME AEE2018F
6H1IHAREEETHWE AR ZAIEES

Progress Ever Limited 100% equity interest held by Mr. Chau Kai Man, a former
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group

EXAR QA BARXEE (FREEETHERARNAMEES) FHE100%
P

Full Profit A joint venture indirectly held by the Group

ane AEBEREFRAENEGERT]
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Save as the balances with related parties as disclosed in

the consolidated statement of financial position, the Group

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

41. BB XS (Z)
(b) BridBIiSHkn & B mag 5 M s
Oh AEBRENBBE I U TEA

entered into the following significant transactions with R
related parties during the year:
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Rental expenses to: MU TRARSZAHHSRAY
—Sun Ace —%dn = 860
Tutor contractor fee to: MU TALTEFEEEBE -
— Mr. Lee —FgAE - 152
Loan interest income from: KENTRABZERFE
— Progress Ever Limited —EXBRAA - 81
Tuition fee income from: KEUTRARIZEBIA
— Full Profit —Re 36 -
Other income from: KELTRARZEMUA -
— Full Profit —Re 38 63
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

The particulars of the related party transactions regarding
the tutor contractor fee to Mr. Lee as disclosed in (b) above
are as follows:

On 30 April 2016, Sense Publishing Company Limited
(“Sense Publishing”) and Mr. Lee entered into a service
contract with the Group, pursuant to which Sense
Publishing agreed to (i) procure Mr. Lee to provide tutoring
services to students of the Group; and (ii) grant a sole,
exclusive and non-transferable licence to the Group to
use and reproduce the teaching materials prepared by
Mr. Lee for the tutorial courses organised by the Group
for secondary school students and conducted by teaching
assistants with the said teaching materials for a term
commenced on 1 July 2016 and expiring on 30 June
2019.

Pursuant to the service contract, Sense Publishing is
entitled to certain fees calculated at a commission rate
(comprising of the commission and gratuity components)
of 60% of the tuition fees net of any refund, discounts or
rebate paid by the students to the Group for attending the
tutorial courses conducted entirely by Mr. Lee in person.
If the tutorial class is not entirely taught by Mr. Lee in
person but by other tutors or teaching assistants using
the teaching materials prepared by Mr. Lee and/or his
teaching assistants, the commission rate will be adjusted
downwards by 1.5% to 8%. The fee payable by the
Group to Sense Publishing is the product of the relevant
commission rate and the net tuition fee aforesaid subject
to further other deductions such as the costs of teaching
assistants and other certain costs associated with his
classes, including promotional and marketing events,
reference materials and copyright licence fees.

Upon resignation of Mr. Lee as a Director on 9 November
2017 and as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group
on 15 June 2018, the Group considered Mr. Lee has
discontinued to be a related party of the Group.

The key management personnel includes Directors and
chief executive of the Company and the compensation
paid to them is disclosed in Note 11.
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

42. F BB AT
ARAR2019F6 A0BZEEMBRARFE

Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June

2019 are set out as follows:

E 7l

Place of Issued and fully
Name of incorporation/  Place of paid share capital/ Attributable equity
principal subsidiary establishment  operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
ERTRAE
FEMBLATRE B HiIE SR BF /@MiE FRABERFEE TEXE
2019 2018
Able Investment British Virgin Hong Kong US$10,000 88.75% 88.75%  Investment holding
Islands (“BVI")
FIRiE RERZHEE B 10,000 T 88.75% 88.75% REEK
(IEBRLE
&)
Bachelor Education Centre Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 88.75% 88.75%  Provision of a physical office
Limited to a fellow subsidiary (2018:
Provision of primary tutoring
services, skill courses and
test preparation courses)
BIHERRARA B BB 100007  88.75% 88.75% M—RAZMBLARME
BHOE(2018F : Rt
NEBERY  RERE
RIEFRE)
Intelligent Education Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Inactive
BR¥BBABERLR AR BE 100/ 7T 100% 100% EEH
Modern Education (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$41,429,473 100% 100%  Provision of tutoring services
Limited
BRHE (BH)BRAF BE B 41,429,473 87T 100% 100% REHERS
Rosy Lane ! BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
KERUHE BB 1% 100% 100% ®EZER
Sino Network Group Limited !~ BVI Hong Kong US$13,983 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERXHE B 13983% T 100% 100% ®REER
Wise Action Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment in securities
2E BB B 10,000/ 7T 100% 100% HREES
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42. TEBMBLT (&)
AATR201946 8308 2 FEMB A T 1B
HIMT - (&)

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June
2019 are set out as follows: (Continued)

Place of Issued and fully
Name of incorporation/  Place of paid share capital/ Attributable equity
principal subsidiary establishment  operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
ERTREE
FEMBLTRE BBtk BN Bx/@MiE FRABERFEE TEXE
2019 2018
China Rich Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100%  Money lending
ERUBBRAF Bk o 1,000 7T 100% 100% f2E
Modern Bachelor Education Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of primary tutoring
Limited services, skill courses and
test preparation courses
BRNETEBRAT &k B 10,0008 7t 100% 100% RENBHERY  RER
BREARE
Fastek BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment in securities
EERUHE BE 1% 100% 100% ®EFEH
Central Talent Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong USs$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EERLHES AS 1% 100% 100% REZER
Hong Kong Academy of Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 70%  N/A (2018: Inactive)
Financial Sciences Limited ?
EEERMERBRAR?  BE G VBT TiEH 70%  NEF (2018 - BEH)
Modern iClass Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Provision of interest classes
RRETHEERAA e BB 10087 100% 100%  fR4LEHIE
Lucky Joy Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of physical offices
to fellow subsidiaries and a
related company
EEREARRA £ £ 10,0007 ¢ 100% 100%  [mfF M@ A =] R —
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. T EMBAT (&)
Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June KABR2019F6 A30B 2 EEME R Al FF15
2019 are set out as follows: (Continued) ;,IAT ()
Place of Issued and fully
Name of incorporation/  Place of paid share capital/ Attributable equity
principal subsidiary establishment  operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
ERTREE
FTEMBLTRTE B St SR B /dfkE FEOBRGERFEE 2 TERH
2019 2018
Think Smart Global Limited BVI Hong Kong US$500 70% 70%  Investment holding
EERLHES BB 500% T 70% 70% HEER
Cosmic Path Holdings Limited ~ BVI Hong Kong US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERTHEE BT 100%7T 100% 100% #®EER
Wisdom Union BVI Hong Kong US$4,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERZHE T# 4,000% 7T 100% 100% ®REER
Wind Fly Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$19,010,000 100% 100%  Provision of dance tuition
services
FTEME BE BB 19,010,000/ 7 100% 100% REEEHZRS
Paramount Ride Limited ! BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERTHEE BT = 100% 100% #®EER
Diligent Lush BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
RE) EERLHES BF 1% 100% 100% REZER
Smart Now Limited 3 Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% N/A  Inactive
BKBBATR S BB B 1AL 100%  PHEA BEHK
! The companies are directly held by the Company. All other U ZESRAFHEEARFEERRFE - EEMKHBARE
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company. mARRMERE -
2 The company was deregistered on 22 February 2019. 2 ZANAIR201942 A22 HettH -
3 The company was newly incorporated in Hong Kong on 18 July ° ZARIN2018F 7 A 18 A &AM LM AL ©
2018.
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

42.

43.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at

the end of, or during, either reporting period.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affect the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operated a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the MPF Scheme were held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at rate specified in the rules. The only obligation
of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme was to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees and each required
to make contribution to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000 effective from 1 June 2014 for the MPF
Scheme. No forfeited contribution was available to reduce the

contribution payable in the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
PRC government. Each of the PRC subsidiaries is required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make

the required contributions under the schemes.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$2,292,000 (2018: approximately HK$1,578,000)
represented contributions payable to the above schemes by the
Group during the year ended 30 June 2019.

42.

43.

240 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &HE#% A (BFR) REEBEBRLF

FERBAT (&)
RBEHRLBEHAN REHNBLRAEFE
A RITENERES -

ERMINZARRIMNEAR  DNEERREA
EEEEREEAEAYE HBAT &
ERA —HIEHMKHBARZHIEEER®
BEREHBRITE -

iR ¥k 8 # 51 2
AEBRBERGEABESHEGOIRBEME
AEREERIBRGIMELATE TS ([RESA
) BETIANEEEE - BBHIURTEA
EHNESEAREMKEENRTAR - RIE
BESFENRA BEREREDRIERR
AIFTRM R EEEEH R - AR EHRIA
TR AR ERREZ EEL AR HK -
RERESHE - BEREEESAARKESR
BRAWRA(XBE2014F6A1RRERNEAE
BAU A 2 ER 30,0008 TR R) 2 5% A5 3
HR o 3 M B8 WS SR AT A RN RUR SRR K R
3R -

o

”

RABEZENEEASEPERFRIMNBER
BEIRRAEHNGTE - ZEFENBARAREER
EARFMOE T B2 LR KE MBI
RZERNEHRE S - AEBEHRAKBAETE
B — B ERRBEENEL ARG -

Rt EZREMEEKEIRPIBR 2 AEH
#72,292,0007 7T (20184 : #71,578,0007% 7T)
EALEBMPUEE2019F6 A30B LFEERM £
i ET I FE AN 2 K o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRMETE
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. & 4 F) B 35 1K B 6 O 2=
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEiT FHET
Non-current assets EMENEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB RRZIZE 322 322
Current assets MBEE
Prepayments and other deposits A HRIEREMZES 313 438
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UL B B A B FRIA 214,367 248,231
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR LIRS 2,115 9,750
216,795 258,419
Current liabilities mEBeE
Accruals JEETE A 1,025 306
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAST B B8~ B 508 31,839 23,712
32,864 24,018
Net current assets RBEEFE 183,931 234,401
Net assets BEFE 184,253 234,723
Capital and reserves BEAR R
Share capital [N 27,379 27,379
Reserves (Note) & (H77E) 156,874 207,344
Total equity W 4B R 184,253 234,723
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved RABIHMBARRKE N 201949 26 HEE
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on EEHERBENE YA TIIATIRESZSE:
26 September 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:
Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey Tsang Ka Wai
EEE 2XE
Director Director
EF EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEMBHRRMT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 A30H [t F[Z

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. ELAFIMBRARERER (2)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Hat
Movement in the Company’s reserves are as follows: ARARMBHESOT -
Share  Contributed Merger Share options  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
BipiaE EfRs SR ERRERE RiER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET TFET FET FET FET
At 1 July 2017 201747 A 1A 403,188 386,954 (28,079) 13,568 (475,854) 299,777
Loss and total comprehensive FEEBRE2EAS
expense for the year FEk:C) - - - - (92,433) (92,433)
Share options lapsed IR - - - (13,568) 13,568 -
At 30 June 2018 and R2018456 A30 B R
1 July 2018 20187 A1H 403,188 386,954 (28,079) - (554,719) 207,344
Loss and total comprehensive EEEEREFEFRX
expense for the year k] - - - - (50,470) (50,470)
At 30 June 2019 201946 A30A 403,188 386,954 (28,079) - (605,189) 156,874

At 30 June 2019 and 2018, the Company had no reserve

available for distribution in accordance with the Company Law

of Bermuda.

2472 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &B#HE (HR) REEBHRAT
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45,

46.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the following significant events took place
subsequent to 30 June 2019:

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong

The fair values of listed equity securities are determined based
on the quoted market closing price available on the Main Board
and GEM of the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting
period.

As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the realised and unrealised losses on financial
assets at FVPL from changes in fair value on financial assets
at FVPL held as at 30 June 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$57,000 and HK$4,088,000 respectively.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at
1 July 2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes in
accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e UBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z2019F6 308 [t F &

45.

46.

BEMESER
BREGRAVBERREMEMMARESEIN
20196 H30H B EAUTEANEIR :

BB L TRAES
EARABSORFEDERRE AR R
Pt E AR K GEM P 3R 69 T 35 e 7 (B 1 2 5E -

RZERaVBHRR]UZB B - 12019F6 A
EFHEMNELAFEFABSENEREER
FEEHEHRATEFABENEREE
MEZR M AREEEED R 57,0008 T &
4,088,000 % TT °

LEB#F
REBEER2018F7A1HBEREREBHBR
EEAFISHERFBMBEREEFIR - R
BREBEZBENE LESILREN -&
AHRREERE — BRI E2 R EE -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

L EMBEHE

UTAAREERTXHEMHEEREBEEDEN
HEENCHEXENEERBEHE -

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years prepared on the
basis set out in the notes below.

RESULTS x5
Year ended 30 June
HBE6A30BHLLFEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ETT FET FET FET FET
Revenue A 108,940 109,027 153,859 189,778 208,439
(Loss) profit before tax BrFLAT (B 1E) & A (76,895) (9,670) (330,112)  (144,802) 34,078
Income tax credit (expenses) — FTiSFi# % (FA3) 65 1,438 (814) (321) (1,147)
(Loss) profit for the year FE(BHE) T (76,830) (8,232) (330,926) (145,123) 32,931
(Loss) profit for the year LWTATEREFE
attributable to: (E518) im Fl -
Owners of the Company KAaER A (77,438) (8,246) (333,326)  (144,718) 33,028
Non-controlling interests JEVE RS M 25 608 14 2,400 (405) (97)
(76,830) (8,232) (330,926) (145,123) 32,931
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERER
As at 30 June
®6H30H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000
FEITT FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEE 253,985 316,062 586,837 798,521 364,954
Total liabilities FEN=E (35,828) (27,806)  (221,964)  (189,649) (28,337)
218,157 288,256 364,873 608,872 336,617
Equity attributable to: AT AT EE#ERS
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ ¥ =N 218,059 288,766 314,272 560,702 336,489
Non-controlling interests eI i = 98 (510) 50,601 48,170 128
218,157 288,256 364,873 608,872 336,617
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